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Chapter 15 

Colony of Virginia 

The Colony of Virginia, chartered in 1606 and settled in 1607, 

was the first enduring English colony in North America, 

following failed proprietary attempts at settlement on 

Newfoundland by Sir Humphrey Gilbert in 1583, and the 

subsequent farther south Roanoke Island (modern eastern 

North Carolina) by Sir Walter Raleigh in the late 1580s.  

The founder of the new colony was the Virginia Company, with 

the first two settlements in Jamestown on the north bank of 

the James River and Popham Colony on the Kennebec River in 

modern-day Maine, both in 1607.  

The Popham colony quickly failed due to a famine, disease, and 

conflicts with local Native American tribes in the first two 

years. Jamestown occupied land belonging to the Powhatan 

Confederacy, and was also at the brink of failure before the 

arrival of a new group of settlers and supplies by ship in 1610. 

Tobacco became Virginia's first profitable export, the 

production of which had a significant impact on the society 

and settlement patterns.  

In 1624, the Virginia Company's charter was revoked by King 

James I, and the Virginia colony was transferred to royal 

authority as a crown colony.  

After the English Civil War in the 1640s and 50s, the Virginia 

colony was nicknamed "The Old Dominion" by King Charles II 

for its perceived loyalty to the English monarchy during the era 

of the Protectorate and Commonwealth of England.  
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From 1619 to 1775/1776, the colonial legislature of Virginia 

was the General Assembly, which governed in conjunction with 

a colonial governor. Jamestown on the James River remained 

the capital of the Virginia colony until 1699; from 1699 until 

its dissolution the capital was in Williamsburg. The colony 

experienced its first major political turmoil with Bacon's 

Rebellion of 1676.  

After declaring independence from the Kingdom of Great 

Britain in 1775, before the Declaration of Independence was 

officially adopted, the Virginia colony became the 

Commonwealth of Virginia, one of the original thirteen states 

of the United States, adopting as its official slogan "The Old 

Dominion". The entire modern states of West Virginia, 

Kentucky, Indiana and Illinois, and portions of Ohio and 

Western Pennsylvania were later created from the territory 

encompassed, or claimed by, the colony of Virginia at the time 

of further American independence in July 1776.  

Names and etymology 

Virginia 

The name "Virginia" is the oldest designation for English 

claims in North America. In 1584, Sir Walter Raleigh sent 

Philip Amadas and Arthur Barlowe to explore what is now the 

North Carolina coast, and they returned with word of a 

regional king (weroance) named Wingina, who ruled a land 

supposedly called Wingandacoa.  

The name Virginia for a region in North America may have been 

originally suggested by Sir Walter Raleigh, who named it for 
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Queen Elizabeth I, in approximately 1584. In addition the term 

Wingandacoa may have influenced the name Virginia."  

On his next voyage, Raleigh learned that while the chief of the 

Secotans was indeed called Wingina, the expression 

wingandacoa heard by the English upon arrival actually meant 

"What good clothes you wear!" in Carolina Algonquian, and was 

not the name of the country as previously misunderstood. 

"Virginia" was originally a term used to refer to North 

America's entire eastern coast from the 34th parallel (close to 

Cape Fear) north to 45th parallel. This area included a large 

section of Canada and the shores of Acadia.  

The colony was also known as the Virginia Colony, the Province 

of Virginia, and occasionally as the Dominion and Colony of 

Virginia or His Majesty's Most Ancient Colloney[sic] and 

Dominion of Virginia 

Old Dominion 

It is said, according to tradition, that in gratitude for the 

loyalty of Virginians to the crown during the English Civil War, 

Charles II gave it the title of "Old Dominion". The colony seal 

stated from Latin (en dat virginia quartam), in English 'Behold, 

Virginia gives the fourth', with Virginia claimed as the fourth 

English dominion after England, France, Scotland and Ireland.  

The state of Virginia maintains "Old Dominion" as its state 

nickname. The athletic teams of the University of Virginia are 

known as the "Cavaliers," referring to supporters of Charles II, 

and Virginia has another state public university called "Old 

Dominion University".  
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History 

Although Spain, France, Sweden, and the Netherlands all had 

competing claims to the region, none of these prevented the 

English from becoming the first European power to colonize 

successfully the Mid-Atlantic coastline. Earlier attempts had 

been made by the Spanish in what is now Georgia (San Miguel 

de Gualdape, 1526–27; several Spanish missions in Georgia 

between 1568 and 1684), South Carolina (Santa Elena, 1566–

87), North Carolina (Joara, 1567–68) and Virginia (Ajacán 

Mission, 1570–71); and by the French in South Carolina 

(Charlesfort, 1562–63). Farther south, the Spanish colony of 

Spanish Florida, centered on St. Augustine, was established in 

1565, while to the north, the French were establishing 

settlements in what is now Canada (Charlesbourg-Royal briefly 

occupied 1541–43; Port Royal, established in 1605).  

Elizabethan colonization attempts in the New World 

(1584–1590) 

In 1585, Sir Walter Raleigh sent his first colonisation mission 

to the island of Roanoke (in present-day North Carolina), with 

over 100 male settlers. However, when Sir Francis Drake 

arrived at the colony in summer 1586, the colonists opted to 

return to England, due to lack of supply ships, abandoning the 

colony. Supply ships arrived at the now-abandoned colony 

later in 1586; 15 soldiers were left behind to hold the island, 

but no trace of these men was later found.  

In 1587, Raleigh sent another group to again attempt to 

establish a permanent settlement. The expedition leader, John 
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White, returned to England for supplies that same year but 

was unable to return to the colony due to war between England 

and Spain. When he finally did return in 1590, he found the 

colony abandoned. The houses were intact, but the colonists 

had completely disappeared. Although there are a number of 

theories about the fate of the colony, it remains a mystery and 

has come to be known as the "Lost Colony". Two English 

children were born in this colony; the first was named Virginia 

Dare – Dare County, North Carolina, was named in honor of 

the baby, who was among those whose fate is unknown. The 

word Croatoan was found carved into a tree, the name of a 

tribe on a nearby island.  

Virginia Company (1606–1624) 

Following the failure of the previous colonisation attempts, 

England resumed attempts to set up a number of colonies. This 

time joint-stock companies were used rather than giving 

extensive grants to a landed proprietor such as Gilbert or 

Raleigh.  

Charter of 1606 – creation of London and Plymouth 

companies 

King James granted a proprietary charter to two competing 

branches of the Virginia Company, which were supported by 

investors. These were the Plymouth Company and the London 

Company. By the terms of the charter, the Plymouth Company 

was permitted to establish a colony of 100 miles (160 km) 

square between the 38th parallel and the 45th parallel (roughly 

between Chesapeake Bay and the current U.S.–Canada border). 

The London Company was permitted to establish between the 
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34th parallel and the 41st parallel (approximately between 

Cape Fear and Long Island Sound), and also owned a large 

portion of Atlantic and Inland Canada. In the area of overlap, 

the two companies were not permitted to establish colonies 

within one hundred miles of each other. During 1606, each 

company organized expeditions to establish settlements within 

the area of their rights.  

The London company formed Jamestown in its exclusive 

territory, whilst the Plymouth company formed the Popham 

Colony in its exclusive territory near what is now Phippsburg, 

Maine.  

Jamestown and the London company 

The London Company hired Captain Christopher Newport to 

lead its expedition. On December 20, 1606, he set sail from 

England with his flagship, the Susan Constant, and two smaller 

ships, the Godspeed, and the Discovery, with 105 men and 

boys, plus 39 sailors. After an unusually long voyage of 144 

days, they arrived at the mouth of the Chesapeake Bay and 

came ashore at the point where the southern side of the bay 

meets the Atlantic Ocean, an event that has come to be called 

the "First Landing". They erected a cross and named the point 

of land Cape Henry, in honor of Henry Frederick, Prince of 

Wales, the eldest son of King James.  

Their instructions were to select a location inland along a 

waterway where they would be less vulnerable to the Spanish 

or other Europeans also seeking to establish colonies. They 

sailed westward into the Bay and reached the mouth of 

Hampton Roads, stopping at a location now known as Old Point 
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Comfort. Keeping the shoreline to their right, they then 

ventured up the largest river, which they named the James, for 

their king. After exploring at least as far upriver as the 

confluence of the Appomattox River at present-day Hopewell, 

they returned downstream to Jamestown Island, which offered 

a favorable defensive position against enemy ships and deep 

water anchorage adjacent to the land. Within two weeks they 

had constructed their first fort and named their settlement 

Jamestown.  

In addition to securing gold and other precious minerals to 

send back to the waiting investors in England, the survival 

plan for the Jamestown colonists depended upon regular 

supplies from England and trade with the Native Americans. 

The location they selected was largely cut off from the 

mainland and offered little game for hunting, no fresh drinking 

water, and very limited ground for farming. Captain Newport 

returned to England twice, delivering the First Supply and the 

Second Supply missions during 1608, and leaving the 

Discovery for the use of the colonists. However, death from 

disease and conflicts with the Natives Americans took a 

fearsome toll on the colonists. Despite attempts at mining 

minerals, growing silk, and exporting the native Virginia 

tobacco, no profitable exports had been identified, and it was 

unclear whether the settlement would survive financially.  

Powhatan Confederacy 

The Powhatan Confederacy was a confederation of numerous 

linguistically related tribes in the eastern part of Virginia. The 

Powhatan Confederacy controlled a territory known as 

Tsenacommacah, which roughly corresponded with the 
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Tidewater region of Virginia. It was in this territory that the 

English established Jamestown. At the time of the English 

arrival, the Powhatan were led by the paramount chief 

Wahunsenacawh.  

Popham colony and Plymouth company 

On May 31, 1607, about 100 men and boys left England for 

what is now Maine. Approximately three months later, the 

group landed on a wooded peninsula where the Kennebec River 

meets the Atlantic Ocean and began building Fort St. George. 

By the end of the year, due to limited resources, half of the 

colonists returned to England. Late the next year, the 

remaining 45 sailed home, and the Plymouth company fell 

dormant.  

Charter of 1609 – the London company expands 

In 1609, with the abandonment of the Plymouth Company 

settlement, the London Company's Virginia charter was 

adjusted to include the territory north of the 34th parallel and 

south of the 39th parallel, with its original coastal grant 

extended "from sea to sea". Thus, at least according to James 

I's writ, the Virginia Colony in its original sense extended to 

the coast of the Pacific Ocean, in what is now California, with 

all the states in between (Kentucky, Missouri, Colorado, Utah, 

etc.) belonging to Virginia. For practical purposes, though, the 

colonists rarely ventured far inland to what was known as "The 

Virginia Wilderness", although the concept itself helped renew 

the interest of investors, and additional funds enabled an 

expanded effort, known as the Third Supply.  
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1609 Third Supply and Bermuda 

For the Third Supply, the London Company had a new ship 

built. The Sea Venture was specifically designed for emigration 

of additional colonists and transporting supplies. It became the 

flagship of the Admiral of the convoy, Sir George Somers. The 

Third Supply was the largest to date, with eight other ships 

joining the Sea Venture. The new Captain of the Sea Venture 

was the mission's Vice-Admiral, Christopher Newport. 

Hundreds of new colonists were aboard the ships. However, 

weather was to drastically affect the mission.  

A few days out of London, the nine ships of the third supply 

mission encountered a massive hurricane in the Atlantic 

Ocean. They became separated during the three days the storm 

lasted. Admiral Somers had the new Sea Venture, carrying 

most of the supplies of the mission, deliberately driven 

aground onto the reefs of Bermuda to avoid sinking. However, 

while there was no loss of life, the ship was wrecked beyond 

repair, stranding its survivors on the uninhabited archipelago, 

to which they laid claim for England.  

The survivors at Bermuda eventually built two smaller ships 

and most of them continued on to Jamestown, leaving a few on 

Bermuda to secure the claim. The Company's possession of 

Bermuda was made official in 1612, when the third and final 

charter extended the boundaries of 'Virginia' far enough out to 

sea to encompass Bermuda. Bermuda has since been known 

officially also as The Somers Isles (in commemoration of 

Admiral Somers). The shareholders of the Virginia Company 

spun off a second company, the Somers Isles Company, which 

administered Bermuda from 1615 to 1684.  
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Upon their arrival at Jamestown, the survivors of the Sea 

Venture discovered that the 10-month delay had greatly 

aggravated other adverse conditions. Seven of the other ships 

had arrived carrying more colonists, but little in the way of 

food and supplies. Combined with a drought, and hostile 

relations with the Native Americans, the loss of the supplies 

that had been aboard the Sea Venture resulted in the Starving 

Time in late 1609 to May 1610, during which over 80% of the 

colonists perished. Conditions were so adverse it appears, from 

skeletal evidence, that the survivors engaged in cannibalism. 

The survivors from Bermuda had brought few supplies and 

food with them, and it appeared to all that Jamestown must be 

abandoned and it would be necessary to return to England.  

Abandonment and Fourth supply 

Samuel Argall was the captain of one of the seven ships of the 

Third Supply that had arrived at Jamestown in 1609 after 

becoming separated from the Sea Venture, whose fate was 

unknown. Depositing his passengers and limited supplies, he 

returned to England with word of the plight of the colonists at 

Jamestown. The King authorized another leader, Thomas West, 

3rd Baron De La Warr, later better known as "Lord Delaware", 

to have greater powers, and the London Company organized 

another supply mission. They set sail from London on April 1, 

1610.  

Just after the survivors of the Starving Time and those who 

had joined them from Bermuda had abandoned Jamestown, the 

ships of the new supply mission sailed up the James River with 

food, supplies, a doctor, and more colonists. Lord Delaware 

was determined that the colony was to survive, and he 
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intercepted the departing ships about 10 miles (16 km) 

downstream of Jamestown. The colonists thanked Providence 

for the Colony's salvation.  

West proved far harsher and more belligerent toward the 

Indians than any of his predecessors, engaging in wars of 

conquest against them. He first sent Gates to drive off the 

Kecoughtan from their village on July 9, 1610, then gave Chief 

Powhatan an ultimatum to either return all English subjects 

and property, or face war. Powhatan responded by insisting 

that the English either stay in their fort or leave Virginia. 

Enraged, De la Warr had the hand of a Paspahegh captive cut 

off and sent him to the paramount chief with another 

ultimatum: Return all English subjects and property, or the 

neighboring villages would be burned. This time, Powhatan did 

not even respond.  

First Anglo-Powhatan War (1610–1614), John Rolfe and 

Pocahontas 

On August 9, 1610, tired of waiting for a response from 

Powhatan, West sent George Percy with 70 men to attack the 

Paspahegh capital, burning the houses and cutting down their 

cornfields. They killed 65 to 75, and captured one of 

Wowinchopunk's wives and her children. Returning 

downstream, the English threw the children overboard and 

shot out "their Braynes in the water". The queen was put to the 

sword in Jamestown. The Paspahegh never recovered from this 

attack and abandoned their town. Another small force sent 

with Samuel Argall against the Warraskoyaks found that they 

had already fled, but he destroyed their abandoned village and 

cornfields as well. This event triggered the first Anglo-
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Powhatan War. Among the individuals who had briefly 

abandoned Jamestown was John Rolfe, a Sea Venture survivor 

who had lost his wife and son in Bermuda. He was a 

businessman from London who had some untried seeds for 

new, sweeter strains of tobacco with him, as well as some 

untried marketing ideas.  

It would turn out that John Rolfe held the key to the Colony's 

economic success. By 1612, Rolfe's new strains of tobacco had 

been successfully cultivated and exported, establishing a first 

cash crop for export. Plantations and new outposts sprung up 

starting with Henricus, initially both upriver and downriver 

along the navigable portion of the James, and thereafter along 

the other rivers and waterways of the area. The settlement at 

Jamestown could finally be considered permanently 

established.  

A period of peace followed the marriage in 1614 of colonist 

John Rolfe to Pocahontas, the daughter of Algonquian chief 

Powhatan.  

Second Anglo-Powhatan War (1622–1632) 

Indian Massacre of 1622 

The relations with the Natives took a turn for the worse after 

the death of Pocahontas in England and the return of John 

Rolfe and other colonial leaders in May 1617. Disease, poor 

harvests and the growing demand for tobacco lands caused 

hostilities to escalate.  

After Wahunsenacawh's death in 1618, he was soon succeeded 

by his own younger brother, Opechancanough. He maintained 
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friendly relations with the Colony on the surface, negotiating 

with them through his warrior Nemattanew, but by 1622, after 

Nemattanew had been slain, Opechancanough was ready to 

order a limited surprise attack on them, hoping to persuade 

them to move on and settle elsewhere.  

Chief Opechancanough organized and led a well-coordinated 

series of surprise attacks on multiple English settlements 

along both sides of a 50-mile (80 km) long stretch of the James 

River, which took place early on the morning of March 22, 

1622.  

This event came to be known as the Indian Massacre of 1622 

and resulted in the deaths of 347 colonists (including men, 

women, and children) and the abduction of many others.  

The Massacre caught most of the Virginia Colony by surprise 

and virtually wiped out several entire communities, including 

Henricus and Wolstenholme Town at Martin's Hundred.  

Jamestown was spared from destruction, however, due to a 

Virginia Indian boy named Chanco who, after learning of the 

planned attacks from his brother, gave warning to colonist 

Richard Pace with whom he lived. Pace, after securing himself 

and his neighbors on the south side of the James River, took a 

canoe across the river to warn Jamestown, which narrowly 

escaped destruction, although there was no time to warn the 

other settlements.  

A year later, Captain William Tucker and Dr. John Potts 

worked out a truce with the Powhatan and proposed a toast 

using liquor laced with poison. 200 Virginia Indians were killed 

or made ill by the poison and 50 more were slaughtered by the 
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colonists. For over a decade, the English settlers killed 

Powhatan men and women, captured children and 

systematically razed villages, seizing or destroying crops.  

By 1634, a six-mile-long palisade was completed across the 

Virginia Peninsula. The new palisade provided some security 

from attacks by the Virginia Indians for colonists farming and 

fishing lower on the Peninsula from that point.  

On April 18, 1644, Opechancanough again tried to force the 

colonists to abandon the region with another series of 

coordinated attacks, killing almost 500 colonists.  

However, this was a much less devastating portion of the 

growing population than had been the case in the 1622 

attacks.  

Crown colony (1624–1652) 

In 1620, a successor to the Plymouth Company sent colonists 

to the New World aboard the Mayflower. Known as Pilgrims, 

they successfully established a settlement in what became 

Massachusetts. The portion of what had been Virginia north of 

the 40th parallel became known as New England, according to 

books written by Captain John Smith, who had made a voyage 

there.  

In 1624, the charter of the Virginia Company was revoked by 

King James I and the Virginia Colony was transferred to royal 

authority in the form of a crown colony. Subsequent charters 

for the Maryland Colony in 1632 and to the eight Lords 

Proprietors of the Province of Carolina in 1663 and 1665 

further reduced the Virginia Colony to roughly the coastal 
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borders it held until the American Revolution. (The exact 

border with North Carolina was disputed until surveyed by 

William Byrd II in 1728.)  

Third Anglo-Powhatan War (1644–1646) 

After twelve years of peace following the Indian Wars of 1622–

1632, another Anglo–Powhatan War began on March 18, 1644, 

as a last effort by the remnants of the Powhatan Confederacy, 

still under Opechancanough, to dislodge the English settlers of 

the Virginia Colony. Around 500 colonists were killed, but that 

number represented a relatively low percent of the overall 

population, as opposed to the earlier massacre (the 1622 

attack had wiped out a third; that of 1644 barely a tenth). 

However, Opechancanough, still preferring to use Powhatan 

tactics, did not make any major follow-up to this attack.  

This was followed by another effort by the settlers to decimate 

the Powhatan. In July, they marched against the Pamunkey, 

Chickahominy, and Powhatan proper; and south of the James, 

against the Appomattoc, Weyanoke, Warraskoyak, and 

Nansemond, as well as two Carolina tribes, the Chowanoke and 

Secotan.  

In February - March 1645, the colony ordered the construction 

of four frontier forts: Fort Charles at the falls of the James, 

Fort James on the Chickahominy, Fort Royal at the falls of the 

York and Fort Henry at the falls of the Appomattox, where the 

modern city of Petersburg is located.  

In August 1645, the forces of Governor William Berkeley 

stormed Opechancanough's stronghold. All captured males in 

the village over age 11 were deported to Tangier Island. 
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Opechancanough, variously reported to be 92 to 100 years old, 

was taken to Jamestown. While a prisoner, Opechancanough 

was shot in the back and killed by a soldier assigned to guard 

him. His death resulted in the disintegration of the Powhatan 

Confederacy into its component tribes, whom the colonists 

continued to attack.  

Treaty of 1646 

In the peace treaty of October 1646, the new weroance, 

Necotowance, and the subtribes formerly in the Confederacy, 

each became tributaries to the King of England. At the same 

time, a racial frontier was delineated between Indian and 

English settlements, with members of each group forbidden to 

cross to the other side except by a special pass obtained at one 

of the newly erected border forts.  

The extent of the Virginia colony open to patent by English 

colonists was defined as: All the land between the Blackwater 

and York rivers, and up to the navigable point of each of the 

major rivers – which were connected by a straight line running 

directly from modern Franklin on the Blackwater, 

northwesterly to the Appomattoc village beside Fort Henry, and 

continuing in the same direction to the Monocan village above 

the falls of the James, where Fort Charles was built, then 

turning sharp right, to Fort Royal on the York (Pamunkey) 

river. Necotowance thus ceded the English vast tracts of still-

uncolonized land, much of it between the James and 

Blackwater. English settlements on the peninsula north of the 

York and below the Poropotank were also allowed, as they had 

already been there since 1640.  
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English Civil War and Commonwealth (1642–1660) 

While the newer, Puritan colonies, most notably 

Massachusetts, were dominated by Parliamentarians, the older 

colonies sided with the Crown. The Virginia Company's two 

settlements, Virginia and Bermuda (Bermuda's Independent 

Puritans were expelled as the Eleutheran Adventurers, settling 

the Bahamas under William Sayle), Antigua and Barbados were 

conspicuous in their loyalty to the Crown, and were singled out 

by the Rump Parliament in An Act for prohibiting Trade with 

the Barbadoes, Virginia, Bermuda and Antego in October 1650. 

This dictated that:  

[D]ue punishment [be] inflicted upon the said Delinquents, 

do[es] Declare all and every the said persons in Barbada's, 

Antego, Bermuda's and Virginia, that have contrived, abetted, 

aided or assisted those horrid Rebellions, or have since 

willingly joyned with them, to be notorious Robbers and 

Traitors, and such as by the Law of Nations are not to be 

permitted any maner of Commerce or Traffique with any people 

whatsoever; and do[es] forbid to all maner of persons, 

Foreiners, and others, all maner of Commerce, Traffique and 

Correspondency whatsoever, to be used or held with the said 

Rebels in the Barbada's, Bermuda's, Virginia and Antego, or 

either of them. 

The Act also authorised Parliamentary privateers to act against 

English vessels trading with the rebellious colonies: "All Ships 

that Trade with the Rebels may be surprized. Goods and tackle 

of such ships not to be embezeled, till judgement in the 

Admiralty; Two or three of the Officers of every ship to be 

examined upon oath."  
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Virginia's population swelled with Cavaliers during and after 

the English Civil War. Under the tenure of Crown Governor 

William Berkeley (1642–1652; 1660–1677), the population 

expanded from 8,000 in 1642 to 40,000 in 1677. Despite the 

resistance of the Virginia Cavaliers, Virginian Puritan Richard 

Bennett was made Governor answering to Cromwell in 1652, 

followed by two more nominal "Commonwealth Governors". 

Nonetheless, the colony was rewarded for its loyalty to the 

Crown by Charles the II following the Restoration when he  

dubbed it the Old Dominion.  

Crown colony restoration (1660–1775) 

With the Restoration in 1660 the Governorship returned to its 

previous holder, Sir William Berkeley.  

In 1676, Bacon's Rebellion challenged the political order of the 

colony. While a military failure, its handling did result in 

Governor Berkeley being recalled to England.  

In 1679, the Treaty of Middle Plantation was signed between 

King Charles II and several Native American groups.  

Williamsburg era 

Virginia was the largest, richest, and most influential of the 

American colonies, where conservatives were in full control of 

the colonial and local governments. At the local level, Church 

of England parishes handled many local affairs, and they in 

turn were controlled not by the minister, but rather by a closed 

circle of rich landowners who comprised the parish vestry. 

Ronald L. Heinemann emphasizes the ideological conservatism 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

426 

of Virginia while noting there were also religious dissenters 

who were gaining strength by the 1760s:  

The tobacco planters and farmers of Virginia adhered to the 

concept of a hierarchical society that they or their ancestors 

had brought with them from England. Most held to the general 

idea of a Great Chain of Being: at the top were God and his 

heavenly host; next came kings...who were divinely sanctioned 

to rule, then an hereditary aristocracy who were followed in 

descending order by wealthy landed gentry, small, independent 

farmers, tenant farmers, servants....Aspirations to rise above 

one's station in life were considered a sin. 

In actual practice, colonial Virginia never had a bishop to 

represent God nor a hereditary aristocracy with titles like 

'duke' or 'baron'. However, it did have a royal governor 

appointed by the king, as well as a powerful landed gentry. The 

status quo was strongly reinforced by what Jefferson called 

"feudal and unnatural distinctions" that were vital to the 

maintenance of aristocracy in Virginia. He targeted laws such 

as entail and primogeniture by which the oldest son inherited 

all the land. As a result increasingly large plantations, worked 

by white tenant farmers and by black slaves, gained in size and 

wealth and political power in the eastern ("Tidewater") tobacco 

areas. Maryland and South Carolina had similar hierarchical 

systems, as did New York and Pennsylvania. During the 

Revolutionary era, all such laws were repealed by the new 

states. The most fervent Loyalists left for Canada or Britain or 

other parts of the Empire. They introduced primogeniture in 

Upper Canada (Ontario) in 1792, and it lasted until 1851. Such 

laws lasted in England until 1926.  
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Relations with the Natives 

As the English expanded out from Jamestown, encroachment of 

the new arrivals and their ever-growing numbers on what had 

been Indian lands resulted in several conflicts with the 

Virginia Indians. For much of the 17th century, English 

contact and conflict were mostly with the Algonquian peoples 

that populated the coastal regions, primarily the Powhatan 

Confederacy. Following a series of wars and the decline of the 

Powhatan as a political entity, the colonists expanded 

westward in the late 17th and 18th centuries, encountering the 

Shawnee, Iroquoian-speaking peoples such as the Nottoway, 

Meherrin, Iroquois and Cherokee, as well as Siouan-speaking 

peoples such as the Tutelo, Saponi, and Occaneechi.  

Iroquois Confederacy 

As the English settlements expanded beyond the Tidewater 

territory traditionally occupied by the Powhatan, they 

encountered new groups with which there had been minimal 

relations with the Colony.  

In the late 17th century, the Iroquois Confederacy expanded 

into the Western region of Virginia as part of the Beaver Wars. 

They arrived shortly before the English settlers, and displaced 

the resident Siouan tribes.  

Lt. Gov. Alexander Spotswood made further advances in policy 

with the Virginia Indians along the frontier. In 1714, he 

established Fort Christanna to help educate and trade with 

several tribes with which the colony had friendly relations, as 
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well as to help protect them from hostile tribes. In 1722, he 

negotiated the Treaty of Albany.  

Geography 

The cultural geography of colonial Virginia gradually evolved, 

with a variety of settlement and jurisdiction models 

experimented with. By the late 17th century and into the 18th 

century, the primary settlement pattern was based on 

plantations (to grow tobacco), farms, and some towns (mostly 

ports or courthouse villages).  

Early settlements 

The fort at Jamestown, founded in 1607, remained the primary 

settlement of the colonists for several years. A few strategic 

outposts were constructed, including Fort Algernon (1609) at 

the entrance to the James River.  

Early attempts to occupy strategic locations already inhabited 

by natives at what is now Richmond and Suffolk failed owing to 

native resistance.  

A short distance farther up the James, in 1611, Thomas Dale 

began the construction of a progressive development at 

Henricus on and about what was later known as Farrars 

Island. Henricus was envisioned as possible replacement 

capital for Jamestown, and was to have the first college in 

Virginia. (The ill-fated Henricus was destroyed during the 

Indian Massacre of 1622). In addition to creating the new 

settlement at Henricus, Dale also established the port town of 

Bermuda Hundred, as well as "Bermuda Cittie" (sic) in 1613, 
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now part of Hopewell, Virginia. He began the excavation work 

at Dutch Gap, using methods he had learned while serving in 

Holland.  

"Hundreds" 

Once tobacco had been established as an export cash crop, 

investors became more interested and groups of them united to 

create largely self-sufficient "hundreds." The term "hundred" is 

a traditional English name for an administrative division of a 

shire (or county) to define an area which would support one 

hundred heads of household. In the colonial era in Virginia, 

the "hundreds" were large developments of many acres, 

necessary to support land hungry tobacco crops. The 

"hundreds" were required to be at least several miles from any 

existing community. Soon, these patented tracts of land sprang 

up along the rivers. The investors sent shiploads of settlers 

and supplies to Virginia to establish the new developments. 

The administrative centers of Virginia's hundreds were 

essentially small towns or villages, and were often palisaded 

for defense.  

An example was Martin's Hundred, located downstream from 

Jamestown on the north bank of the James River. It was 

sponsored by the Martin's Hundred Society, a group of 

investors in London. It was settled in 1618, and Wolstenholme 

Towne was its administrative center, named for Sir John 

Wolstenholme, one of the investors.  

Bermuda Hundred (now in Chesterfield County) and Flowerdew 

Hundred (now in Prince George County) are other names which 

have survived over centuries. Others included Berkeley 
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Hundred, Bermuda Nether Hundred, Bermuda Upper Hundred, 

Smith's Hundred, Digges Hundred, West Hundred and Shirley 

Hundred (and, in Bermuda, Harrington Hundreds). Including 

the creation of the "hundreds", the various incentives to 

investors in the Virginia Colony finally paid off by 1617. By 

this time, the colonists were exporting 50,000 pounds of 

tobacco to England a year and were beginning to generate 

enough profit to ensure the economic survival of the colony.  

Cities, Shires, and Counties 

In 1619, the plantations and developments were divided into 

four "incorporations" or "citties" (sic), as they were called. 

These were Charles Cittie, Elizabeth Cittie, Henrico Cittie, and 

James Cittie, which included the relatively small seat of 

government for the colony at Jamestown Island. Each of the 

four "citties" (sic) extended across the James River, the main 

conduit of transportation of the era. Elizabeth Cittie, know 

initially as Kecoughtan (a Native word with many variations in 

spelling by the English), also included the areas now known as 

South Hampton Roads and the Eastern Shore. In 1634, a new 

system of local government was created in the Virginia Colony 

by order of the King of England. Eight shires were designated, 

each with its own local officers. Within a few years, the shires 

were renamed counties, a system that has remained to the 

present day.  

Later settlements 

In 1630, under the governorship of John Harvey, the first 

settlement on the York River was founded. In 1632, the 

Virginia legislature voted to build a fort to link Jamestown and 
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the York River settlement of Chiskiack and protect the colony 

from Indian attacks. In 1634, a palisade was built near Middle 

Plantation. This wall stretched across the peninsula between 

the York and James rivers and protected the settlements on 

the eastern side of the lower Peninsula from Indians. The wall 

also served to contain cattle. In 1699, a new capital was 

established and built at Middle Plantation, soon renamed 

Williamsburg.  

Northern Neck Proprietary 

In the period following the English Civil War, the exiled King 

Charles II of England hoped to shore up the loyalty of several 

of his supporters by granting them a significant area of mostly 

uncharted land to control as a Proprietary in Virginia (a claim 

that would only be valid were the king to return to power). 

While under the jurisdiction of the Virginia Colony, the 

proprietary maintained complete control of the granting of land 

within that territory (and revenues obtained from it) until after 

the American Revolution. The grant was for the land between 

the Rappahannock and Potomac Rivers, which included the 

titular Northern Neck, but as time went on also would include 

all of what is today Northern Virginia and into West Virginia. 

Due to ambiguities of the text of the various grants causing 

disputes between the proprietary and the colonial government, 

the tract was finally demarcated via the Fairfax Line in 1746.  

Government and law 

In the initial years under the Virginia Company, the colony was 

governed by a council, headed by a council President. From 
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1611 to 1618, under the orders of Sir Thomas Dale, the 

settlers of the colony were under a regime of civil law that 

became known as Dale's Code.  

Under a charter from the company in 1618, a new model of 

governance was put in place in 1619, which created a new 

House of Burgesses.  

On July 30, 1619, burgesses met at Jamestown Church as the 

first elected representative legislative assembly in the New 

World. The legal system in the colony was thereafter based 

around the English common law.  

For much of the history of the Royal Colony, the formal 

appointed governor was absentee, often remaining in England. 

In his stead, a series of acting or Lieutenant Governors who 

were physically present held actual authority. In the later 

years of its history, as it became increasingly civilized, more 

governors made the journey.  

The first settlement in the colony, Jamestown, served as the 

capital and main port of entry from its founding until 1699. 

During this time, a series of statehouses (capitols) were used 

and subsequently consumed by fires (both accidental, and in 

the case of Bacon's Rebellion, intentional). Following such a 

fire, in 1699 the capital was relocated inland, away from the 

swampy clime of Jamestown to Middle Plantation, soon to be 

renamed Williamsburg.  

The capital of Virginia remained in Williamsburg, until it was 

moved further inland to Richmond in 1779 during the 

American Revolution.  
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Economy 

The entrepreneurs of the Virginia Company experimented with 

a number of means of making the colony profitable. The orders 

sent with the first colonists instructed that they search for 

precious metals (specifically gold). While no gold was found, 

various products were sent back, including pitch and 

clapboard. In 1608, early attempts were made at breaking the 

Continental hold on glassmaking through the creation of a 

glassworks. In 1619, the colonist built the first ironworks in 

North America.  

In 1612, settler John Rolfe planted tobacco obtained from 

Bermuda (during his stay there as part of the Third Supply). 

Within a few years, the crop proved extremely lucrative in the 

European market. As the English increasingly used tobacco 

products, the production of tobacco in the American Colonies 

became a significant economic driver, especially in the 

tidewater region surrounding the Chesapeake Bay.  

Colonists developed plantations along the rivers of Virginia, 

and social/economic systems developed to grow and distribute 

this cash crop. Some elements of this system included the 

importation and use of enslaved Africans to cultivate and 

process crops, which included harvesting and drying periods. 

Planters would have their workers fill large hogsheads with 

tobacco and convey them to inspection warehouses. In 1730, 

the Virginia House of Burgesses standardized and improved the 

quality of tobacco exported by establishing the Tobacco 

Inspection Act of 1730, which required inspectors to grade 

tobacco at 40 specified locations.  
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Culture 

Ethnic origins 

England supplied the great majority of colonists. In 1608, the 

first Poles and Slovaks arrived as part of a group of skilled 

craftsmen. In 1619, the first Africans arrived. Many more 

Africans were imported as slaves, such as Angela. In the early 

17th century, French Huguenots arrived in the colony as 

refugees from religious warfare.  

In the early 18th century, indentured German-speaking 

colonists from the iron-working region of Nassau-Siegen 

arrived to establish the Germanna settlement. Scots-Irish 

settled on the Virginia frontier. Some Welsh arrived, including 

some ancestors of Thomas Jefferson.  

Servitude and slavery 

With the boom in tobacco planting, there was a severe shortage 

of laborers to work the labor-intensive crop. One method to 

solve the shortage was through the usage of indentured 

servants.  

By the 1640s, legal documents started to define the changing 

nature of indentured servants and their status as servants. In 

1640, John Punch was sentenced to lifetime servitude as 

punishment for trying to escape from his master Hugh Gwyn. 

This is the earliest legal sanctioning of slavery in Virginia. 

After this trial, the relationship between indentured servants 

and their masters changed, as planters saw permanent 

servitude a more appealing and profitable prospect than seven-
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year indentures. As many indentured workers were illiterate, 

especially Africans, there were opportunities for abuse by 

planters and other indenture holders. Some ignored the 

expiration of servants' indentured contracts and tried to keep 

them as lifelong workers.  

One example is with Anthony Johnson, who argued with Robert 

Parker, another planter, over the status of John Casor, 

formerly an indentured servant of his. Johnson argued that his 

indenture was for life and Parker had interfered with his 

rights. The court ruled in favor of Johnson and ordered that 

Casor be returned to him, where he served the rest of his life 

as a slave. Such documented cases marked the transformation 

of Negroes from indentured servants into slaves.  

In the late 17th century, the Royal African Company, which 

was established by the King of England to supply the great 

demand for labor to the colonies, had a monopoly on the 

provision of African slaves to the colony. As plantation 

agriculture was established earlier in Barbados, in the early 

years, slaves were shipped from Barbados (where they were 

seasoned) to the colonies of Virginia and Carolina.  

Religion 

In 1619, the Anglican Church was formally established as the 

official religion in the colony, and would remain so until 

shortly after the American Revolution. Establishment meant 

that local tax funds paid the parish costs, and that the parish 

had local civic functions such as poor relief. The upper class 

planters controlled the vestry, which ran the parish and chose 

the minister. The church in Virginia was controlled by the 
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Bishop of London, who sent priests and missionaries, but there 

were never enough, and they reported very low standards of 

personal morality. By the 1760s, dissenting Protestants, 

especially Baptists and Methodists, were growing rapidly and 

started challenging the Anglicans for moral leadership.  

Education and literacy 

The first printing press used in Virginia began operation in 

Jamestown on June 8, 1680, though within a few years it was 

shut down by the Governor and Crown of England for want of a 

license. It was not until 1736 that the first newspaper, the 

Virginia Gazette, began circulation under printer William Parks 

of Williamsburg.  

The Syms-Eaton Academy, started in 1634, became the first 

free public school in America. Private tutors were often favored 

among those families who could afford them.  

For most of the 17th century, a university education for 

settlers of Virginia required a journey to England or Scotland. 

Such journeys were undertaken by wealthy young men. In the 

early years, many settlers received their education prior to 

immigrating to the colony.  

In 1693, the College of William and Mary was founded at 

Middle Plantation (soon renamed Williamsburg). The college 

included a common school for Virginia Indians, supplemented 

by local pupils, which lasted until a 1779 overhaul of the 

institution's curriculum. The college, located in the capital and 

heart of the Tidewater region, dominated the colony's 

intellectual climate until after independence.  
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After 1747, some Virginians began to attend institutions at 

Princeton and Philadelphia. Generations began to move west 

into the Piedmont and Blue Ridge areas. It is in this region of 

Virginia that two future Presbyterian colleges trace their 

origins to lower-level institutions founded in this time period. 

First, what would become Hampden–Sydney College was 

founded in 1775, immediately prior to the American 

Revolution. Likewise, Augusta Academy was a classical school 

that would evolve into Washington and Lee University (though 

would not grant its first bachelor's degree until 1785).  

Fort Orleans 

Fort Orleans (sometimes referred to Fort D'Orleans) was a 

French fort in colonial North America, the first fort built by 

any European forces on the Missouri River. It was built near 

the mouth of the Grand River near present-day Brunswick. 

Intended to be the linchpin in the vast New France empire 

stretching from Montreal to New Mexico, the fort was occupied 

from 1723–1726. It was the first multi-year European 

settlement in what is today the U.S. state of Missouri.  

History 

The fort was established in 1723 on the Missouri River by 

Étienne de Veniard, Sieur de Bourgmont. It was to be the 

Missouri River headquarters of the newly claimed Louisiana 

territory. Like the newly founded New Orleans, Louisiana, it 

was named for the Duke of Orléans.  
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De Bourgmont had commanded the French fort at Fort Detroit. 

In 1706 he and other soldiers deserted when criticized by 

Antoine Laumet de La Mothe, sieur de Cadillac for his handling 

of a skirmish with attacking Ottawa (tribe) members. A French 

priest and soldier were killed by the Indians, and the French 

killed 30 Ottawa tribesmen.  

While on the lam from French authorities, de Bourgmont lived 

with the Native Americans and explored the lower Missouri. He 

often traded in furs, although not authorized to do so. Catholic 

missionaries urged that he be arrested for indecency because 

of traveling with his Missouri wife and their children of mixed 

European and Native American ancestry. His base was the 

Missouri tribal village near where Fort Orleans was to be 

established.  

In 1713 de Bourgmont wrote Exact Description of Louisiana, of 

Its Harbors, Lands and Rivers, and Names of the Indian Tribes 

That Occupy It, and the Commerce and Advantages to Be 

Derived Therefrom for the Establishment of a Colony. In 1714, 

he published an account following travels to the mouth of the 

Platte River, entitled The Route to Be Taken to Ascend the 

Missouri River. His descriptions and names of rivers, based on 

names of local tribes, were used by cartographer Guillaume 

Delisle for the first map of the region. Delisle used "Missouri" 

for the river rather than Pekitanoui, as the explorers Louis 

Jolliet and Jacques Marquette had named it after they first 

viewed it in 1673.  

In 1718 Jean-Baptiste Le Moyne de Bienville, founder of the 

Louisiana territory, said that instead of arresting Bourgmont, 
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they should work with him. He recommended that Bourgmont 

receive the Cross of Saint Louis for service to France.  

In 1720 Bourgmont and his son, along with a chief, traveled to 

France, where they were greeted as national heroes. His 

reputation was enhanced as news arrived that the Pawnee (who 

had been friendly with Bourgmont) had slaughtered the 

Villasur expedition near modern-day Columbus, Nebraska. This 

stopped the Spanish from establishing settlements in the 

Missouri River Valley.  

Stock for the Mississippi Company rose in price based on 

forecasts of great riches in Louisiana. Bourgmont was 

promised a title of nobility if he could build a fort and strike 

an alliance with the Native Americans to keep the Spanish out 

of the Missouri valley. Bourgmont stayed in Normandy for a 

time and married a woman in his hometown in 1721.  

In 1722 he returned to New Orleans but was too sick to 

proceed on an expedition. In the meantime, funds in the 

Mississippi Company collapsed. He argued with his sponsors 

over whether a fort was necessary; he thought it more 

important to recruit Native Americans in alliances to unite to 

fight the Spanish, as he believed his mission had not changed. 

As ordered, he established the fort on November 9, 1723, to be 

garrisoned with 40 French soldiers.  

In 1724, Bourgmont traveled up the Missouri River to the Kaw 

village near Doniphan, Kansas with the objective of 

establishing friendly relations among the Indian tribes of the 

region and seeking a trade route to the Spanish colony in New 

Mexico. With a delegation of Indians from several tribes, he 
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then ventured westward onto the Great Plains to visit their 

common enemy, the Padouca tribe, near Lyons, Kansas.  

Bourgmont participated in a peace ceremony between the 

Padouca and the Missouri, Osage, Iowa, Pawnee, Oto, Kaw, and 

Omaha, wherein a ceremonial pipe was smoked to seal the 

agreement.  

The Indians whom Bourgmont called Padouca are believed by 

some to have been the people later known as Comanche but 

were more likely Apache. This was the first recorded French 

visit to them.  

In celebration, in 1725 Bourgmont escorted the chiefs of the 

tribes to Paris to show them the "glory of France", including 

Paris: the palaces at Château de Marly, Fontainebleau and 

Versailles; and to hunt on the royal preserve with Louis XV. 

Bourgmont returned to his home in Normandy and did not 

accompany the chiefs back to Missouri. He abandoned his 

Missouri wife and children.  

The French abandoned Fort Orleans in 1726. One story says 

that when the garrison had been reduced to a contingent of 

eight soldiers, Native Americans attacked and burned it, killing 

all the troops. Another story says it was merely abandoned.  

1729 November 29. Natchez Indians attacked French 

settlements near present-day Natchez, Mississippi, killing more 

than 200 French colonists. Less than one year later 1730 

September 9, A French army of 1,400 soldiers and its Indian 

allies massacred about 500 Fox Indians (including 300 women 

and children) as they tried to flee their besieged camp.  
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Possible locations

Archeologists have not found evidence of the fort despite some 

promising starts, particularly south of the Missouri River. 

Lewis and Clark visited the area in June 1804 to seek the fort, 

but reported they found no trace of it. 

Three possible locations for the fort are: 

• Near Malta Bend, Missouri in Saline County, 

Missouri on the south side of the Missouri 

Archeological discoveries in wha

State Park in the area known as "the Pinnacles" 

appear to support this. Included in park is an 

unrelated earthwork fort, which archeologists believe 

is of Native American and not French origin. 

39.2748°N 93.2612°W

• North bank of the Miss

Wakunda Creek in Carroll County, Missouri (based 

on Bourgmont's description of the Missouri village.) 

39.33159°N 93.22275°W

• An island in the Missouri River between the two 

(based on a drawing about 1748 of the plans for the 

fort). 

• Part of Fort Orleans can be found in Brunswick 

Missouri. There are still houses and buildings 

standing that were used to transport the Indians to 

Kansas. 
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Brunswick, Missouri 

Brunswick is a rural city in Chariton County, Missouri, United 

States. Its population was 858 at the 2010 census. Brunswick, 

by official state proclamation, is the Pecan Capital of Missouri. 

The Missouri Farmers Association (MFA Incorporated) was 

founded in Brunswick in 1914.  

History 

For thousands of years varying cultures of indigenous peoples 

settled by the Missouri River. At the time of European contact, 

historical tribes in the area included the Missouri, Osage, Kaw, 

Otoe and others.  

In 1723 Etienne de Veniard, Sieur de Bourgmont built Fort 

Orleans near here, established on the Missouri River near the 

mouth of the Grand River. It was occupied 1723-1726 as the 

first multi-year European fort and settlement in present-day 

Missouri. It was to be a trading centerpiece of La Louisiane, 

the new territory claimed by the French.  

Following the Louisiana Purchase and the end of the French 

colonial period the area saw a large influx of immigrants from 

the U.S., especially Kentucky and Tennessee. They brought 

African-American slaves and slaveholding traditions with them. 

The new land owners planted and cultivate crops similar to 

those in the Upper South: hemp and tobacco. Chariton was one 

of several counties along the Missouri River to become known 

as Little Dixie.  
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The original town of Brunswick was laid out in 1836 by James 

Keyte. Keyte, an English immigrant and Methodist minister, 

was also the founder of Keytesville, Missouri, the county seat 

of Chariton County. It was named after Brunswick, in England. 

The original town plat was about 500 yards south of its current 

location, but due to changes in the Missouri and Grand rivers, 

the location is now underwater.  

A Mr. Keyte established the first store in the town, and its first 

industry, a sawmill. Early growth was slow for the community, 

with the population estimated at around 125 citizens by 1840. 

However, in the early 1840s a large influx of new residents 

increased the size of the town and scope of business offerings. 

They included a hotel, a wagon maker, brick factory, and a 

pork packing facility. Doctor Edwin Price, brother of famed 

Confederate general Sterling Price, was an early settler. In the 

decades leading up to the American Civil War surrounding 

counties had no railroad over which to ship or receive goods 

and crops, thus Brunswick with its steamboat access, became 

a regional trading center. In 1849 Brunswick recorded 534 

arrivals and departures by steamboats. The first school was 

established at Brunswick in June 1840 with approximately 

thirty-five students and a one-room log schoolhouse. It was 

also in 1840 that the first wave of German immigrants arrived 

in the Brunswick area. Another influx of Germans took place in 

1842. The Brunswicker, the town's first newspaper, began 

publication in October 1847 and continues today, making it 

one of the state's oldest. Brunswick's first bank, a branch of 

the Merchants Bank of St. Louis, opened.  

After the Civil War and the loss of their slaves, farmers shifted 

to other less labor-intensive, crops. However, in 1880 Chariton 
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County still led the state of Missouri in tobacco production, 

with 14 million pounds harvested. After nearly ten years of 

delay due to the war, the railroad finally reached Brunswick in 

1867, reducing the reliance on steamboats to transport goods 

and people.  

Dr. W.W. Bowen established the Brunswick Institute of 

Pharmacy in 1910. The school would train more than 5,000 

pharmacists and druggists before closing in 1937. In 1914, 

farmers organized the Missouri Farmers Association (MFA), a 

cooperative, based in Brunswick. It has since moved to 

Columbia, Missouri. Brunswick saw a growth of industry 

through the mid-20th century, with the construction of an 

alfalfa-drying plant constructed in 1939, the Chariton Electric 

Company in 1958, in 1965 the opening of the Tuloma Fertilizer 

blending plant, and in 1970 a glove factory. Also in 1965 the 

U.S. Coast Guard built a small base near Brunswick to service 

increased river traffic; however, the facility was relatively 

short-lived, closing in March 1973.  

Following World War II, Brunswick became the center of an 

area of pecan groves. In 1972 State Representative Creason 

secured a state resolution naming Brunswick the Pecan Capital 

of Missouri. The Brunswick Pecan Festival was first held in 

1980, celebrating the large number of pecans being harvested 

in the area. It would become an annual tradition that is held 

each October. The world's largest 20th-century pecan—a 

concrete replica—is located along Highway 24 in downtown 

Brunswick. It measures seven by twelve feet and weighs twelve 

thousand pounds. It was constructed in 1982 by George James 

in honor of the Starking Hardy Giant pecan, which he 

discovered on his property in 1947.  
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Locust Hill was listed on the National Register of Historic 

Places in 1980.  

Education 

Schools in the Brunswick area date back to 1840, when a small 

one-room log "subscription" or private school was constructed. 

Following the Civil War, attention turned more toward public 

education, with the first public school opening in the town 

circa 1868.  

A large three-story brick school was constructed in 1871 and 

served the community well into the early 20th century, being 

replaced by a new school in 1930–31. The present junior high / 

high school building used by Brunswick R-II school district 

was constructed in 1956–57.  

The most recent addition to the facilities is a new grade school 

constructed in 1991–1992. In 1949 Missouri reorganized public 

education, with the state board of education consolidating or 

reorganizing many small rural schools into larger districts, this 

gave birth to the aforementioned Brunswick R-II district.  

The district, in student count, is the second largest in 

Chariton County, trailing Salisbury schools. Enrollment in all 

grades from 2006 to 2010 averaged 250 students. The school 

colors are red and black. Their mascot is the Wildcat. 

Brunswick R-II participates in sports and other activities as a 

Class 1A school under guidelines from the Missouri State High 

School Activities Association.  
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The town has a lending library, the Brunswick Area Public 

Library.  

Notable people 

• Darold Knowles—Former MLB relief pitcher. First 

pitcher to ever appear in all seven games of a 

World Series. The baseball field at Brunswick R-II 

school is named in his honor. 

• Wayne E. Meyer—U.S. Navy admiral, "Father of the 

Aegis weapons system". 

• W. James Morgan—Union Army officer, responsible 

for the Burning of Platte City during the American 

Civil War. 

• Sol Smith Russell—Comic stage actor of the late 

19th century. Russell Opera House in Brunswick is 

named for him. 

• Wilbur Sweatman -- Ragtime and Dixieland jazz 

composer and performer. 

Geography 

Brunswick is located at 39°25 ′25″N93°7 ′44″W (39.423563, -

93.128819).  

According to the United States Census Bureau, the city has a 

total area of 1.25 square miles (3.24 km), of which 1.20 square 

miles (3.11 km) is land and 0.05 square miles (0.13 km) is 

water.  
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Demographics 

2010 census 

As of the census of 2010, there were 858 people, 379 

households, and 223 families residing in the city. The 

population density was 715.0 inhabitants per square mile 

(276.1/km).  

There were 491 housing units at an average density of 409.2 

per square mile (158.0/km).  

The racial makeup of the city was 88.8% White, 9.1% African 

American, 0.1% Native American, 0.1% from other races, and 

1.9% from two or more races. Hispanic or Latino of any race 

were 0.2% of the population.  

There were 379 households, of which 25.3% had children 

under the age of 18 living with them, 40.1% were married 

couples living together, 14.5% had a female householder with 

no husband present, 4.2% had a male householder with no wife 

present, and 41.2% were non-families. 37.2% of all households 

were made up of individuals, and 20% had someone living 

alone who was 65 years of age or older. The average household 

size was 2.16 and the average family size was 2.77.  

The median age in the city was 47.7 years. 22.5% of residents 

were under the age of 18; 6.9% were between the ages of 18 

and 24; 17.9% were from 25 to 44; 25.2% were from 45 to 64; 

and 27.4% were 65 years of age or older. The gender makeup of 

the city was 48.0% male and 52.0% female.  
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2000 census 

As of the census of 2000, there were 925 people, 426 

households, and 242 families residing in the city. The 

population density was 776.8 people per square mile 

(300.1/km). There were 536 housing units at an average 

density of 450.1 per square mile (173.9/km). The racial 

makeup of the city was 86.16% White, 13.30% African 

American, 0.32% from other races, and 0.22% from two or 

more races. Hispanic or Latino of any race were 0.86% of the 

population. There were 426 households, out of which 20.9% 

had children under the age of 18 living with them, 44.6% were 

married couples living together, 9.4% had a female 

householder with no husband present, and 43.0% were non-

families. 39.0% of all households were made up of individuals, 

and 26.3% had someone living alone who was 65 years of age 

or older. The average household size was 2.09 and the average 

family size was 2.74. In the city the population was spread out, 

with 21.2% under the age of 18, 6.2% from 18 to 24, 22.5% 

from 25 to 44, 22.3% from 45 to 64, and 27.9% who were 65 

years of age or older. The median age was 45 years. For every 

100 females, there were 82.8 males. For every 100 females age 

18 and over, there were 80.4 males.  

The median income for a household in the city was $27,969, 

and the median income for a family was $34,107. Males had a 

median income of $27,639 versus $18,182 for females. The per 

capita income for the city was $18,516. About 11.3% of 

families and 17.7% of the population were below the poverty 

line, including 15.9% of those under age 18 and 19.8% of those 

age 65 or over.  



Chapter 16 

Dummer's War 

Dummer's War (1722–1725) is also known as Father Rale's 

War, Lovewell's War, Greylock's War, the Three Years War, the 

Wabanaki-New England War, or the 4th Anglo-Abenaki War. It 

was a series of battles between the New England Colonies and 

the Wabanaki Confederacy (specifically the Mi ꞌkmaq, Maliseet, 

and Abenaki), who were allied with New France. The eastern 

theater of the war was located primarily along the border 

between New England and Acadia in Maine, as well as in Nova 

Scotia; the western theater was located in northern 

Massachusetts and Vermont at the border between Canada 

(New France) and New England. During this time, Maine and 

Vermont were part of Massachusetts.  

The root cause of the conflict on the Maine frontier concerned 

the border between Acadia and New England, which New 

France defined as the Kennebec River in southern Maine. 

Mainland Nova Scotia came under British control after the 

Siege of Port Royal in 1710 and the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713 

(not including Cape Breton Island), but present-day New 

Brunswick and Maine remained contested between New 

England and New France. New France established Catholic 

missions among the four largest Indian villages in the region: 

one on the Kennebec River (Norridgewock), one farther north 

on the Penobscot River (Penobscot Indian Island Reservation), 

one on the Saint John River (Meductic Indian Village / Fort 

Meductic), and one at Shubenacadie, Nova Scotia (Saint Anne's 

Mission). Similarly, New France established three forts along 
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the border of New Brunswick during Father Le Loutre's War to 

protect it from a British attack from Nova Scotia.  

The Treaty of Utrecht ended Queen Anne's War, but it had been 

signed in Europe and had not involved any member of the 

Wabanaki Confederacy. The Abenaki signed the 1713 Treaty of 

Portsmouth, but none had been consulted about British 

ownership of Nova Scotia, and the Mi'kmaq began to make 

raids against New England fishermen and settlements. The war 

began on two fronts as a result of the expansion of New 

England settlements along the coast of Maine and at Canso, 

Nova Scotia. The New Englanders were led primarily by 

Massachusetts Lieutenant Governor William Dummer, Nova 

Scotia Lieutenant Governor John Doucett, and Captain John 

Lovewell. The Wabanaki Confederacy and other Indian tribes 

were led primarily by Father Sébastien Rale, Chief Gray Lock, 

and Chief Paugus. During the war, Father Rale was killed by 

the British at Norridgewock. The Indian population retreated 

from the Kennebec and Penobscot rivers to St. Francis and 

Becancour, Quebec, and New England took over much of the 

Maine territory.  

Background 

Dummer's War is also known as the Fourth Anglo-Abenaki 

War. The three previous Indian Wars were King Philip's War or 

the First Indian War in 1675, King William's War or the Second 

Indian War, and Queen Anne's War or the Third Indian War 

(1703-11).  

Queen Anne's War ended with the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713. 

The colonial borders of northeastern America were reshaped as 
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a result, but the treaty did not account for Indian claims to the 

same area. French Acadia was ceded to Great Britain which 

established the province of Nova Scotia, although its borders 

were disputed. The area disputed by the European powers 

consisted of land between the Kennebec River (the eastern 

portion of Maine) and the Isthmus of Chignecto (all of the 

Canadian province of New Brunswick). This land was occupied 

by a number of Algonquian-speaking Indian tribes loosely 

allied in the Wabanaki Confederacy, which also claimed 

sovereignty over most of this territory and had occupied 

portions of the land before the Colonists. Massachusetts 

Governor Joseph Dudley organized a major peace conference at 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire.  

In negotiations there and at Casco Bay, the Wabanaki objected 

to British assertions that the French had ceded their territory 

to Britain in eastern Maine and New Brunswick, but they 

agreed to confirm the boundaries at the Kennebec River and to 

establish government-run trading posts in their territory. The 

Treaty of Portsmouth was ratified on July 13, 1713 by eight 

representatives of the Wabanaki Confederacy, however, which 

asserted British sovereignty over their territory. Over the next 

year, other Abenaki tribal leaders also signed the treaty, but 

no Mi ꞌkmaq ever signed it or any other treaty until 1726.  

Encroachment of settlements and 

fortifications 

Following the peace, New England settlements expanded east of 

the Kennebec River, and significant numbers of New 

Englanders began fishing in Nova Scotia waters. They 
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established a permanent fishing settlement at Canso which 

upset the local Mi'kmaq, who then began raiding the 

settlement and attacking the fishermen. In response to 

Wabanaki hostilities, Nova Scotia Governor Richard Philipps 

built a fort at Canso in 1720. Massachusetts governors Joseph 

Dudley and Samuel Shute built forts around the mouth of the 

Kennebec River: Fort George at Brunswick (1715), Fort 

Menaskoux at Arrowsic (1717), St. George's Fort at Thomaston 

(1720), and Fort Richmond (1721) at Richmond. The French 

built a church in the Abenaki village of Norridgewock in 

Madison, Maine on the Kennebec River, maintained a mission 

at Penobscot on the Penobscot River, and built a church in the 

Maliseet village of Meductic on the Saint John River.  

In a meeting at Arrowsic, Maine in 1717, Governor Shute and 

representatives of the Wabanakis attempted to reach some 

agreement concerning encroachment on Wabanaki lands and 

the establishment of provincially operated trading posts. 

Kennebec sachem Wiwurna objected to Colonists establishing 

settlements and constructing forts; he claimed sovereign 

control of the land, while Shute reasserted Colonial rights to 

expand into the territory. The Wabanakis were willing to 

accede to existing settlements if a proper boundary was 

delineated, beyond which settlement would not be allowed. 

Shute responded, "We desire only what is our own, and that we 

will have."  

Over the next several years, New England Colonists continued 

to settle in Wabanaki lands east of the Kennebec River, and the 

Wabanakis responded by stealing livestock. Canso, Nova Scotia 

was established as a fishing settlement disputed by all three 

parties but fortified by Nova Scotia and primarily occupied by 
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Massachusetts fishermen. Mi'kmaq and French forces attacked 

it in 1720, further raising tensions. Shute protested the 

presence of French Jesuit priest Sébastien Rale, who lived 

among the Kennebec tribe at Norridgewock in central Maine, 

and he demanded that Rale be removed. The Wabanakis 

refused in July 1721 and demanded that hostages be released 

(who had been given in surety during earlier negotiations) in 

exchange for a delivery of furs made in restitution for their 

raiding. Massachusetts made no official response.  

The Wabanakis then went to extraordinary lengths to produce 

a written document reasserting their sovereign claims to 

disputed areas, delineating the areas that they claimed, and 

threatening violence if their territory was violated. Shute 

dismissed the letter as "insolent and menacing" and sent 

militia forces to Arrowsic.  He also asserted that the Wabanaki 

claims were part of a French intrigue, based on Rale's 

influence, to further French claims to the disputed areas.  

Undeclared war 

Governor Shute was convinced that the French were behind 

Wabanaki claims, so he sent a military expedition under the 

command of Colonel Thomas Westbrook of Thomaston to 

capture Father Rale in January 1722. Most of the tribe was 

away hunting, and Westbrook's 300 soldiers surrounded 

Norridgewock to capture Rale, but he was forewarned and 

escaped into the forest. They found his strongbox among his 

possessions, however, which contained a secret compartment. 

Inside that compartment they found letters implicating Rale as 

an agent of the government of Canada, promising Indians 

enough ammunition to drive the Colonists from their 
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settlements. Shute reiterated English claims of sovereignty 

over the disputed areas in letters to the Lords of Trade and to 

Governor General Philippe de Rigaud Vaudreuil of New France. 

Vaudreuil pointed out in response that France claimed 

sovereignty over the area, while the Wabanakis maintained 

possession, and he suggested that Shute misunderstood the 

way in which European ideas of ownership differed from those 

of the Indians.  

In response to the raid on Norridgewock, the Abenakis raided 

Fort George on June 13 which was under the command of 

Captain John Gyles. They burned the homes of the village and 

took 60 prisoners, most of whom were later released.  On July 

15, Father Lauverjat from Penobscot led 500-600 Indians from 

Penobscot and Medunic (Maliseet) and laid siege to Fort St. 

George for 12 days. They burned a sawmill, a large sloop, and 

sundry houses, and killed many of their cattle. Five New 

Englanders were killed and seven were taken prisoner, while 

the New Englanders killed 20 Maliseet and Penobscot warriors. 

After the raid, Westbrook was given command of the fort.   

Following this raid, Brunswick was raided again and burned 

before the warriors returned to Norridgewock.  

In response to the New England attack on Father Rale at 

Norridgewock in March 1722, 165 Mi'kmaq and Maliseet 

fighters gathered at Minas (Grand Pre, Nova Scotia) to lay siege 

to Annapolis Royal.  Lieutenant Governor John Doucett took 22 

Mi'kmaqs hostage in May to prevent the provincial capital from 

being attacked. In July, the Abenakis and Mi'kmaqs blockaded 

Annapolis Royal with the intent of starving the capital. The 

Indians captured 18 fishing vessels and prisoners in raids from 

Cape Sable Island to Canso. They also seized prisoners and 
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vessels working in the Bay of Fundy. On July 25, Governor 

Shute formally declared war on the Wabanakis. Lieutenant 

Governor William Dummer conducted the Massachusetts 

involvement in the war,  since Shute sailed for England at the 

end of 1722 to deal with ongoing disputes that he had with the 

Massachusetts colonial assembly.  

Eastern theater (Maine and New 

Hampshire) 

1722 campaign 

Between 400 and 500 St. Francis (Odanak, Quebec) and 

Mi'kmaq Indians attacked Arrowsic, Maine on September 10, in 

conjunction with Father Rale at Norridgewock. Captain 

Penhallow discharged musketry from a small guard, wounding 

three of the Indians and killing another. This defense gave the 

inhabitants of the village time to retreat into the fort, leaving 

the Indians in full possession of the village. They slaughtered 

50 head of cattle and set fire to 26 houses outside the fort, 

then assaulted the fort, killing one New Englander but 

otherwise making little impression.  

That night, Col. Walton and Capt. Harman arrived with 30 

men, to which were added approximately 40 men from the fort 

under Captains Penhallow and Temple. The combined force of 

70 men attacked the Indians, but they were overwhelmed by 

their numbers. The New Englanders then retreated back into 

the fort. The Indians eventually retired up the river, viewing 

further attacks on the fort as useless. During their return to 

Norridgewock, the Indians attacked Fort Richmond with a 
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three-hour siege. They burned homes and killed cattle, but the 

fort held. They destroyed Brunswick and other settlements 

near the mouth of the Kennebec.  

On March 9, 1723, Colonel Thomas Westbrook led 230 men to 

the Penobscot River and traveled approximately 32 miles 

(51 km) upstream to the Penobscot Village. They found a large 

Penobscot fort some 70 by 50 yards (64 by 46 m), with 14-foot 

(4.3 m) walls surrounding 23 wigwams. There was also a large 

chapel (60 by 30 feet [18.3 by 9.1 m]). The village was vacant, 

and the soldiers burned it to the ground.  

1723 campaign 

The Wabanaki Confederacy of Acadia orchestrated a total of 14 

raids against towns along the border of New England 

throughout 1723, primarily in Maine. The raids started in April 

and lasted until December, during which 30 people were killed 

or taken captive. The Indian attacks were so fierce along the 

Maine frontier that Dummer ordered residents to evacuate to 

the blockhouses in the spring of 1724.  

1724 campaign 

During the spring of 1724, the Wabanaki Confederacy 

conducted ten raids on the Maine frontier which killed, 

wounded, or imprisoned more than 30 New Englanders. They 

took a sloop in Kennebunk harbor and slaughtered the entire 

crew.  

In the spring of 1724, Capt. Josiah Winslow took command of 

St. George's Fort at Thomaston; he was the older brother of 

John Winslow. On 30 April 1724, Winslow and Sergeant Harvey 
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left George's Fort with 17 men in two whale boats, and they 

went downriver several miles to Green Island. The following 

day, the two whale boats became separated and approximately 

200 to 300 Abenakis descended on Harvey's boat, killing 

Harvey and all of his men except three Indian guides who 

escaped to the Georges fort. Captain Winslow was then 

surrounded by 30 to 40 canoes which came off from both sides 

of the river and attacked him. After hours of fighting, Winslow 

and his men were killed except for three friendly Indians who 

escaped back to the fort. The Tarrantine Indians were reported 

to have lost more than 25 men. 

Indians killed one man and wounded another at Purpooduck on 

May 27. In June, Indians raided Dover, New Hampshire and 

took Elizabeth Hanson into captivity. They also engaged in a 

canoe campaign, assisted by the Mi'kmaqs from Cape Sable 

Island. In just a few weeks, they had captured 22 vessels, 

killing 22 New Englanders and taking more prisoner. They also 

made an unsuccessful siege of St. George's Fort.  

Battle of Norridgewock 

In the second half of 1724, the New Englanders launched an 

aggressive campaign up the Kennebec and Penobscot rivers. On 

August 22, Captains Jeremiah Moulton and Johnson Harmon 

led 200 rangers to Norridgewock to kill Father Rale and destroy 

the settlement. There were 160 Abenakis, many of whom chose 

to flee rather than fight. At least 31 chose to fight, and most of 

them were killed. Rale was killed in the opening moments of 

the battle, a leading chief was killed, and nearly two dozen 

women and children.  
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The Colonists had casualties of two militiamen and one 

Mohawk. Harmon destroyed the Abenaki farms, and those who 

had escaped were forced to abandon their village and move 

northward to the Abenaki village of St. Francis and Bécancour, 

Quebec.   

Lovewell's raids 

Captain John Lovewell made three expeditions against the 

Indians. On the first expedition in December 1724, he and his 

militia company of 30 men (often called "snowshoe men") left 

Dunstable, New Hampshire, trekking to the north of Lake 

Winnipesaukee ("Winnipiscogee Lake") into the White 

Mountains of New Hampshire. On December 10, 1724, they and 

a company of rangers killed two Abenakis. In February 1725, 

Lovewell made a second expedition to the Lake Winnipesaukee 

area. On February 20, his force came across wigwams at the 

head of the Salmon Falls River in Wakefield, New Hampshire, 

where ten Indians were killed.  

Battle of Pequawket 

Lovewell's third expedition consisted of 46 men and left from 

Dunstable on April 16, 1725. They built a fort at Ossipee, New 

Hampshire and garrisoned it with 10 men, including a doctor 

and John Goffe, while the rest left to raid the Pequawket tribe 

at Fryeburg, Maine. On May 9, chaplain Jonathan Frye was 

leading the militiamen in prayer when they spotted a lone 

Abenaki warrior. Lovewell and his men closed in on the 

warrior, leaving their packs behind in a clearing. Shortly after 

they left, a Pequawket war party led by Chief Paugus 
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discovered the packs, and they set up an ambush in 

anticipation of their eventual return.  

Lovewell and his men caught up with the warrior and 

exchanged gunfire. Lovewell and one of his men were wounded 

in the encounter, and the Indian was killed by Ensign Seth 

Wyman, Lovewell's second in command. Lovewell's force then 

returned to their packs and the ambush was sprung. Lovewell 

and eight of his men were killed and two were wounded when 

the Pequawkets opened fire. The survivors managed to retreat 

to a strong position, and fended off repeated attacks until the 

Pequawkets withdrew around sunset. Only 20 of the militiamen 

survived the battle; three died on the return journey. The 

Pequawket losses included Chief Paugus.  

Western theater: Vermont and 

western Massachusetts 

The western theater of the war has also been referred to as 

"Grey Lock's War". On August 13, 1723, Gray Lock entered the 

war by raiding Northfield, Massachusetts, where four warriors 

killed two citizens. The next day, they attacked Joseph Stevens 

and his four sons in Rutland, Massachusetts. Stevens escaped, 

two of the boys were killed, and the other two sons were 

captured. On October 9, 1723, Gray Lock struck two small 

forts near Northfield, inflicting casualties and carrying off one 

captive.  

In response, Governor Dummer ordered the construction of 

Fort Dummer in Brattleboro, Vermont. The fort became a major 

base of operations for scouting and punitive expeditions into 
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Abenaki country. Fort Dummer was Vermont's first permanent 

settlement, made under the command of Lieutenant Timothy 

Dwight. On June 18, 1724, Grey Lock attacked a group of men 

working in a meadow near Hatfield, Massachusetts. He then 

moved on and killed men at Deerfield, Northfield, and Westfield 

over the summer. In response to the raids, Dummer ordered 

more soldiers for Northfield, Brookfield, Deerfield, and 

Sunderland, Massachusetts. On October 11, 1724, 70 Abenakis 

attacked Fort Dummer and killed three or four soldiers. In 

September 1725, a scouting party of six men was sent out from 

Fort Dummer. Grey Lock and 14 others ambushed them just 

west of the Connecticut River, killing two and wounding and 

capturing three others. One man escaped, while two Indians 

were killed.  

Nova Scotia theater 

Nova Scotia's governor launched a campaign to end the 

Mi'kmaq blockade of Annapolis Royal at the end of July 1722. 

They retrieved over 86 New England prisoners taken by the 

Indians. One of these operations resulted in the Battle of 

Winnepang (Jeddore Harbour), in which 35 Indians and five 

New Englanders were killed. Only five Indian bodies were 

recovered from the battle, and the New Englanders decapitated 

the corpses and set the severed heads on pikes surrounding 

Canso's new fort. During the war, a church was erected at the 

Catholic mission in the Mi'kmaq village of Shubenacadie (Saint 

Anne's Mission). In 1723, Mi'kmaqs raided the village of Canso, 

Nova Scotia, killing five fishermen, so the New Englanders 

built a 12-gun blockhouse to guard the village and fishery.  
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The worst moment of the war for Annapolis Royal came on July 

4, 1724 when a group of 60 Mi'kmaqs and Maliseets raided the 

capital. They killed and scalped a sergeant and a private, 

wounded four more soldiers, and terrorized the village. They 

also burned houses and took prisoners. The New Englanders 

responded by executing one of the Mi'kmaq hostages on the 

same spot where the sergeant was killed. They also burned 

three Acadian houses in retaliation. As a result of the raid, 

they built three blockhouses to protect the town. They moved 

the Acadian church closer to the fort so that it could be more 

easily monitored. In 1725, 60 Abenakis and Mi'kmaqs launched 

another attack on Canso, destroying two houses and killing six 

people.  

Peace negotiations 

Penobscot tribal chiefs expressed a willingness to enter peace 

talks with Lieutenant Governor Dummer in December 1724. 

They were opposed in this by French authorities, who 

continued to encourage the conflict, but Massachusetts 

Lieutenant Governor Dummer announced a cessation of 

hostilities on July 31, 1725 following negotiations in March. 

Dummer and Chiefs Loron and Wenemouet negotiated the 

terms of this preliminary agreement, which applied only to the 

Penobscots at first.  

They were allowed to retain Jesuit priests, but the two parties 

were in disagreement concerning land titles and British 

sovereignty over the Wabanakis. French Jesuit Etienne 

Lauverjat translated the written agreement into Abenaki; Chief 

Loron immediately repudiated it, specifically rejecting claims of 

British sovereignty over him.  
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Despite his disagreement, Loron pursued peace, sending 

wampum belts to other tribal leaders, although his envoys were 

unsuccessful in reaching Gray Lock, who continued his raiding 

expeditions. Peace treaties were signed in Maine on December 

15, 1725 and in Nova Scotia on June 15, 1726 involving a large 

number of tribal chiefs. The peace was reconfirmed by all 

except Gray Lock at a major gathering at Falmouth in the 

summer of 1727; other tribal envoys claimed that they were 

not able to locate him. Gray Lock's activity came to an end in 

1727, after which he disappears from historical records.  

Consequences 

As a result of the war, the Indian population declined on the 

Kennebec and Penobscot Rivers, and western Maine came more 

strongly under British control. The terms of Dummer's Treaty 

were restated at every major new treaty conference for the next 

30 years, but there was no major conflict in the area until King 

George's War in the 1740s.  

In New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, Dummer's Treaty marked a 

significant shift in British relations with the Mi'kmaqs and 

Maliseets, who refused to declare themselves British subjects. 

The French lost their footholds in Maine, while New Brunswick 

remained under French control for a number of years. The 

peace in Nova Scotia lasted for 18 years. The British took 

control of New Brunswick at the end of Father Le Loutre's War, 

with the defeat of Le Loutre at Fort Beauséjour. This was the 

only war fought by the Wabanakis against the British on their 

own terms and for their own reasons, rather than in support of 

French interests.  
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The final major battle of the war was the Battle of Pequawket, 

or "Lovewell's Fight", which was celebrated in song and story in 

the 19th century. Henry Wadsworth Longfellow wrote "The 

Battle of Lovells Pond," and Nathaniel Hawthorne wrote "Roger 

Malvin's Burial" about the battle, while Henry David Thoreau 

mentioned it in his A Week on the Concord and Merrimack 

Rivers. The town of Lovell, Maine is named after John Lovewell. 

Paugus Bay, the town of Paugus Mill (now part of Albany, New 

Hampshire), and Mount Paugus in New Hampshire are named 

after Chief Paugus. The site of the Kennebec village of 

Norridgewock was declared a National Historic Landmark 

District in 1993, now located at Old Point in Madison, Maine.  

  



Chapter 17 

George II of Great Britain 

George II (George Augustus; German: Georg August; 30 October 

/ 9 November 1683 – 25 October 1760) was King of Great 

Britain and Ireland, Duke of Brunswick-Lüneburg (Hanover) 

and a prince-elector of the Holy Roman Empire from 11 June 

1727 (O.S.) until his death in 1760.  

Born and brought up in northern Germany, George is the most 

recent British monarch born outside Great Britain. The Act of 

Settlement 1701 and the Acts of Union 1707 positioned his 

grandmother, Sophia of Hanover, and her Protestant 

descendants to inherit the British throne. After the deaths of 

Sophia and Anne, Queen of Great Britain, in 1714, his father, 

the Elector of Hanover, became George I of Great Britain. In 

the first years of his father's reign as king, George was 

associated with opposition politicians until they rejoined the 

governing party in 1720.  

As king from 1727, George exercised little control over British 

domestic policy, which was largely controlled by the Parliament 

of Great Britain. As elector, he spent twelve summers in 

Hanover, where he had more direct control over government 

policy. He had a difficult relationship with his eldest son, 

Frederick, who supported the parliamentary opposition. During 

the War of the Austrian Succession, George participated at the 

Battle of Dettingen in 1743, and thus became the last British 

monarch to lead an army in battle. In 1745 supporters of the 

Catholic claimant to the British throne, James Francis Edward 

Stuart ("The Old Pretender"), led by James's son Charles 
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Edward Stuart ("The Young Pretender" or "Bonnie Prince 

Charlie"), attempted and failed to depose George in the last of 

the Jacobite rebellions. Frederick died suddenly in 1751, nine 

years before his father, so George II was ultimately succeeded 

by his grandson, George III.  

For two centuries after George II's death, history tended to 

view him with disdain, concentrating on his mistresses, short 

temper, and boorishness. Since then, reassessment of his 

legacy has led scholars to conclude that he exercised more 

influence in foreign policy and military appointments than 

previously thought.  

Early life 

George was born in the city of Hanover in Germany, followed 

by his sister, Sophia Dorothea, three years later. Their 

parents, George Louis, Hereditary Prince of Brunswick-

Lüneburg (later King George I of Great Britain), and Sophia 

Dorothea of Celle, both committed adultery. In 1694 the 

marriage was dissolved on the pretext that Sophia had 

abandoned her husband. She was confined to Ahlden House 

and denied access to her two children, who probably never saw 

their mother again.  

George spoke only French, the language of diplomacy and the 

court, until the age of four, after which he was taught German 

by one of his tutors, Johann Hilmar Holstein. In addition to 

French and German, he also learnt English and Italian, and 

studied genealogy, military history, and battle tactics with 

particular diligence.  
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George's second cousin once removed, Queen Anne, ascended 

the thrones of England, Scotland, and Ireland in 1702. She 

had no surviving children, and by the Act of Settlement 1701, 

the English Parliament designated Anne's closest Protestant 

blood relatives, George's grandmother Sophia and her 

descendants, as Anne's heirs in England and Ireland. 

Consequently, after his grandmother and father, George was 

third in line to succeed Anne in two of her three realms. He 

was naturalized as an English subject in 1705 by the Sophia 

Naturalization Act, and in 1706 he was made a Knight of the 

Garter and created Duke and Marquess of Cambridge, Earl of 

Milford Haven, Viscount Northallerton, and Baron Tewkesbury 

in the Peerage of England. England and Scotland united in 

1707 to form the Kingdom of Great Britain, and jointly 

accepted the succession as laid down by the English Act of 

Settlement.  

Marriage 

George's father did not want his son to enter into a loveless 

arranged marriage as he had and wanted him to have the 

opportunity of meeting his bride before any formal 

arrangements were made. Negotiations from 1702 for the hand 

of Princess Hedvig Sophia of Sweden, Dowager Duchess and 

regent of Holstein-Gottorp, came to nothing. In June 1705, 

under the false name "Monsieur de Busch", George visited the 

Ansbach court at its summer residence in Triesdorf to 

investigate incognito a marriage prospect: Caroline of Ansbach, 

the former ward of his aunt Queen Sophia Charlotte of Prussia. 

The English envoy to Hanover, Edmund Poley, reported that 

George was so taken by "the good character he had of her that 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

467 

he would not think of anybody else". A marriage contract was 

concluded by the end of July. On 22 August / 2 September 

1705 Caroline arrived in Hanover for her wedding, which was 

held the same evening in the chapel at Herrenhausen.  

George was keen to participate in the war against France in 

Flanders, but his father refused to let him join the army in an 

active role until he had a son and heir. In early 1707 George's 

hopes were fulfilled when Caroline gave birth to a son, 

Frederick. In July Caroline fell seriously ill with smallpox, and 

George caught the infection after staying by her side devotedly 

during her illness. They both recovered. In 1708 George 

participated in the Battle of Oudenarde in the vanguard of the 

Hanoverian cavalry; his horse and a colonel immediately beside 

him were killed, but George survived unharmed. The British 

commander, Marlborough, wrote that George "distinguished 

himself extremely, charging at the head of and animating by 

his example [the Hanoverian] troops, who played a good part in 

this happy victory". Between 1709 and 1713 George and 

Caroline had three more children, all girls: Anne, Amelia, and 

Caroline.  

By 1714 Queen Anne's health had declined, and British Whigs, 

who supported the Hanoverian succession, thought it prudent 

for one of the Hanoverians to live in England to safeguard the 

Protestant succession on Anne's death. As George was a peer of 

the realm (as Duke of Cambridge), it was suggested that he be 

summoned to Parliament to sit in the House of Lords. Both 

Anne and George's father refused to support the plan, although 

George, Caroline, and Sophia were all in favour. George did not 

go. Within the year both Sophia and Anne were dead, and 

George's father was king.  
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Prince of Wales 

Quarrel with the king 

George and his father sailed for England from The Hague on 

16/27 September 1714 and arrived at Greenwich two days 

later. The following day, they formally entered London in a 

ceremonial procession. George was given the title of Prince of 

Wales. Caroline followed her husband to Britain in October 

with their daughters, while Frederick remained in Hanover to 

be brought up by private tutors. London was like nothing 

George had seen before; it was 50 times larger than Hanover, 

and the crowd was estimated at up to one and a half million 

spectators. George courted popularity with voluble expressions 

of praise for the English, and claimed that he had no drop of 

blood that was not English.  

In July 1716, the king returned to Hanover for six months, and 

George was given limited powers, as "Guardian and Lieutenant 

of the Realm", to govern in his father's absence. He made a 

royal progress through Chichester, Havant, Portsmouth, and 

Guildford in southern England. Spectators were allowed to see 

him dine in public at Hampton Court Palace. An attempt on his 

life at the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane, in which one person was 

shot dead before the assailant was brought under control, 

boosted his high public profile.  

His father distrusted or was jealous of George's popularity, 

which contributed to the development of a poor relationship 

between them. The birth in 1717 of George's second son, 

Prince George William, proved to be a catalyst for a family 
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quarrel; the king, supposedly following custom, appointed Lord 

Chamberlain Thomas Pelham-Holles, 1st Duke of Newcastle, as 

one of the baptismal sponsors of the child. The king was 

angered when George, who disliked Newcastle, verbally 

insulted the duke at the christening, which the duke 

misunderstood as a challenge to a duel.  

George and Caroline were temporarily confined to their 

apartments on the order of the king, who subsequently 

banished his son from St James's Palace, the king's residence. 

The Prince and Princess of Wales left court, but their children 

remained in the care of the king.  

George and Caroline missed their children, and were desperate 

to see them. On one occasion, they secretly visited the palace 

without the approval of the king; Caroline fainted and George 

"cried like a child". The king partially relented and permitted 

them to visit once a week, though he later allowed Caroline 

unconditional access. The following February, George William 

died, with his father by his side.  

Political opposition 

Banned from the palace and shunned by his own father, the 

Prince of Wales was identified for the next several years with 

opposition to George I's policies, which included measures 

designed to increase religious freedom in Great Britain and 

expand Hanover's German territories at the expense of Sweden. 

His new London residence, Leicester House, became a frequent 

meeting place for his father's political opponents, including Sir 

Robert Walpole and Lord Townshend, who had left the 

government in 1717.  
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The king visited Hanover again from May to November 1719. 

Instead of appointing George to the guardianship, he 

established a regency council. In 1720, Walpole encouraged the 

king and his son to reconcile, for the sake of public unity, 

which they did half-heartedly. Walpole and Townshend 

returned to political office, and rejoined the ministry. George 

was soon disillusioned with the terms of the reconciliation; his 

three daughters who were in the care of the king were not 

returned and he was still barred from becoming regent during 

the king's absences. He came to believe that Walpole had 

tricked him into the rapprochement as part of a scheme to 

regain power. Over the next few years, Caroline and he lived 

quietly, avoiding overt political activity. They had three more 

children: William, Mary, and Louisa, who were brought up at 

Leicester House and Richmond Lodge, George's summer 

residence.  

In 1721, the economic disaster of the South Sea Bubble 

allowed Walpole to rise to the pinnacle of government. Walpole 

and his Whig Party were dominant in politics, as the king 

feared that the Tories would not support the succession laid 

down in the Act of Settlement. The power of the Whigs was so 

great that the Tories would not come to hold power for another 

half-century.  

Early reign 

George I died on 11/22 June 1727 during one of his visits to 

Hanover, and George II succeeded him as king and elector at 

the age of 43. The new king decided not to travel to Germany 

for his father's funeral, which far from bringing criticism led to 

praise from the English who considered it proof of his fondness 
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for England. He suppressed his father's will because it 

attempted to split the Hanoverian succession between George 

II's future grandsons rather than vest all the domains (both 

British and Hanoverian) in a single person. Both British and 

Hanoverian ministers considered the will unlawful, as George I 

did not have the legal power to determine the succession 

personally. Critics supposed that George II hid the will to avoid 

paying out his father's legacies.  

George II was crowned at Westminster Abbey on 11/22 October 

1727. George Frideric Handel was commissioned to write four 

new anthems for the coronation, including Zadok the Priest.  

It was widely believed that George would dismiss Walpole, who 

had distressed him by joining his father's government, and 

replace him with Sir Spencer Compton. George asked Compton, 

rather than Walpole, to write his first speech as king, but 

Compton asked Walpole to draft it. Caroline advised George to 

retain Walpole, who continued to gain royal favour by securing 

a generous civil list (a fixed annual amount set by Parliament 

for the king's official expenditure) of £800,000, equivalent to 

£117,800,000 today. Walpole commanded a substantial 

majority in Parliament and George had little choice but to 

retain him or risk ministerial instability. Compton was 

ennobled as Lord Wilmington the following year.  

Walpole directed domestic policy, and after the resignation of 

his brother-in-law Townshend in 1730 also controlled George's 

foreign policy. Historians generally believe that George played 

an honorific role in Britain, and closely followed the advice of 

Walpole and senior ministers, who made the major decisions. 

Although the king was eager for war in Europe, his ministers 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

472 

were more cautious. A truce was agreed in the Anglo-Spanish 

War, and George unsuccessfully pressed Walpole to join the 

War of the Polish Succession on the side of the German states. 

In April 1733 Walpole withdrew the unpopular Excise Bill that 

had attracted strong opposition, including from within his own 

party. George lent Walpole support by dismissing the bill 's 

opponents from their court offices.  

Family problems 

George II's relationship with his son Frederick, Prince of 

Wales, worsened during the 1730s. Frederick had been left 

behind in Germany when his parents came to England, and 

they had not met for 14 years. In 1728, he was brought to 

England, and swiftly became a figurehead of the political 

opposition. When George visited Hanover in the summers of 

1729, 1732 and 1735, he left his wife to chair the regency 

council in Britain rather than his son. Meanwhile, rivalry 

between George II and his brother-in-law and first cousin 

Frederick William I of Prussia led to tension along the 

Prussian–Hanoverian border, which eventually culminated in 

the mobilization of troops in the border zone and suggestions 

of a duel between the two kings. Negotiations for a marriage 

between the Prince of Wales and Frederick William's daughter 

Wilhelmine dragged on for years but neither side would make 

the concessions demanded by the other, and the idea was 

shelved. Instead, the prince married Princess Augusta of Saxe-

Gotha in April 1736.  

In May 1736, George returned to Hanover, which resulted in 

unpopularity in England; a satirical notice was even pinned to 

the gates of St James's Palace decrying his absence. "Lost or 
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strayed out of this house", it read, "a man who has left a wife 

and six children on the parish." The king made plans to return 

in the face of inclement December weather; when his ship was 

caught in a storm, gossip swept London that he had drowned. 

Eventually, in January 1737, he arrived back in England. 

Immediately, he fell ill with a fever and piles, and withdrew to 

his bed. The Prince of Wales put it about that the king was 

dying, with the result that George insisted on getting up and 

attending a social event to disprove the gossip-mongers.  

When the Prince of Wales applied to Parliament for an increase 

in his allowance, an open quarrel broke out. The king, who had 

a reputation for meanness, offered a private settlement, which 

Frederick rejected. Parliament voted against the measure, but 

George reluctantly increased his son's allowance on Walpole's 

advice. Further friction between them followed when Frederick 

excluded the king and queen from the birth of his daughter in 

July 1737 by bundling his wife, who was in labour, into a 

coach and driving off in the middle of the night. George 

banished him and his family from the royal court, much as his 

own father had done to him, except that he allowed Frederick 

to retain custody of his children.  

Soon afterwards, George's wife Caroline died on 20 November 

1737 (O.S.). He was deeply affected by her death, and to the 

surprise of many displayed "a tenderness of which the world 

thought him before utterly incapable". On her deathbed she 

told her sobbing husband to remarry, to which he replied, 

"Non, j'aurai des maîtresses!" (French for "No, I shall have 

mistresses!"). It was common knowledge that George had 

already had mistresses during his marriage, and he had kept 

Caroline informed about them. Henrietta Howard, later 
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Countess of Suffolk, had moved to Hanover with her husband 

during the reign of Queen Anne, and had been one of 

Caroline's women of the bedchamber. She was his mistress 

from before the accession of George I until November 1734. She 

was followed by Amalie von Wallmoden, later Countess of 

Yarmouth, whose son, Johann Ludwig von Wallmoden, may 

have been fathered by George. Johann Ludwig was born while 

Amalie was still married to her husband, and George did not 

acknowledge him publicly as his own son.  

War and rebellion 

Against Walpole's wishes, but to George's delight, Britain 

reopened hostilities with Spain in 1739. Britain's conflict with 

Spain, the War of Jenkins' Ear, became part of the War of the 

Austrian Succession when a major European dispute broke out 

upon the death of Holy Roman Emperor Charles VI in 1740. At 

issue was the right of Charles's daughter, Maria Theresa, to 

succeed to his Austrian dominions. George spent the summers 

of 1740 and 1741 in Hanover, where he was more able to 

intervene directly in European diplomatic affairs in his 

capacity as elector.  

Prince Frederick campaigned actively for the opposition in the 

1741 British general election, and Walpole was unable to 

secure a stable majority. Walpole attempted to buy off the 

prince with the promise of an increased allowance and offered 

to pay off his debts, but Frederick refused. With his support 

eroded, Walpole retired in 1742 after over 20 years in office. He 

was replaced by Spencer Compton, Lord Wilmington, whom 

George had originally considered for the premiership in 1727. 

Wilmington, however, was a figurehead; actual power was held 
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by others, such as Lord Carteret, George's favourite minister 

after Walpole. When Wilmington died in 1743, Henry Pelham 

took his place at the head of the government.  

The pro-war faction was led by Carteret, who claimed that 

French power would increase if Maria Theresa failed to succeed 

to the Austrian throne. George agreed to send 12,000 hired 

Hessian and Danish mercenaries to Europe, ostensibly to 

support Maria Theresa. Without conferring with his British 

ministers, George stationed them in Hanover to prevent enemy 

French troops from marching into the electorate. The British 

army had not fought in a major European war in over 20 years, 

and the government had badly neglected its upkeep. George 

had pushed for greater professionalism in the ranks, and 

promotion by merit rather than by sale of commissions, but 

without much success. An allied force of Austrian, British, 

Dutch, Hanoverian and Hessian troops engaged the French at 

the Battle of Dettingen on 16/27 June 1743. George personally 

accompanied them, leading them to victory, thus becoming the 

last British monarch to lead troops into battle. Though his 

actions in the battle were admired, the war became unpopular 

with the British public, who felt that the king and Carteret 

were subordinating British interests to Hanoverian ones. 

Carteret lost support, and to George's dismay resigned in 

1744.  

Tension grew between the Pelham ministry and George, as he 

continued to take advice from Carteret and rejected pressure 

from his other ministers to include William Pitt the Elder in 

the Cabinet, which would have broadened the government's 

support base. The king disliked Pitt because he had previously 

opposed government policy and attacked measures seen as pro-
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Hanoverian. In February 1746, Pelham and his followers 

resigned. George asked Lord Bath and Carteret to form an 

administration, but after less than 48 hours they returned the 

seals of office, unable to secure sufficient parliamentary 

support. Pelham returned to office triumphant, and George was 

forced to appoint Pitt to the ministry.  

George's French opponents encouraged rebellion by the 

Jacobites, the supporters of the Roman Catholic claimant to 

the British throne, James Francis Edward Stuart, often known 

as the Old Pretender. Stuart was the son of James II, who had 

been deposed in 1688 and replaced by his Protestant relations. 

Two prior rebellions in 1715 and 1719 had failed. In July 

1745, the Old Pretender's son, Charles Edward Stuart, 

popularly known as Bonnie Prince Charlie or the Young 

Pretender, landed in Scotland, where support for his cause was 

highest. George, who was summering in Hanover, returned to 

London at the end of August. The Jacobites defeated British 

forces in September at the Battle of Prestonpans, and then 

moved south into England. The Jacobites failed to gain further 

support, and the French reneged on a promise of help. Losing 

morale, the Jacobites retreated back into Scotland. On 16/27 

April 1746, Charles faced George's military-minded son Prince 

William, Duke of Cumberland, in the Battle of Culloden, the 

last pitched battle fought on British soil. The ravaged Jacobite 

troops were routed by the government army. Charles escaped 

to France, but many of his supporters were caught and 

executed. Jacobitism was all but crushed; no further serious 

attempt was made at restoring the House of Stuart. The War of 

the Austrian Succession continued until 1748, when Maria 

Theresa was recognized as Archduchess of Austria. The peace 
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was celebrated by a fête in Green Park, London, for which 

Handel composed Music for the Royal Fireworks.  

Planning for succession 

In the general election of 1747 Frederick, Prince of Wales again 

campaigned actively for the opposition but Pelham's party won 

easily. Like his father before him, the Prince entertained 

opposition figures at his house in Leicester Square. When 

Prince Frederick died unexpectedly in 1751, his eldest son, 

Prince George, became heir apparent. The king commiserated 

with the Dowager Princess of Wales (Princess Augusta of Saxe-

Gotha) and wept with her. As her son would not reach the age 

of majority until 1756, a new British Regency Act was passed 

to make her regent, assisted by a council led by Frederick's 

brother, Prince William, Duke of Cumberland, in case of 

George II's death. The king also made a new will, which 

provided for Cumberland to be sole regent in Hanover. After 

the death of his daughter Louisa at the end of the year, George 

lamented, "This has been a fatal year for my family. I lost my 

eldest son – but I am glad of it ... Now [Louisa] is gone. I know 

I did not love my children when they were young: I hated to 

have them running into my room; but now I love them as well 

as most fathers."  

Seven Years' War 

In 1754 Pelham died, to be succeeded by his elder brother, 

Thomas Pelham-Holles, 1st Duke of Newcastle.  
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Hostility between France and Britain, particularly over the 

colonization of North America, continued. Fearing a French 

invasion of Hanover, George aligned himself with Prussia (ruled 

by his nephew, Frederick the Great), Austria's enemy. Russia 

and France allied with Austria, their former enemy. A French 

invasion of the British-held island of Minorca led to the 

outbreak of the Seven Years' War in 1756. Public disquiet over 

British failures at the start of the conflict led to Newcastle's 

resignation and the appointment of William Cavendish, 4th 

Duke of Devonshire, as prime minister and William Pitt the 

Elder as Secretary of State for the Southern Department. In 

April the following year George dismissed Pitt in an attempt to 

construct an administration more to his liking. Over the 

succeeding three months attempts to form another stable 

ministerial combination failed. In June Lord Waldegrave held 

the seals of office for only four days. By the start of July Pitt 

was recalled, and Newcastle returned as prime minister. As 

Secretary of State, Pitt guided policy relating to the war. Great 

Britain, Hanover, and Prussia and their allies Hesse-Kassel 

and Brunswick-Wolfenbüttel fought against other European 

powers, including France, Austria, Russia, Sweden and 

Saxony. The war involved multiple theatres from Europe to 

North America and India, where British dominance increased 

with the victories of Robert Clive over French forces and their 

allies at the Battle of Arcot and the Battle of Plassey.  

George's son, the Duke of Cumberland, commanded the king's 

troops in northern Germany. In 1757 Hanover was invaded and 

George gave Cumberland full powers to conclude a separate 

peace, but by September George was furious at Cumberland's 

negotiated settlement, which he felt greatly favoured the 

French. George said his son had "ruined me and disgraced 
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himself". Cumberland, by his own choice, resigned his military 

offices, and George revoked the peace deal on the grounds that 

the French had infringed it by disarming Hessian troops after 

the ceasefire.  

In the Annus Mirabilis of 1759 British forces captured Quebec 

and captured Guadeloupe, defeated a French plan to invade 

Britain following naval battles at Lagos and Quiberon Bay, and 

halted a resumed French advance on Hanover at the Battle of 

Minden.  

Death 

By October 1760 George II was blind in one eye and hard of 

hearing. On the morning of 25 October he rose as usual at 

6:00 am, drank a cup of hot chocolate, and went to his close 

stool alone. After a few minutes, his valet heard a loud crash 

and entered the room to find the king on the floor; his 

physician, Frank Nicholls, recorded that he "appeared to have 

just come from his necessary-stool, and as if going to open his 

escritoire".  

The king was lifted into his bed, and Princess Amelia was sent 

for; before she reached him, he was dead. At the age of nearly 

77 he had lived longer than any of his English or British 

predecessors. A post-mortem revealed that the king had died 

as the result of a thoracic aortic dissection. He was succeeded 

by his grandson George III, and buried on 11 November in 

Westminster Abbey. He left instructions for the sides of his and 

his wife's coffins to be removed so that their remains could 

mingle. He is the most recent monarch to be buried in 

Westminster Abbey.  
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Legacy 

George donated the royal library to the British Museum in 

1757, four years after the museum's foundation. He had no 

interest in reading, or in the arts and sciences, and preferred 

to spend his leisure hours stag-hunting on horseback or 

playing cards. In 1737, he founded the Georg August 

University of Göttingen, the first university in the Electorate of 

Hanover, and visited it in 1748. The asteroid 359 Georgia was 

named in his honour at the University in 1902. He served as 

the Chancellor of Trinity College, Dublin, between 1716 and 

1727; and in 1754 issued the charter for King's College in New 

York City, which later became Columbia University. The 

province of Georgia, founded by royal charter in 1732, was 

named after him.  

During George II's reign British interests expanded throughout 

the world, the Jacobite challenge to the Hanoverian dynasty 

was extinguished, and the power of ministers and Parliament 

in Britain became well-established. Nevertheless, in the 

memoirs of contemporaries such as Lord Hervey and Horace 

Walpole, George is depicted as a weak buffoon, governed by his 

wife and ministers. Biographies of George written during the 

nineteenth and first part of the twentieth century relied on 

these biased accounts. Since the last quarter of the twentieth 

century, scholarly analysis of surviving correspondence has 

indicated that George was not as ineffective as previously 

thought. Letters from ministers are annotated by George with 

pertinent remarks and demonstrate that he had a grasp of and 

interest in foreign policy in particular. He was often able to 

prevent the appointment of ministers or commanders he 
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disliked, or sideline them into lesser offices. This academic 

reassessment, however, has not totally eliminated the popular 

perception of George II as a "faintly ludicrous king". His 

parsimony, for example, may have opened him to ridicule, 

though his biographers observe that parsimony is preferable to 

extravagance. Lord Charlemont excused George's short temper 

by explaining that sincerity of feeling is better than deception, 

"His temper was warm and impetuous, but he was good-

natured and sincere. Unskilled in the royal talent of 

dissimulation, he always was what he appeared to be. He might 

offend, but he never deceived." Lord Waldegrave wrote, "I am 

thoroughly convinced that hereafter, when time shall have 

wore away those specks and blemishes which sully the 

brightest characters, and from which no man is totally exempt, 

he will be numbered amongst those patriot kings, under whose 

government the people have enjoyed the greatest happiness". 

George may not have played a major role in history, but he was 

influential at times and he upheld constitutional government. 

Elizabeth Montagu said of him, "With him our laws and 

liberties were safe, he possessed in a great degree the 

confidence of his people and the respect of foreign 

governments; and a certain steadiness of character made him 

of great consequence in these unsettled times ... His character 

would not afford subject for epic poetry, but will look well in 

the sober page of history."  

Titles, styles and arms 

Titles and styles 

In Britain:  
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• From 1706: Duke and Marquess of Cambridge, Earl 

of Milford Haven, Viscount Northallerton and Baron 

of Tewkesbury 

• August–September 1714: His Royal Highness George 

Augustus, Prince of Great Britain, Electoral Prince of 

Brunswick-Lüneburg, Duke of Cornwall and 

Rothesay, etc. 

• 1714–1727: His Royal Highness The Prince of Wales, 

etc. 

• 1727–1760: His Majesty The King 

George II's full style was "George the Second, by the Grace of 

God, King of Great Britain, France and Ireland, Defender of the 

Faith, Duke of Brunswick-Lüneburg, Archtreasurer and Prince-

Elector of the Holy Roman Empire".  

Arms 

When George became Prince of Wales in 1714, he was granted 

the royal arms with an inescutcheon of gules plain in the 

Hanoverian quarter differenced overall by a label of three 

points argent. The crest included the single arched coronet of 

his rank. As king, he used the royal arms as used by his father 

undifferenced.  

Fort Oswego 

Fort Oswego was an 18th-century trading post in the Great 

Lakes region in North America, which became the site of a 

battle between French and British forces in 1756 during the 

French and Indian War. The fort was established in 1727 on 

the orders of New York governor William Burnet, adjacent to a 
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1722 blockhouse that had originally been a way station for 

French traders. The log palisade fort established a British 

presence on the Great Lakes.  

In 1756 the fort's garrison of British soldiers from the 50th 

and 51st regiments were easily defeated by a combined French 

and Native American force. More than one hundred British 

soldiers were killed, many of them after the fort had been 

formally surrendered. The French took a further 1,500 British 

prisoners, and destroyed the fort itself. The site is now 

included in the city of Oswego, New York.  

Oswego fortification system 

Many historic references to Fort Oswego actually refer to other 

forts that existed simultaneously or later. The terrain at the 

site explains this. The original fort was built around the 

trading post on the lower ground on the north west side of the 

mouth of the Oswego River. This was convenient to canoe and 

bateaux traffic. A stone blockhouse was added in 1727, and 

was called Fort Burnet. A triangular stone wall, ten feet (3 m) 

high and three feet (1 m) wide was added in 1741, and the 

entire enclosure was called Fort Pepperrell (a marker can be 

found designating the area of Fort Oswego on the north west 

side of the river along a sidewalk). Besides these expansions, 

Fort Ontario was started in 1755 as a palisade on the high 

ground on the north east side of the river, and Fort George was 

added to the bluff located a half mile (800 m) to the southwest 

from Fort Oswego. Fort George was also called Fort Rascal or 

the West Fort. Fort Ontario was also known as the Fort of the 

Six Nations or the East Fort. The French knew Fort Oswego as 

Fort Chouaguen. Some references to Fort Oswego refer to the 
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entire complex. Except for the marker in Oswego, nothing is 

left of Fort Oswego itself.  

Fort Ontario has been rebuilt several times on or around the 

original fort and was given up by the U.S. Army in the 1940s. 

The fort is currently being taken care of by New York State 

Parks and Historic Preservation and is opened to the public.  

French and Indian War 

During the French and Indian War, the French commander, 

General Montcalm, arrived in August with 3,000 men. His force 

included three regiments of regulars, several companies of 

Canadian militia, and numerous Indians. He first captured 

Fort Ontario, then began the assault on Fort Oswego. Oswego 

was the stronger fortification, but it was now downhill from 

120 cannons in the abandoned Fort Ontario. Montcalm swept 

the fort with cannon fire, killing the British commander, 

Colonel Mercer, in the bombardment. British forces were forced 

to surrender on August 15, 1756.  

Montcalm gave much of the British supplies to his Indian 

allies, and destroyed the fort. He returned to Quebec in 

triumph with 1,700 prisoners. His actions made a strong 

impression on the Indian allies of the British, and caused the 

Oneida and the Seneca tribes to swtich to the French side. 

Later actions 

The site was used for shore batteries in the Revolutionary War 

and the War of 1812 (when it was subjected to a British raid), 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

485 

but was never again fortified. Revolutionary War references to 

Fort Oswego are actually referring to Fort Ontario. The original 

site is commemorated at West First and Lake Street in Oswego, 

New York. Fort George was located in what is now Montcalm 

Park. Fort Oswego was used as a training site in World War I 

and World War II.  

Fort Oswego is currently open as a state historic site.  

Michael Keane 

An interesting anecdote about Fort Oswego in the 1750s states: 

"I knew a Michael Keane, a blind harper, who was born in the 

County Mayo in Connaught. He was a decent performer. He left 

this country for America with a Governor Dobbs, of Castle 

Dobbs, in the County of Antrim, who was appointed to the 

Government of Carolina, previous to the American 

Independence. Keane returned from America, and Sir Malby 

Crofton told this story of Keane, that when he and some other 

officers were garrisoned at Fort Oswego, and had a party, 

Keane was with them, and quarrelled with them, and beat them 

very well, and took a Miss Williams from them all. He left the 

Governor, and came back to his native country which he 

longed to see." 

  



Chapter 18 

Baltimore 

Baltimore is the most populous city in the U.S. state of 

Maryland, as well as the 31st most populous city in the United 

States, with an estimated population of 586,131 in 2020. 

Baltimore was designated an independent city by the 

Constitution of Maryland in 1851, and today is the largest 

independent city in the United States. As of 2017, the 

population of the Baltimore metropolitan area was estimated to 

be just under 2.802 million, making it the 21st largest 

metropolitan area in the country. Baltimore is located about 40 

miles (64 km) northeast of Washington, D.C., making it a 

principal city in the Washington–Baltimore combined 

statistical area (CSA), the fourth-largest CSA in the nation, 

with a calculated 2018 population of 9,797,063.  

Prior to European colonization, the Baltimore region was used 

as hunting grounds by the Susquehannock Native Americans, 

who were primarily settled further north than where the city 

was later built. Colonists from the Province of Maryland 

established the Port of Baltimore in 1706 to support the 

tobacco trade with Europe, and established the Town of 

Baltimore in 1729. The Battle of Baltimore was a pivotal 

engagement during the War of 1812, culminating in the failed 

British bombardment of Fort McHenry, during which Francis 

Scott Key wrote a poem that would become "The Star-Spangled 

Banner", which was eventually designated as the American 

national anthem in 1931. During the Pratt Street Riot of 1861, 

the city was the site of some of the earliest violence associated 

with the American Civil War.  
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The Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, the oldest railroad in the 

United States, was built in 1830 and cemented Baltimore's 

status as a major transportation hub, giving producers in the 

Midwest and Appalachia access to the city's port. Baltimore's 

Inner Harbor was once the second leading port of entry for 

immigrants to the United States.  

In addition, Baltimore was a major manufacturing center. After 

a decline in major manufacturing, heavy industry, and 

restructuring of the rail industry, Baltimore has shifted to a 

service-oriented economy. Johns Hopkins Hospital and Johns 

Hopkins University are the city's top two employers.  

Baltimore and its surrounding region are home to the 

headquarters of a number of major organizations and 

government agencies, including the NAACP, ABET, the National 

Federation of the Blind, Catholic Relief Services, the Centers 

for Medicare & Medicaid Services, and the Social Security 

Administration.  

With hundreds of identified districts, Baltimore has been 

dubbed a "city of neighborhoods". Many of Baltimore's 

neighborhoods have rich histories: the city is home to some of 

the earliest National Register Historic Districts in the nation, 

including Fell's Point, Federal Hill, and Mount Vernon.  

These were added to the National Register between 1969 and 

1971, soon after historic preservation legislation was passed. 

Baltimore has more public statues and monuments per capita 

than any other city in the country. Nearly one third of the 

city's buildings (over 65,000) are designated as historic in the 

National Register, which is more than any other U.S. city.  
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Native American settlement 

The Baltimore area had been inhabited by Native Americans 

since at least the 10th millennium BC, when Paleo-Indians 

first settled in the region. One Paleo-Indian site and several 

Archaic period and Woodland period archaeological sites have 

been identified in Baltimore, including four from the Late 

Woodland period. During the Late Woodland period, the 

archaeological culture known as the "Potomac Creek complex" 

resided in an area from Baltimore to the Rappahannock River 

in Virginia, primarily along the Potomac River downstream 

from the Fall Line.  

In the early 1600s, the immediate Baltimore vicinity was 

populated by Native Americans. The Baltimore County area 

northward was used as hunting grounds by the 

Susquehannocks living in the lower Susquehanna River valley 

who "controlled all of the upper tributaries of the Chesapeake" 

but "refrained from much contact with Powhatan in the 

Potomac region." Pressured by the Susquehannocks, the 

Piscataway tribe of Algonquians stayed well south of the 

Baltimore area and inhabited primarily the north bank of the 

Potomac River in what is now Charles and southern Prince 

George's south of the Fall Line as depicted on John Smith's 

1608 map which faithfully mapped settlements, mapped none 

in the Baltimore vicinity, while noting a dozen Patuxent River 

settlements that were under some degree of Piscataway 

suzerainty.  

In 1608, Captain John Smith traveled 210 miles from 

Jamestown to the uppermost Chesapeake Bay, leading the first 

European expedition to the Patapsco River, a word used by the 
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Algonquin language natives who fished shellfish and hunted 

The name "Patapsco" is derived from pota-psk-ut, which 

translates to "backwater" or "tide covered with froth" in 

Algonquian dialect. A quarter-century after John Smith's 

voyage, Lord Baltimore led 140 colonists on the merchantman 

The Ark to settle in North America. The colonists were initially 

frightened by the Piscataway in southern Maryland because of 

their body paint and war regalia, incorrectly assuming they 

wished to attack the fledgling colonial settlement. However, the 

chief of the Piscataway tribe was quick to grant the colonists 

permission to settle within Piscataway territory and cordial 

relations were established between them and the Piscataway. 

European settlement 

The County of Baltimore was "erected" around 1659 in the 

records of the General Assembly of Maryland one of the earliest 

divisions of the Maryland Colony into counties when a warrant 

was issued to be served by the "Sheriff of Baltimore County." 

The area constituting the modern City of Baltimore and its 

metropolitan area was settled by David Jones in 1661, his 

claim covering in the area known today as Harbor East on the 

east bank of the Jones Fallsriver, which flows south into 

Baltimore's Inner Harbor. The following year, shipwright 

Charles Gorsuch settled Whetstone Point, the present location 

of Fort McHenry. In 1665, the west side of the Jones Falls on 

the Inner Harbor was settled when 550 acres of land, 

thereafter named Cole's Harbor, was granted to Thomas Cole 

and later sold to David Jones in 1679. Old Saint Paul's Parish 

of Baltimore County was one of the "Original Thirty" parishes 

designated for the Colony. It included the county of Baltimore 

and the future Baltimore Town and was part of the 
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"established" or "state" Church of England, also known as the 

Anglican Church. It was the first church built in the metro 

area, erected in 1692 on the Patapsco Neck peninsula in 

southeastern Baltimore County, along the Colgate Creek which 

flowed into the Patapsco River (present site of today's Dundalk 

Marine Terminal of the Port of Baltimore). Jones's stepson 

James Todd resurveyed Cole's Harbor in 1696. The tract was 

renamed Todd's Range, which was then sold off in 

progressively smaller parcels, thereby forming the land that 

would become the Town of Baltimore thirty years later.  

Another "Baltimore" existed on the Bush River as early as 

1674. That first county seat of Baltimore County is known 

today as "Old Baltimore". It was located on the Bush River on 

land that in 1773 became part of Harford County. In 1674, the 

General Assembly passed "An Act for erecting a Court-house 

and Prison in each County within this Province." The site of 

the courthouse and jail for Baltimore County was evidently 

"Old Baltimore" near the Bush River. In 1683, the General 

Assembly passed "An Act for Advancement of Trade" to 

"establish towns, ports, and places of trade, within the 

province." One of the towns established by the act in Baltimore 

County was "on Bush River, on Town Land, near the Court-

House." The courthouse on the Bush River referenced in the 

1683 Act was in all likelihood the one created by the 1674 Act. 

"Old Baltimore" was in existence as early as 1674, but we don't 

know with certainty what if anything happened on the site 

prior to that year. The exact location of Old Baltimore was lost 

for years. It was certain that the location was somewhere on 

the site of the present-day Aberdeen Proving Ground (APG), a 

U.S. Army testing facility. in the 1990s, APG's Cultural 

Resource Management Program took up the task of finding Old 
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Baltimore. The firm of R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates 

was contracted for the project. After Goodwin first performed 

historical and archival work, they coordinated their work with 

existing landscape features to locate the site of Old Baltimore. 

APG's Explosive Ordnance Disposal personnel went in with 

Goodwin to defuse any unexploded ordnance. Working in 1997 

and 1998, the field team uncovered building foundations, trash 

pits, faunal remains, and 17,000 artifacts, largely from the 

17th century. The Bush River proved to be an unfortunate 

location because the port became silted and impassable to 

ships, forcing the port facilities to relocate. By the time 

Baltimore on the Patapsco River was established in 1729, Old 

Baltimore Town had faded away.  

Maryland's colonial General Assembly created and authorized 

the Port of Baltimore in 1706 at the Head of the Northwest 

Branch of the Patapsco River in what was later known as "the 

Basin" (today's Inner Harbor) and later expanded east and 

southeast down-river to the settlement later known as Fells 

Point to the east near the mouth of the Jones Falls and further 

in the nineteenth century to what became known as Canton.  

The city is named after Cecil Calvert, second Lord Baltimore, 

(1605–1675), of the Irish House of Lords and founding 

proprietor of the Province of Maryland. Cecilius Calvert was the 

oldest son of Sir George Calvert, (1579–1632), who became the 

First Lord Baltimore of County Longford, Ireland in 1625. 

Previously, he had been a loyal agent of King Charles I of 

England (1600–1649) as his Secretary of State until declaring 

himself a follower of Roman Catholicism. Regardless, the King 

still gave his heir Cecil the 1632 grant for the Maryland colony, 

named after Charles's wife, Queen Henrietta Marie. The colony 
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was a followup to his earlier settlement in Newfoundland, 

known as "Acadia" or "Avalon", (future Canada), which he 

found too cold and difficult for habitation.  

Also around the Basin to the southeast along the southern 

peninsula which ended at Whetstone Point—today South 

Baltimore, Federal Hill, and Locust Point—the funding for new 

wharves and slips came from individual wealthy ship-owners 

and brokers and from the public authorities through the town 

commissioners by means of lotteries, for the tobacco trade and 

shipping of other raw materials overseas to the Mother 

Country, for receiving manufactured goods from England, and 

for trade with other ports being established up and down the 

Chesapeake Bay and in the other burgeoning colonies along the 

Atlantic coast.  

Early development of Baltimore Town: 1729–1796 

The Maryland General Assembly established the Town of 

Baltimore in 1729. Unlike many other towns established 

around that time, Baltimore was more than just existence on 

paper. German immigrants began to settle along the 

Chesapeake Bay by 1723, living in the Baltimore area. The 

General Assembly enlarged Baltimore Town in 1745 and 

incorporated David Jones's original settlement known as Jones 

Town. Baltimore sent representatives to the Assembly, and over 

the next two decades it acquired nine parcels of land and 

annexed neighboring villages including Fells Point to become 

an important community on the head of the Patapsco River. As 

the Town grew, increasing numbers of German Lutheran 

immigrants established Zion Church in 1755, and later also a 

German Reformed congregation was organized as the first 
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among the Protestants to be represented which also attracted 

more of these "Pennsylvania Dutch" settlers to the region. 

Early German settlers also later established the German 

Society of Maryland in 1783 in order to foster the German 

language and German culture in Baltimore.  

Throughout the 18th Century, Baltimore drained and filled in 

marshes (notably Thomas "Harrison's Marsh" along the Jones 

Falls west bank), built canals around the falls and through the 

center of town, built bridges across the Falls and annexed 

neighboring Jones's Town to the northeast in 1745 and 

expanded southeastward towards the neighboring, bustling, 

shipbuilding port at Fells Point. It became by far the largest 

city in the Middle Atlantic colonies between Philadelphia and 

Charleston, South Carolina. A political deal by the increasingly 

powerful financial interests in the growing town and with the 

rapidly growing population was reached and the county seat 

with its important center of a courthouse for all Baltimore 

County was moved from Old Joppa over its citizens enraged 

protests. Baltimoreans paid some 300 pounds sterling the next 

year to erect a fine brick courthouse with a bell tower and 

steeple on a Courthouse Square (future Calvert Street, between 

East Lexington and Fayette Streets) along with the necessary 

"whipping post", stocks (for confining heads and arms), podium 

for making public announcements and news, and a nearby jail, 

on the northern hills overlooking the harbor basin and with its 

back sitting over a rugged cliff and bluffs to the northeast with 

"Steiger's Meadow" bordering the twisting loop of the Jones 

Falls which bent southwestward before running north again.  

During the American Revolution, the Second Continental 

Congress temporarily fled from Philadelphia and held sessions 
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in Baltimore between December 1776 and February 1777. 

When the Continental Congress authorized the privateering of 

British merchantmen, eager Baltimore merchants accepted the 

challenge, and as the war progressed, the shipbuilding 

industry expanded and boomed. There was no major military 

action near the city though, except for the passing nearby and 

a feint towards the town by a Royal Navy fleet as they headed 

north up the Chesapeake Bay to land an army at Head of Elk 

in the northeast corner to march on the American capital at 

Philadelphia and the following battles at Brandywine and 

Germantown.  

The American Revolution stimulated the domestic market for 

wheat and iron ore, and in Baltimore, flour milling increased 

along the Jones and Gwynns Falls. Iron ore transport greatly 

boosted the local economy. The British naval blockade hurt 

Baltimore's shipping, but also freed merchants and traders 

from British debts, which along with the capture of British 

merchant vessels furthered Baltimore's economic growth. By 

1800 Baltimore had become one of the major cities of the new 

republic.  

The economic foundations laid down between 1763 and 1776 

were vital to the even greater expansion seen during the 

Revolutionary War. Though still lagging behind Philadelphia, 

Baltimore merchants and entrepreneurs produced an 

expanding commercial community with family businesses and 

partnerships proliferating in shipping, the flour-milling and 

grain business, and the indentured servant traffic. 

International trade focused on four areas: Britain, Southern 

Europe, the West Indies, and the North American coastal 

towns. Credit was the essence of the system and a virtual 
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chain of indebtedness meant that bills remained long unpaid 

and little cash was used among overseas correspondents, 

merchant wholesalers, and retail customers. Bills of exchange 

were used extensively, often circulating as currency. Frequent 

crises of credit and the wars with France kept prices and 

markets in constant flux, but men such as William Lux and the 

Christie brothers produced a maturing economy and a thriving 

metropolis by the 1770s.  

The population reached 14,000 in 1790, but the decade was a 

rough one for the city. The Bank of England's suspension of 

specie payments caused the network of Atlantic credit to 

unravel, leading to a mild recession. The Quasi-War with 

France in 1798-1800 caused major disruptions to Baltimore's 

trade in the Caribbean. Finally, a yellow fever epidemic 

diverted ships from the port, while much of the urban 

population fled into the countryside. The downturn widened to 

include every social class and area of economic activity. In 

response, the business community diversified away from an 

economy based heavily on foreign trade.  

In 1797, Baltimore Town merged with Fells Point and 

incorporated as the City of Baltimore. Baltimore grew rapidly, 

becoming the largest city in the American South. It dominated 

the American flour trade after 1800 due to the milling 

technology of Oliver Evans, the introduction of steam power in 

processing, and the merchant-millers' development of drying 

processes which greatly slowed spoilage. Still, by 1830 New 

York City's competition was felt keenly, and Baltimoreans were 

hard-pressed to match the merchantability standards despite 

more rigorous inspection controls than earlier, nor could they 

match the greater financial resources of their northern rivals.  
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The city was the site of the Battle of Baltimore during the War 

of 1812. After burning Washington, D.C., the British attacked 

Baltimore outside the eastern outskirts of town on the 

"Patapsco Neck" on September 12, at the Battle of North Point, 

then on the night of September 13–14, 1814. United States 

forces from Fort McHenry successfully defended the city's 

harbor from the British.  

Francis Scott Key, (1779–1843), a Maryland lawyer from 

Georgetown and Frederick, was aboard a British ship where he 

had been negotiating for the release of an American prisoner, 

Dr. William Beanes. Key witnessed the bombardment from this 

ship and after seeing the huge American flag on the morning of 

September 14, 1814, he wrote "The Star-Spangled Banner", a 

poem recounting the attack. Key's poem was set to a 1780 

drinking song by British composer John Stafford Smith, and 

"The Star-Spangled Banner" became the official national 

anthem of the United States in 1931.  

A distinctive local culture started to take shape, and a unique 

skyline peppered with churches and monuments developed. 

Baltimore acquired its moniker "The Monumental City" after an 

1827 visit to Baltimore by President John Quincy Adams. At an 

evening function, Adams gave the following toast: "Baltimore: 

the Monumental City—May the days of her safety be as 

prosperous and happy, as the days of her dangers have been 

trying and triumphant."  

Finance 

Alexander Brown (1764–1834), a Protestant immigrant from 

Ireland, came to the city in 1800 and set up a linen business 
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with his sons. Soon the firm Alex. Brown & Sons moved into 

cotton and, to a lesser extent, shipping. Brown's sons opened 

branches in Liverpool, Philadelphia, and New York. The firm 

was an enthusiastic supporter of the B&O Railroad. By 1850 it 

was the leading foreign exchange house in the United States. 

Brown was a business innovator who observed social 

conditions carefully and was a transition figure to the era after 

1819 when cash and short credits became the norms of 

business relations. By concentrating his capital in small-risk 

ventures and acquiring ships and Bank of the United States 

stock during the Panic of 1819, he came to monopolize 

Baltimore's shipping trade with Liverpool by 1822. Brown next 

expanded into packet ships, extended his lines to Philadelphia 

and began financing Baltimore importers, specializing in 

merchant banking from the late 1820s to his death in 1834. 

The emergence of a money economy and the growth of the 

Anglo-American cotton trade allowed him to escape Baltimore's 

declining position in trans-Atlantic trade. His most important 

innovation was the drawing up of his own bills of exchange. By 

1830 his company rivaled the Bank of the United States in the 

American foreign exchange markets, and the transition from 

the 'traditional' to the 'modern' merchant was nearly complete. 

It became the nation's first investment bank. It was sold in 

1997, but the name lives on as Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown, a 

division of Germany's Deutsche Bank.  

Baltimore & Ohio Railroad established 

Baltimore faced economic stagnation unless it opened routes to 

the western states, as New York had done with the Erie Canal 

in 1820. In 1827, twenty-five merchants and bankers studied 

the best means of restoring "that portion of the Western trade 
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which has recently been diverted from it by the introduction of 

steam navigation." Their answer was to build a railroad—one of 

the first commercial lines in the world. The Baltimore and Ohio 

Railroad (B&O) became the first chartered railroad in the 

United States; twenty thousand investors purchased $1.5 

million in stock to import the rolling stock and build the line, 

and the city and state governments invested the remaining 

$1.5 million of the company's $3 million capitalization. It was 

a commercial and financial success and invented many new 

managerial methods that became standard practice in 

railroading and modern business. The B&O became the first 

company to operate a locomotive built in America, with the 

Tom Thumb in 1829. It built the first passenger and freight 

station (Mount Clare in 1829) and was the first railroad that 

earned passenger revenues (December 1829), and published a 

timetable (May 23, 1830). On December 24, 1852, it became 

the first rail line to reach the Ohio River from the eastern 

seaboard. The railroad was merged into its former rival, the 

Chesapeake and Ohio (C&O), to create "The Chessie System 

Railroad." The Chessie System merged with the Seaboard 

System Railroad to create CSX in 1987, with the letters "CSX" 

referring to "Chessie," Seaboard," and "much more to come."  

Following the B&O's start of regular operations in 1830, other 

railroads were built in the city. In the early 1830s the 

Baltimore and Port Deposit Rail Road began running trains in 

the Canton area, and later in the decade it reached Havre de 

Grace. Also in the 1830s, the Baltimore and Susquehanna 

Railroad operated trains initially to Ownings Mills, and later 

into Pennsylvania. Both lines were later controlled by the 

Pennsylvania Railroad. In the mid-1850s the Western Maryland 
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Railway began constructing a line to Westminster and points 

west, reaching Hagerstown in 1872.  

The Baltimore-Washington telegraph line was established along 

a B&O route in 1843–44.  

Free and enslaved labor 

From the late 18th century into the 1820s Baltimore was a 

"city of transients," a fast-growing boom town attracting 

thousands of ex-slaves from the surrounding countryside. 

Slavery in Maryland declined steadily after the 1810s as the 

state's economy shifted away from plantation agriculture, as 

evangelicalism and a liberal manumission law encouraged 

slaveholders to free enslaved people held in bondage, and as 

other slaveholders practiced "term slavery," registering deeds 

of manumission but postponing the actual date of freedom for 

a decade or more. Baltimore's shrinking population of enslaved 

people often lived and worked alongside the city's growing free 

black population as "quasi-freedmen." With unskilled and 

semiskilled employment readily available in the shipyards and 

related industries, little friction with white workers occurred. 

Despite the overall poverty of the city's free blacks, compared 

with the condition of those living in Philadelphia, Charleston, 

and New Orleans, Baltimore was a "city of refuge," where 

enslaved and free blacks alike found an unusual amount of 

freedom. Churches, schools, and fraternal and benevolent 

associations provided a cushion against hardening white 

attitudes toward free people of color in the wake of Nat 

Turner's revolt in Virginia in 1831. But a flood of German and 

Irish immigrants swamped Baltimore's labor market after 1840, 

driving free blacks deeper into poverty.  
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The Maryland Chemical Works of Baltimore used a mix of free 

labor, hired slave labor, and enslaved people held by the 

corporation to work in its factory. Since chemicals needed 

constant attention, the rapid turnover of free white labor 

encouraged the owner to use enslaved workers. While slave 

labor was about 20 percent cheaper, the company began to 

reduce its dependence on enslaved labor in 1829 when two 

slaves ran away and one died.  

The location of Baltimore in a border state created 

opportunities for enslaved people in the city to run away and 

find freedom in the north—as Frederick Douglass did. 

Therefore, slaveholders in Baltimore frequently turned to 

gradual manumission as a means to secure dependable and 

productive labor from slaves. In promising freedom after a 

fixed period of years, slaveholders intended to reduce the costs 

associated with lifetime servitude while providing slaves 

incentive for cooperation. Enslaved people tried to negotiate 

terms of manumission that were more advantageous, and the 

implicit threat of flight weighed significantly in slaveholders' 

calculations. The dramatic decrease in the enslaved population 

during 1850-60 indicates that slavery was no longer profitable 

in the city. Slaves were still used as expensive house servants: 

it was cheaper to hire a free worker by the day, with the option 

of dropping him or replacing him with a better worker, rather 

than run the expense of maintaining a slave month in and 

month out with little flexibility.  

On the eve of the Civil War, Baltimore had the largest free 

black community in the nation. About 15 schools for black 

people were operating, including Sabbath schools operated by 

Methodists, Presbyterians, and Quakers, along with several 
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private academies. All black schools were self-sustaining, 

receiving no state or local government funds, and whites in 

Baltimore generally opposed educating the black population, 

continuing to tax black property holders to maintain schools 

from which black children were excluded by law. Baltimore's 

black community, nevertheless, was one of the largest and 

most divided in America due to this experience.  

Know-Nothing Party and Baltimore politics 

Baltimore in the Third Party System had two-party competitive 

elections, with powerful bosses, carefully orchestrated political 

violence, and an emerging working-class consciousness at the 

polls. The fierce politics of the 1850s had galvanized the white 

workers, most of them German, who opposed slavery. The 

American Party emerged in the mid-1850s to represent 

Protestants and to counter the Democratic Party, which was 

increasingly controlled by Catholic Irish.  

When Baltimore erupted in violence at the time of President 

Abraham Lincoln's 1861 inauguration, for example, the pro-

Union "Blood Tubs" that took to the streets were veterans of 

political rioting. The nativist American (Know-Nothing) Party 

captured the Baltimore government in 1854. The party 

promoted modernization, including professionalizing police and 

fire departments, expanding the courts, and upgrading the 

water supply. The party used patronage and, especially, 

coercion and election-day violence; its armed gangs scared off 

Democratic voters, but the Irish and Germans fought back. 

Voters elected a congressman and governor nominated by the 

party during its short life. In 1860 the Democrat-controlled 

legislature took back the city police, the militia, patronage, 
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and the electoral machinery, and prosecuted some Know-

Nothings for electoral fraud. By 1861 the Know-Nothings had 

split over secession.  

Baltimore during and after the Civil 

War: 1861–1894 

Baltimore plot 

Because of fear of assassination while passing through 

Baltimore on the way to his inauguration, Lincoln separated 

from his family and traveled through Baltimore first, in the 

middle of the night. Whether the plot existed is disputed, but 

Lincoln and his security escort from the Pinkerton Agency 

believed that the danger could not be safely ignored.  

Civil War 

The Civil War divided Baltimore and Maryland's residents. 

Much of the social and political elite favored the Confederacy—

and indeed owned house slaves. In the 1860 election the city's 

large German element voted not for Lincoln but for Southern 

Democrat John C. Breckinridge. They were less concerned with 

the abolition of slavery, an issue emphasized by Republicans, 

and much more with nativism, temperance, and religious 

beliefs, associated with the Know-Nothing Party and strongly 

opposed by the Democrats. However the Germans hated slavery 

and supported the Union.  

When Union soldiers from the 6th Massachusetts Militia and 

some unarmed Pennsylvania state militia known as the 
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"Washington Brigade" from Philadelphia with their band 

marched through the city at the start of the war, Confederate 

sympathizers attacked the troops, which led to the first 

bloodshed in the Civil War during the Baltimore riot of 1861. 

Four soldiers and twelve civilians were killed during the riot, 

which caused Union troops to later occupy Baltimore in May 

under Gen. Benjamin F. Butler of Massachusetts. Maryland 

came under direct federal administration—in part, to prevent 

the state from seceding—until the end of the war in April 1865.  

When Massachusetts troops marched through the city on April 

19, 1861, en route to Washington, D.C., a rebel mob attacked; 

4 soldiers and 12 rioters were dead, and 36 soldiers and 

uncounted rioters had been injured. Governor Thomas Hicks 

realized action needed to be taken. He convened a special 

session of the General Assembly but moved its location to a 

site in Frederick, a distance from the secessionist groups. In 

doing this and by other actions, Hicks managed to neutralize 

the General Assembly to avoid Maryland's secession from the 

Union, becoming a hero in the eyes of the Unionists in the 

state. Meanwhile, pro-Confederate gangs burned the bridges 

connecting Baltimore and Washington to the North, and cut 

the telegraph lines. Lincoln sent in federal troops under Gen. 

Ben Butler; they seized the city, imposed martial law, and 

arrested leading Confederate spokesmen. The prisoners were 

later released and the rail lines reopened, making Baltimore a 

major Union base during the war.  

African Americans after the Civil War 

• Maryland was not subject to Reconstruction, but the 

end of slavery meant heightened racial tensions as 
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free blacks flocked to the city and many armed 

confrontations erupted between blacks and whites. 

Rural blacks who flocked to Baltimore created 

increased competition for skilled jobs and upset the 

prewar relationship between free blacks and whites. 

As black migrants were relegated to unskilled work 

or no work at all, violent strikes erupted. Denied 

entry into the regular state militia, armed blacks 

formed militias of their own. In the midst of this 

change, white Baltimoreans interpreted black 

discontent as disrespect for law and order, which 

justified police repression. 

Baltimore had a larger population of African Americans than 

any northern city. The new Maryland state constitution of 1864 

ended slavery and provided for the education of all children, 

including blacks. The Baltimore Association for the Moral and 

Educational Improvement of the Colored People established 

schools for blacks that were taken over by the public school 

system, which then restricted education for blacks beginning 

in 1867 when Democrats regained control of the city. 

Establishing an unequal system that prepared white students 

for citizenship while using education to reinforce black 

subjugation, Baltimore's postwar school system exposed the 

contradictions of race, education, and republicanism in an age 

when African Americans struggled to realize the ostensible 

freedoms gained by emancipation. Thus blacks found 

themselves forced to support Jim Crow legislation and urged 

that the "colored schools" be staffed only with black teachers. 

From 1867 to 1900 black schools grew from 10 to 27 and 

enrollment from 901 to 9,383. The Mechanical and Industrial 

Association achieved success only in 1892 with the opening of 
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the Colored Manual Training School. Black leaders were 

convinced by the Rev. William Alexander and his newspaper, 

the Afro American, that economic advancement and first-class 

citizenship depended on equal access to schools.  

Economic growth 

By 1880 manufacturing replaced trade and made the city a 

nationally important industrial center. The port continued to 

ship increasing amounts of grain, flour, tobacco, and raw 

cotton to Europe. The new industries of men's clothing, 

canning, tin and sheet-iron ware products, foundry and 

machine shop products, cars, and tobacco manufacture had 

the largest labor force and largest product value.  

The construction of new housing was a major factor in 

Baltimore's economy. Vill (1986) examines the activities of 

major builders between 1869 and 1896, especially as they 

gained access to building land and capital. Most, but not all, of 

the major builders were craftsmen who were entrepreneurs 

compared with others in the building trades, but were still 

small businessmen who built small numbers of houses during 

long careers. They worked with landowners, and both groups 

manipulated the city's leasehold system to their own 

advantage. Builders obtained credit from a diverse array of 

sources, including sellers of land, building societies, and land 

companies. The most important source was individual lenders, 

who lent money in small amounts either on their own account 

or through lawyers and trustees overseeing funds held in trust. 

In spite of their important role in shaping the city, the 

contractors were small businessmen who rarely achieved 

citywide visibility. Until the 1890s, Baltimore remained a 
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patchwork of nationalities with white natives, German and 

Irish immigrants, and black Baltimoreans scattered throughout 

the 'social quilt' in heterogeneous neighborhoods.  

Baltimore was the origin of a major railroad workers' strike in 

1877 when the B&O company attempted to lower wages.  

On July 20, 1877, Maryland Governor John Lee Carroll called 

up the 5th and 6th Regiments of the National Guard to end the 

strikes, which had disrupted train service at Cumberland in 

western Maryland. Citizens sympathetic to the railroad workers 

attacked the National Guard troops as they marched from their 

armories in Baltimore to Camden Station.  

Soldiers from the 6th Regiment fired on the crowd, killing 10 

and wounding 25. Rioters then damaged B&O trains and 

burned portions of the rail station.  

Order was restored in the city on July 21–22 when federal 

troops arrived to protect railroad property and end the strike.  

YWCA 

An expanded economic activity brought many immigrants from 

the countryside and from Europe after the Civil War. Concerns 

for young, single Protestant women alone in cities led to the 

growth of the Young Women's Christian Association (YWCA) 

movement.  

When the Baltimore YWCA was founded in 1883, they only 

offered their services to white women and so the Colored 

Women's YWCA was founded in 1896. They merged in 1920.  
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Progressive Era: 1895–1928 

Women's rights 

Founded in 1894, the Maryland Suffrage Association was one 

of the first state suffrage associations for women in the U.S. 

Together with the Equal Suffrage League of Baltimore, they 

lobbied for women's right to vote at every session of the 

General Assembly until the Nineteenth Amendment was ratified 

in Maryland in 1941. Prior to ratification, early suffragists in 

Maryland helped advance women's rights in other ways. For 

example,  

Elizabeth King Ellicott, Martha Carey Thomas, Mary Garrett, 

Mary Gwinn, and Julia Rogers formed the Women's Fund 

Committee of the Johns Hopkins University and successfully 

negotiated that they would help raise money to build the new 

medical school on the condition that the school allows women 

to attend when it opened. In 1893, when the Johns Hopkins 

Medical School opened, there were three women and fifteen 

men in the first class.  

The Great Baltimore Fire 

The Great Baltimore Fire of 1904 destroyed 70 blocks and 

1,526 buildings in the downtown and led to systematic urban 

renewal programs. Baltimore was a poorly managed city in 

1890, despite its economic vitality. Already Boston, Chicago, 

and New York were moving to modernize their public works 

infrastructures and to support the construction of capital-

intensive, technologically sophisticated sewer and water supply 
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systems. Baltimore lagged behind the other American 

metropolises because of its culture of privatism and the 

politicization of its municipal administration. However, during 

the 1890–1920 period the city responded to the same concerns 

as Chicago, New York, and Boston.  

The increase in urban crises, particularly the 1904 fire and the 

deterioration of sanitary conditions, prompted demands for 

reform. Moreover, the municipal administration underwent a 

process of moralization and professionalization in the 20th 

century. Afterward, Baltimore modeled itself on the other 

American metropolises and chose to modernize its institutions 

and address the industrial and urban challenges of the era.  

Park planning 

The story of the Patapsco Forest Reserve (later renamed the 

Patapsco Valley State Park) near Baltimore reveals notable 

connections between the Progressive-era movements for forest 

conservation and urban park planning. In 1903, the Patapsco 

Valley site, although outside the city boundary, was 

nevertheless identified by the Olmstead Brothers landscape 

architecture firm as an ideal site to acquire property for future 

park development. At the same time, the Maryland State Board 

of Forestry, seeking to establish scientific forestry research, 

received donated land for this purpose in the Patapsco Valley. 

Over subsequent decades, a powerful alliance of urban elites, 

state managers, and city officials assembled thousands of 

acres along the Patapsco River. The site evolved into a unique 

hybrid of forest preserve and public park that reflected both its 

location on the urban fringe and its dual heritage in the 

conservation and parks movements.  
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Baseball 

When in 1918 the US government reversed its draft exemption 

for married workers and required all men to work in essential 

occupations or serve in the military, professional baseball 

players either enlisted or joined industrial baseball leagues. 

Company leagues included those of Bethlehem Steel, which 

had recreational leagues on both coasts that by 1918 

represented a major-league level of competition. Sparrows 

Point, Maryland, a Bethlehem Steel company town, had a Steel 

League team, whose results Baltimore baseball fans followed 

closely. At the same time, fans also followed the draft status 

and 1918 season of Baltimore native Babe Ruth, then playing 

with the Boston Red Sox and considering his own options, 

including joining an industrial league team. In September 

Bethlehem Steel, fearing competition with other leagues over 

professional talent, disbanded the Steel League. When the war 

ended in November, players such as Ruth were free to re-sign 

with their major league teams.  

Depression and War: 1929–1949 

Argersinger (1988) describes the loss of power by traditional 

Democratic leaders and organizations in Baltimore under the 

New Deal. The old-line Democrats operated in the spirit of 

traditional political bosses who dispensed the patronage.  

They were, at best, lukewarm Roosevelt supporters because the 

New Deal threatened their monopoly on patronage. Blacks, 

other ethnic groups, labor, and other former supporters turned 

from their patrons to other leadership. Baltimore Mayor 
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Howard W. Jackson's support gradually eroded until he was 

defeated in a gubernatorial primary election to choose an 

opponent for a Republican who earlier defeated Governor 

Albert C. Richie, a conservative Democrat.  

World War II 

Baltimore was a major war production center in World War II. 

The biggest operations were Bethlehem Steel's Fairfield Yard, 

on the southeastern edge of the harbor, which built Liberty 

ships; its workforce peaked at 46,700 in late 1943. Even larger 

was Glenn Martin, an aircraft plant located 10 miles (16 km) 

northeast of downtown. By late 1943 about 150,000 to 200,000 

migrant war workers had arrived.  

They were predominantly poor white southerners; most came 

from the hills of Virginia, North Carolina, West Virginia, 

Pennsylvania, Kentucky, South Carolina, and Tennessee. War 

mobilization brought federal pressure to unionize the 

workforce, and by 1941 the leftist CIO had organized most of 

Baltimore's large industries, while the more conservative AFL 

also gained many new members.  

By 1945, labor unions and ethnics had taken over local politics 

and liberal mayors enjoyed black as well as white support. The 

machine was led by Italian Catholic politicians such as Nancy 

Pelosi's father, Thomas D'Alesandro, Jr., who was mayor in 

1947–59; her brother, Thomas D'Alesandro III, was mayor from 

1967 to 1971.  

Father John F. Cronin's early confrontations with Communists 

in the World War II-era labor movement turned him into a 

leading anti-Communist in the Catholic Church and the US 
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government during the Cold War. Father Cronin, then a 

prominent Catholic parish priest, saw a united labor movement 

as central to his moderate, reformist vision for Baltimore's 

social ills, and worked closely with anti-Communist labor 

leaders.  

Cold War era 

In 1950, the city's population topped out at 950,000 people, of 

whom 24 percent were black. Then the white movement to the 

suburbs began in earnest, and the population inside the city 

limits steadily declined and became proportionately more 

black.  

Schools 

Integration of Baltimore's public schools at first went 

smoothly, as city elites suppressed working-class white 

complaints, as white families migrated to suburban school 

systems. By the 1970s new problems had surfaced.  

Formerly white schools had become mostly black schools, 

though whites still made up most of the faculty and 

administration. Worse, the school system had become 

dependent on federal funding. In 1974, these circumstances 

led to two dramatic incidents.  

A teachers' strike highlighted the city's unwillingness to raise 

teachers' salaries because a hike in property taxes would 

further alienate white residents. A second crisis revolved 

around a federally mandated desegregation plan that also 

threatened to alienate the remaining white residents.  
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Drugs 

Heroin supply and use in Baltimore rose explosively in the 

1960s, following a trend of rising drug use across the United 

States. In the late 1940s, there were only a few dozen African-

American heroin addicts in the Pennsylvania Avenue area of 

the city. Heroin use began largely for reasons of prestige within 

a group that most middle-class blacks looked down on. When 

the Baltimore police formed the three-man narcotics squad in 

1951 there was only moderate profit in drug dealing and 

shoplifting was the addict's crime of choice. By the late 1950s, 

young whites were using the drug, and by 1960 there were over 

one thousand heroin addicts in the police files; this figure 

doubled in the 1960s. A generation of profiteering young, 

violent black dealers took over in the 1960s as violence 

increased and the price of heroin skyrocketed. Increasing drug 

usage was the primary reason for burglaries rising tenfold and 

robberies rising thirtyfold from 1950 to 1970. Soaring numbers 

of broken homes and Baltimore's declining economic status 

probably exacerbated the drug problem. Adolescents in 

suburban areas began using drugs in the late 1960s.  

Civil rights 

In the 1930s and 1940s, the local chapter of the National 

Association for the Advancement of Colored People, the black 

churches, and the Afro-American weekly newspaper took charge 

of organizing and publicizing demonstrations. There was no 

rioting.  

Read's Drug Store in Baltimore was the site of one of the 

nation's earliest sit-ins in January 1955. When a handful of 
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black students sat at the store's lunch counter for less than 

half an hour, it precipitated a wave of desegregation.  

In the late 1950s Martin Luther King Jr. and his national civil 

rights movement inspired black ministers in Baltimore to 

mobilize their communities in opposition to local 

discrimination. The churches were instrumental in keeping 

lines of communication open between the geographically and 

politically divided middle-class and poor blacks, a chasm that 

had widened since the end of World War II. Ministers formed a 

network across churches and denominations and did much of 

the face-to-face work of motivating people to organize and 

protest. In many cases they also adopted King's theology of 

justice and freedom and altered their preaching styles.  

1968 unrest 

Unrest in the black inner-city exploded for four nights in April 

1968, after news arrived of the assassination of the Reverend 

Martin Luther King Jr. in Memphis Tennessee. Arson, looting, 

and attacks on police ended with six people dead, 700 injured, 

and 5,800 rioters arrested. About a thousand businesses were 

ransacked or burned, especially liquor stores, supermarkets, 

furniture stores, and taverns. Many shops never reopened, 

leaving the burned-out districts permanently under-served by 

retail stores. Governor Spiro T. Agnew sent in 5,000 National 

Guardsmen and imposed an 11 p.m. curfew. That was not 

enough, so President Lyndon Johnson, at the governor's 

request, sent in 6,000 U.S. Army combat troops to finally 

regain control of the city. The episode was a stimulus for an 

exodus to the suburbs and a political backlash by white voters. 

Agnew's statement that "evil men and not evil conditions" 
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caused the riots resonated with white ethnic urban voters, and 

Republican Richard Nixon selected Agnew as his vice 

presidential running mate that summer.  

Backlash 

In the 1950s and 1960s, racial politics intensified in 

Baltimore, as in other cities. White Southerners came to 

Baltimore for factory jobs during World War II, permanently 

altering the city's political landscape. The new arrivals 

approved of the segregated system that had been in effect since 

the early 20th century. Working whites mobilized to prevent 

school integration after the Brown v. Board of Education 

decision of the Supreme Court in 1954. They believed that 

their interests were being sacrificed to those of black 

Americans. As working-class whites began to feel increasingly 

embattled in the face of federal intervention into local 

practices, many turned to the 1964 presidential primary 

campaign of George Wallace who swept the white working-class 

vote. Durr (2003) explains the defection of white working-class 

voters in Baltimore to the Republican Party as being caused by 

their fears that the Democratic Party's desegregation policies 

posed a threat to their families, workplaces, and 

neighborhoods.  

Between 1950 and 1990, Baltimore's population declined by 

more than 200,000. The center of gravity has since shifted 

away from manufacturing and trade to service and knowledge 

industries, such as medicine and finance. Gentrification by 

well-educated newcomers has transformed the Harbor area into 

an upscale tourist destination.  
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21st century 

In January 2004, the historic Hippodrome Theatre reopened 

after significant renovation as part of the France-Merrick 

Performing Arts Center. The Reginald F. Lewis Museum of 

Maryland African American History & Culture opened in 2005 

on the northeast corner of President Street and East Pratt 

Street, and the National Slavic Museum in Fell's Point was 

established in 2012.  

On April 12, 2012, Johns Hopkins held a dedication ceremony 

to mark the completion of one of the United States' largest 

medical complexes – the Johns Hopkins Hospital in Baltimore – 

which features the Sheikh Zayed Cardiovascular and Critical 

Care Tower and The Charlotte R. Bloomberg Children's Center. 

The event, held at the entrance to the $1.1 billion 1.6 million-

square-foot-facility, honored the many donors including Sheikh 

Khalifa bin Zayed Al Nahyan, first president of the United Arab 

Emirates, and Michael Bloomberg.  

Maryland's Star-Spangled 200 celebration, launched as the 

"Star-Spangled Sailabration" and crescendo "Star-Spangled 

Spectacular" festivals, was a three-year commemoration of the 

200th anniversary of the War of 1812 and the penning of The 

Star-Spangled Banner.  

The Star-Spangled Sailabration festival brought a total of 45 

tall ships, naval vessels and others from the US, United 

Kingdom, Canada, Colombia, Brazil, Ecuador, and Mexico to 

Baltimore's Harbor. The event, held June 13–19, 2012, was the 

week encompassing Flag Day and the 200th anniversary of the 

Declaration of War. The Star-Spangled Spectacular was a 10-
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day free festival that celebrated the 200th anniversary of the 

United States National Anthem from September 6–16, 2014. 

More than 30 naval vessels and tall ships from the United 

States, United Kingdom, Canada, Norway, Germany, Spain, and 

Turkey berthed at the Inner Harbor, Fell's Point and North 

Locust Point.  

An air show from the Navy's Flight Demonstration Team, the 

Blue Angels performed during both festivals. Special guests 

such as President Barack Obama, Vice President Joe Biden, 

and Secretary of the Navy Ray Mabus, were in attendance at 

Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic Shrine. During 

the course of the Star-Spangled 200 celebration the city was 

showcased on three separate live television broadcasts. Visit 

Baltimore CEO, Tom Noonan, was quoted in the Baltimore Sun 

as calling the Spectacular, "the largest tourism event in our 

city's history." Over a million people visited Baltimore during 

both festivals.  

2015 protests 

On April 19, 2015, West Baltimore resident Freddie Gray died 

after being in a coma for a week. Gray, who had a record of 

arrests for petty criminal activity, had been taken into custody 

after running from police. Gray suffered spinal injuries while 

in police custody and fell into the coma. The cause of his 

injuries was disputed, with some claiming they were 

accidental, while others claiming they were the result of police 

brutality.  

Protests were initially nonviolent, with thousands of peaceful 

protesters filled the City Hall square. Protests against police 
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brutality turned violent following Gray's funeral on April 27, as 

people burned police cruisers and buildings and damaged 

shops. The Governor of Maryland, Larry Hogan sent in the 

National Guard and imposed a curfew. Six police officers were 

charged with crimes relating to Gray's death. One was 

acquitted, one trial ended in a hung jury, and four cases are 

ongoing as of June 12, 2016.  

Port Covington development 

On September 19, 2016 the Baltimore City Council approved a 

$660 million bond deal for the $5.5 billion Port Covington 

redevelopment project championed by Under Armour founder 

Kevin Plank and his real estate company Sagamore 

Development. Port Covington surpassed the Harbor Point 

development as the largest tax-increment financing deal in 

Baltimore's history and among the largest urban redevelopment 

projects in the country.  

The waterfront development that includes the new 

headquarters for Under Armour, as well as shops, housing, 

offices, and manufacturing spaces is projected to create 26,500 

permanent jobs with a $4.3 billion annual economic impact. In 

an open letter Plank refers to the turbulent history in 

Baltimore's economic development and civic life as "forks in 

the road." He concludes by saying "we saw one of those great 

forks in the road, and chose the best course" with Port 

Covington. Mayor Stephanie Rawlings-Blake led the signing of 

three bills that commit the city to the sale of bonds over the 

next 15 to 20 years to fund the infrastructure for the Port 

Covington development on September 28, 2016.  
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Religious history 

Roman Catholics 

Baltimore has long been a major center of the Catholic Church. 

Important bishops include John Carroll (1735–1815, in-office 

1789-1815), Francis Kenrick (1796–1863, in-office 1851–65), 

and especially Cardinal James Gibbons (1834—1921, in-office 

1877–1921).  

In 1806–21 Catholics constructed the Basilica of the National 

Shrine of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary, based on 

a neoclassical design by architect Benjamin Henry Latrobe. The 

church completed a $34 million restoration based on Latrobe's 

original plans in 2006.  

During 1948–61, the Archdiocese of Baltimore was under the 

leadership of Francis Patrick Keough. The Baltimore Church 

identified with the anti-Communist and anti-pornography 

movements and with the expansion of Catholic institutions 

that addressed a myriad of social, economic, and educational 

issues. The Church also coordinated a multitude of action 

projects under the financial control of the Baltimore chancery.  

Methodists 

The Methodists were well received in Maryland in the 1760-

1840 era, and Baltimore became an important center. Sutton 

(1998) looks at Methodist artisans and craftsmen, showing 

they embraced an evangelical identity, Protestant ethic, and 

complex organizational structure. This enabled them to express 

their anti-elitist or populist "producerist" values of self-
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discipline, honesty, frugality, and industry; they denounced 

greed and sought an interdependent common good. Such 

producerist views drew on aspects of the Wesleyan ethic, 

appropriated the commonweal traditions of 18th-century 

republicanism, and initially resisted those of classical liberal, 

individualistic, self-interested capitalism. They also accorded 

well with and helped produce the emerging amalgam of 

American populist, restorationist, biblicistic, revivalistic 

activism that Sutton terms "Arminianized Calvinism."  

Inside the Methodist Church, the artisans were reformers who 

focused on three substantive and symbolic targets, each of 

which would democratize Methodist conferences: lay suffrage 

and representation; inclusion of the local preachers, who 

constituted two-thirds of Methodist leadership; and election of 

the officers who carried the administrative, personnel, and 

supervisory power, the presiding elders. The appeals made on 

behalf of these democratizations, Sutton shows, drew 

imaginatively on both producerist and Wesleyan rhetoric. By 

the 1850s, Sutton (1998) shows that the corporate ideals and 

individual disciplines of religious producerism were expressed 

in trade unionism, in evangelical missions to workers, in 

factory preaching, in workers' congregations, in temperance 

and Sabbatarianism, in the Sunday school movement, and in 

the politics of Protestant communal hegemony.  

Baptists 

The Appalachians and southern whites arriving in the 1940s 

brought along a strong religious tradition with them. Southern 

Baptist churches multiplied during the mid and late 1940s.  
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Evangelical Lutherans 

The Zion Evangelical Lutheran congregation was founded in 

1755 in order to serve the needs of Lutheran immigrants from 

Germany, as well as Germans from Pennsylvania who moved to 

Baltimore. It has a bi-lingual congregation that provides 

sermons in both German and English. In 1762 the 

congregation built its first church on Fish Street (now East 

Saratoga Street). It was replaced by a bigger building, the 

current Zion Church on North Gay Street and East Lexington 

Street erected from 1807 to 1808. An addition to the west 

along Lexington Street to Holliday Street of an "Aldersaal" 

(parish house), bell tower, parsonage, and enclosed garden in 

North German Hanseatic architecture under Pastor Julius K. 

Hoffman was made in 1912–1913.  

Jews 

Although the extent of Baltimore Jewry in the 18th century is 

not known, the existence of a Jewish cemetery in Baltimore 

can be traced back to 1786. The Jewish community grew 

significantly in the 19th century forming synagogues including 

Nidche Yisroel (now the Baltimore Hebrew Congregation; 1830), 

Har Sinai Congregation (1842), the Fell's Point Congregation 

(1848), and Temple Oheb Shalom (1853).  

Muslims 

Baltimore has had a Muslim community as far back as 1943. 

Masjid Ul-Haqq was established as a Nation of Islam mosque in 

1947, on Ensor Street. The congregation later moved to 1000 

Pennsylvania Avenue. The mosque was known as Mosque Six. 
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The mosque moved to 514 Wilson Street in the late 1950s, 

where it is currently located. Nation of Islam leader Elijah 

Muhammad spoke at the mosque in 1960 to over a thousand 

people. After the death of Muhammad in 1975, the mosque's 

congregants converted to Sunni Islam and it became known as 

Masjid Ul-Haqq.  

In 1979, the number of Muslims in Baltimore and its suburbs 

was estimated to be 3,000–5,000 by Islamic Society of 

Baltimore co-founder Dr. Mohamed Z. Awad.  

As reported by The Baltimore Sun, in 1983, the number of 

Muslims in Baltimore was estimated to be several thousand. In 

1985, the number was estimated the number to be around 

15,000, as well as 40,000 Muslims living in the Baltimore–

Washington region.  

In 1995, Maqbool Patel, the president of the Islamic Society of 

Baltimore, estimated the number of active Muslim families in 

the state to be 5,000, with 1,500 being in the Baltimore area.  

  



Chapter 19 

Chesapeake, Virginia 

Chesapeake is an independent city in the Commonwealth of 

Virginia. As of the 2010 census, the population was 222,209; 

in 2019, the population was estimated to be 244,835, making 

it the second-most populous city in Virginia.  

Chesapeake is included in the Virginia Beach–Norfolk–Newport 

News, VA–NC, MSA. One of the cities in the South Hampton 

Roads, Chesapeake was organized in 1963 by voter 

referendums approving the political consolidation of the city of 

South Norfolk with the remnants of the former Norfolk County, 

which dated to 1691. (Much of the territory of the county had 

been annexed by other cities.) Chesapeake is the second-

largest city by land area in the Commonwealth of Virginia, and 

the 17th-largest in the United States.  

Chesapeake is a diverse city in which a few urban areas are 

located; it also has many square miles of protected farmland, 

forests, and wetlands, including a substantial portion of the 

Great Dismal Swamp National Wildlife Refuge. Extending from 

the rural border with North Carolina to the harbor area of 

Hampton Roads adjacent to the cities of Norfolk, Portsmouth, 

Suffolk, and Virginia Beach, Chesapeake is located on the 

Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway. It has miles of waterfront 

industrial, commercial and residential property.  

In 2011, Chesapeake was named the 21st best city in the 

United States by Bloomberg Businessweek. Chesapeake is 

home to the international Headquarters for Dollar Tree.  
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History 

In 1963, the new independent city of Chesapeake was created 

when the former independent city of South Norfolk 

consolidated with Norfolk County.  

The consolidation, authorized by the Virginia General 

Assembly, was approved and the new name selected by the 

voters of each communities by referendum. The new city is part 

of the current region of Hampton Roads which are linked by 

the circumferential Hampton Roads Beltway.  

Formed in 1691 in the Virginia Colony, Norfolk County had 

originally included essentially all the area which became the 

towns and later cities of Norfolk, Portsmouth, and South 

Norfolk, but had seen its area frequently reduced as these 

cities added territory through annexations after 1871.  

Becoming an independent city was a method for the former 

county to stabilize borders with neighbors, as cities could not 

annex territory from each other.  

The relatively small City of South Norfolk had become an 

incorporated town within Norfolk County in 1919, and became 

an independent city in 1922.  

It was also motivated to make a change which would put it on 

a more equal footing in other aspects with the much larger 

cities of Norfolk and Portsmouth. By the late 1950s, although 

immune from annexation by the bigger cities, the most recent 

suit by the City of Norfolk against Norfolk County would have 

taken all of the county land adjoining South Norfolk.  
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The changes which created Chesapeake were part of a wave of 

changes in the structure of local government in southeastern 

Virginia which took place between 1952 and 1976.  

Chesapeake's history goes far back into Virginia's colonial 

roots. The Intracoastal Waterway passes through Chesapeake. 

On the waterway, at Great Bridge where the locks transition 

from the Southern Branch Elizabeth River to the Chesapeake 

and Albemarle Canal lies the site of the Battle of Great Bridge.  

This American Revolutionary War battle was responsible for 

removing Lord Dunmore and any other vestige of English 

Government for the Colony of Virginia during the early days of 

the American Revolution on December 9, 1775.  

The Dismal Swamp Canal runs through Chesapeake as well. 

The site of this canal was surveyed by George Washington, 

among others, and is known as "Washington's Ditch".  

It is the oldest continuously used man made canal in the 

United States today and has been in service for over 230 years. 

The canal begins in the Deep Creek section of the city 

branching off from the Southern Branch Elizabeth River. The 

canal runs through Chesapeake paralleling U.S. Highway 17 

into North Carolina and connects to Elizabeth City, North 

Carolina.  

Until the late 1980s and early 1990s, much of Chesapeake was 

either suburban or rural, serving as a bedroom community of 

the adjacent cities of Norfolk and Virginia Beach with residents 

commuting to these locations. Beginning in the late 1980s and 

accelerating in the 1990s, however, Chesapeake saw significant 

growth, attracting numerous and significant industries and 
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businesses of its own. This explosive growth quickly led to 

strains on the municipal infrastructure, ranging from intrusion 

of saltwater into the city's water supply to congested roads and 

schools.  

Chesapeake made national headlines in 2003 when, under a 

court-ordered change of venue, the community hosted the first 

trial of convicted murderer Beltway sniper Lee Boyd Malvo for 

one of the 2002 terrorist-style attacks. A jury spared him a 

potential death sentence, choosing a sentence of "life in prison 

without parole" instead for the young man, who was 17 years 

old at the time of the crime spree. A jury in neighboring 

Virginia Beach sentenced his older partner John Allen 

Muhammad to death for another of the attacks.  

Geography 

Chesapeake is located at 36°46 ′2″N76°17 ′14″W (36.767398, -

76.287405).  

According to the United States Census Bureau, the city has a 

total area of 351 square miles (910 km), of which 341 square 

miles (880 km) is land and 10 square miles (26 km) (2.9%) is 

water.  

The northeastern part of the Great Dismal Swamp is located in 

Chesapeake.  

Diverse environment 

Chesapeake is one of the larger cities in Virginia and the 

nation in terms of land area. This poses challenges to city 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

526 

leaders in supporting infrastructure to serve this area. In 

addition, the city has many historically and geographically 

distinct communities. City leaders are faced with conflicts 

between development of residential, commercial and industrial 

areas and preservation of virgin forest and wetlands. Within 

the city limits in the southwestern section is a large portion of 

the Great Dismal Swamp.  

Adjacent counties and cities 

• Portsmouth, Virginia (north) 

• Norfolk, Virginia (north) 

• Virginia Beach, Virginia (east) 

• Currituck County, North Carolina (south) 

• Camden County, North Carolina (south) 

• Suffolk, Virginia (west) 

Communities 

• Chesapeake consists of eight informal boroughs: 

South Norfolk, Greenbrier, Hickory, Deep Creek, 

Grassfield, Great Bridge, Indian River, and Western 

Branch. One of the boroughs, South Norfolk, used to 

be its own independent city.  

Demographics 

As of the census of 2010, there were 222,209 people, 69,900 

households, and 54,172 families residing in the city. The 

population density was 584.6 people per square mile 

(225.7/km). There were 72,672 housing units at an average 

density of 213.3 per square mile (82.4/km). The racial makeup 
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of the city was 62.6% White, 29.8% Black or African American, 

0.4% Native American, 2.9% Asian, 0.1% Pacific Islander, 1.2% 

from other races, and 3.0% from two or more races. 4.4% of the 

population were Hispanics or Latinos of any race. According to 

2012 estimates 59.7% of the population is non-Hispanic white.  

There were 69,900 households, out of which 41.0% had 

children under the age of 18 living with them, 59.7% were 

married couples living together, 14.0% had a female 

householder with no husband present, and 22.5% were non-

families. 18.0% of all households were made up of individuals, 

and 5.9% had someone living alone who was 65 years of age or 

older. The average household size was 2.79 and the average 

family size was 3.17.  

The age distribution was: 28.8% under the age of 18, 8.2% 

from 18 to 24, 32.3% from 25 to 44, 21.7% from 45 to 64, and 

9.0% who were 65 years of age or older. The median age was 35 

years. For every 100 females, there were 94.4 males. For every 

100 females age 18 and over, there were 91.0 males.  

The median income for a household in the city was $50,743, 

and the median income for a family was $56,302. Males had a 

median income of $39,204 versus $26,391 for females. The per 

capita income for the city was $20,949. About 6.1% of families 

and 7.3% of the population were below the poverty line, 

including 9.7% of those under age 18 and 9.0% of those age 65 

or over.  

Points of interest 

• Chesapeake Arboretum 
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• Chesapeake and Albemarle Canal 

• Dismal Swamp Canal 

Media 

Chesapeake's daily newspaper is The Virginian-Pilot. Other 

papers include the Port Folio Weekly, the New Journal and 

Guide, and the Hampton Roads Business Journal. Hampton 

Roads Magazine serves as a bi-monthly regional magazine for 

Chesapeake and the Hampton Roads area. Hampton Roads 

Times serves as an online magazine for all the Hampton Roads 

cities and counties.  

Chesapeake is served by a variety of radio stations on the AM 

and FM dials, with towers located around the Hampton Roads 

area. Chesapeake is also served by several television stations. 

The Hampton Roads designated market area (DMA) is the 42nd 

largest in the U.S. with 712,790 homes (0.64% of the total 

U.S.). The major network television affiliates are WTKR-TV 3 

(CBS), WAVY 10 (NBC), WVEC-TV 13 (ABC), WGNT 27 (CW), 

WTVZ 33 (MyNetworkTV), WVBT 43 (Fox), and WPXV 49 (ION 

Television).  

The Public Broadcasting Service station is WHRO-TV 15. 

Chesapeake residents also can receive independent stations, 

such as WSKY broadcasting on channel 4 from the Outer 

Banks of North Carolina and WGBS-LD broadcasting on 

channel 11 from Hampton.  

Chesapeake is served by Cox Communications which provides 

LNC 5, a local 24-hour cable news television network.  
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Infrastructure 

Transportation 

Toll Road 

Tolls in Chesapeake are currently limited to the Chesapeake 

Expressway, Veterans Bridge and the Jordan Bridge, but new 

ones may be imposed on some existing facilities to help 

generate revenue for transportation projects in the region.  

Airports 

Chesapeake is served by the nearby Norfolk International 

Airport in the City of Norfolk with commercial airline passenger 

service.  

Within the city limits, Chesapeake Regional Airport is a general 

aviation facility located just south of Great Bridge. Also within 

the city, is the Hampton Roads Executive Airport located near 

Bowers Hill and the Hampton Roads Beltway. This airport 

caters to private airplane owners and enthusiasts. East of 

Great Bridge, NALF Fentress is a facility of the U.S. Navy and 

is an auxiliary landing field which is part of the large facility 

at NAS Oceana in neighboring Virginia Beach.  

River and Ports 

The Intracoastal Waterway passes through Chesapeake. 

Chesapeake also has extensive frontage and port facilities on 

the navigable portions of the Western and Southern Branches 
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of the Elizabeth River. The Dismal Swamp Canal runs through 

Chesapeake as well. The site of this canal was surveyed by 

George Washington, among others, and is known as 

"Washington's Ditch". It is the oldest continuously used man 

made canal in the United States today and has been in service 

for over 230 years. The canal begins in the Deep Creek section 

of the city branching off from the Southern Branch of the 

Elizabeth River. The canal runs through Chesapeake 

paralleling U.S. Highway 17 into North Carolina and connects 

to Elizabeth City, North Carolina.  

Rail 

Five railroads currently pass through portions of Chesapeake, 

and handle some intermodal traffic at port facilities on 

Hampton Roads and navigable portions of several of its 

tributary rivers. The two major Class 1 railroads are CSX 

Transportation and Norfolk Southern, joined by three short 

line railroads.  

Chesapeake is located on a potential line for high speed 

passenger rail service between Richmond and South Hampton 

Roads which is being studied by the Virginia Department of 

Rail and Public Transportation. A new suburban passenger 

station near Bowers Hill would potentially be included to 

supplement a terminal in downtown Norfolk.  

Utilities 

Water and sewer services are provided by the city's Department 

of Utilities. Chesapeake receives its electricity from Dominion 

Virginia Power which has local sources including the 
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Chesapeake Energy Center (a coal-fired and gas power plant), 

coal-fired plants in the city and Southampton County, and the 

Surry Nuclear Power Plant. Norfolk headquartered Virginia 

Natural Gas, a subsidiary of AGL Resources, distributes 

natural gas to the city from storage plants in James City 

County and in the city.  

The Virginia tidewater area has grown faster than the local 

freshwater supply. Chesapeake receives the majority of its 

water from the Northwest River in the southeastern part of the 

city. To deal with intermittent high salt content, Chesapeake 

implemented an advanced reverse osmosis system at its 

Northwest River water treatment plant in the late 1990s. The 

river water has always been salty, and the fresh groundwater is 

no longer available in most areas. Currently, additional 

freshwater for the South Hampton Roads area is pumped from 

Lake Gaston, about 80 miles (130 km) west, which straddles 

the Virginia-North Carolina border along with the Blackwater 

and Nottaway rivers. The pipeline is 76 miles (122 km) long 

and 60 inches (1,500 mm) in diameter. Much of its follows the 

former right-of-way of an abandoned portion of the Virginian 

Railway. It is capable of pumping 60 million US gallons 

(230,000 m) of water per day. The cities of Chesapeake and 

Virginia Beach are partners in the project.  

The city provides wastewater services for residents and 

transports wastewater to the regional Hampton Roads 

Sanitation District treatment plants.  

Education 

Chesapeake City Public Schools is the local school district.  
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Notable people 

• Eddie Butler, professional baseball player 

• Clarence Clemons, musician 

• Michael Cuddyer, professional baseball player 

• Kenny Easley, member of NFL Hall of Fame 

• Randy Forbes, former U.S. Representative 

• DeAngelo Hall, professional football player 

• Percy Harvin, professional football player 

• Frank Hassell (born 1988), basketball player 

• Grant Holloway, 110 m hurdle world champion 

• Patrick Jones II, professional football player 

• Ashton Lewis Jr. NASCAR driver 

• Mizkif, Twitch streamer 

• Alonzo Mourning, professional basketball player* 

• Jay Pharoah, comedian 

• Chris Richardson, singer 

• Ricky Rudd, NASCAR driver 

• Mike Scott, professional basketball player 

• Don Shipley, Retired Navy Seal and YouTube Star 

• Scott Sizemore, professional baseball player 

• Ben Smith, 2015 CrossFit games champion 

• Darryl Tapp, professional football player 

• Justin Upton, professional baseball player 

• Melvin Upton Jr., professional baseball player 

• David Wright, professional baseball player 
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In popular culture 

In 2015, in honor of the game's 80th birthday, Hasbro held an 

online vote in order to determine which cities would make it 

into an updated version of the Monopoly Here and Now: The US 

Edition of the game. Chesapeake, Virginia won the wildcard 

round, earning it a brown spot.   



Chapter 20 

Province of Georgia 

The Province of Georgia (also Georgia Colony) was one of the 

Southern colonies in British America. It was the last of the 

thirteen original American colonies established by Great 

Britain in what later became the United States. In the original 

grant, a narrow strip of the province extended to the Pacific 

Ocean.  

The colony's corporate charter was granted to General James 

Oglethorpe on April 21, 1732, by George II, for whom the 

colony was named. The charter was finalized by the King's 

privy council on June 9, 1732.  

Oglethorpe envisioned a colony which would serve as a haven 

for English subjects who had been imprisoned for debt and 

"the worthy poor". General Oglethorpe imposed very strict laws 

that many colonists disagreed with, such as the banning of 

alcoholic beverages. He disagreed with slavery and thought a 

system of smallholdings more appropriate than the large 

plantations common in the colonies just to the north. However, 

land grants were not as large as most colonists would have 

preferred.  

Another reason for the founding of the colony was as a buffer 

state and a "garrison province" which would defend the 

southern British colonies from Spanish Florida. Oglethorpe 

imagined a province populated by "sturdy farmers" who could 

guard the border; because of this, the colony's charter 
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prohibited slavery. The ban on slavery was lifted by 1751 and 

the colony became a royal colony by 1752.  

Foundation 

Although many believe that the colony was formed for the 

imprisoned, the colony was actually formed as a place of no 

slavery. Oglethorpe did have the vision to make it a place for 

debtors, but it transformed into a royal colony. The following is 

an historical accounting of these first English settlers sent to 

Georgia:  

A committee was appointed to visit the jails and obtain the 

discharge of such poor prisoners as were worthy, carefully 

investigating character, circumstances and antecedents. 

Thirty-five families, numbering one hundred and twenty 

persons, were selected. 

On the 16th of November, 1732, the emigrants embarked at 

Gravesend on the ship Anne ... arriving January 13th [1733] in 

the harbor of Charleston, S. C. ... 

They set sail the day following ... into Port Royal, some eighty 

miles southward, to be conveyed in small vessels to the river 

Savannah. 

Oglethorpe continued up the river to scout a location suitable 

for settlement. On February 12, 1733, Oglethorpe led the 

settlers to their arrival at Yamacraw Bluff, in what is now the 

city of Savannah, and established a camp with the help of a 

local elderly Creek chief, Tomochichi. A Yamacraw Indian 
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village had occupied the site, but Oglethorpe arranged for the 

Indians to move. The day is still celebrated as Georgia Day.  

The original charter specified the colony as being between the 

Savannah and Altamaha Rivers, up to their headwaters (the 

headwaters of the Altamaha are on the Ocmulgee River), and 

then extending westward "to the south seas." The area within 

the charter had previously been part of the original grant of 

the Province of Carolina, which was closely linked to Georgia.  

Development of the colony 

The Privy Council approved the establishment charter on June 

9, 1732, and for the next two decades the council of trustees 

governed the province, with the aid of annual subsidies from 

Parliament. However, after many difficulties and the departure 

of Oglethorpe, the trustees proved unable to manage the 

proprietary colony, and on June 23, 1752, they submitted a 

deed of reconveyance to the crown, one year before the 

expiration of the charter. On January 2, 1755, Georgia 

officially ceased to be a proprietary colony and became a crown 

colony.  

From 1732 until 1758, the minor civil divisions were districts 

and towns. In 1758, without Indian permission, the Province of 

Georgia was divided into eight parishes by the Act of the 

Assembly of Georgia on March 15. The Town and District of 

Savannah was named Christ Church Parish. The District of 

Abercorn and Goshen, plus the District of Ebenezer, was 

named the Parish of St. Matthew. The District of Halifax was 

named the Parish of St. George. The District of Augusta was 

named the Parish of St. Paul. The Town of Hardwick and the 
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District of Ogeechee, including the island of Ossabaw, was 

named the Parish of St. Philip. From Sunbury in the District of 

Midway and Newport to the south branch of Newport, including 

the islands of St. Catherine and Bermuda, was named the 

Parish of St. John. The Town and District of Darien, to the 

Altamaha River, including the islands of Sapelo and Eastwood 

and the sea islands north of Egg Island, was named the Parish 

of St. Andrew. The Town and District of Frederica, including 

the islands of Great and Little St. Simons, along with the 

adjacent islands, was named the Parish of St. James.  

Following Britain's victory in the French and Indian War, King 

George III issued the Proclamation of 1763. One of its 

provisions was to extend Georgia's southern boundary from the 

Altamaha River to the St. Marys River.  

Two years later, on March 25, 1765, Governor James Wright 

approved an act of the General Assembly creating four new 

parishes – St. David, St. Patrick, St. Thomas, and St. Mary –  

in the recently acquired land, and it further assigned Jekyll 

Island to St. James Parish.  

The Georgia colony had had a sluggish beginning. James 

Oglethorpe did not allow liquor, and colonists who came at the 

trustees' expense were not allowed to own more than 50 acres 

(0.20 km) of land for their farm in addition to a 60 foot by 90 

foot plot in town. Those who paid their own way could bring 

ten indentured servants and would receive 500 acres of land. 

Additional land could neither be acquired nor sold. Discontent 

grew in the colony because of these restrictions, and 

Oglethorpe lifted them. With slavery, liquor, and land 

acquisition the colony developed much faster. Slavery had been 
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permitted from 1749. There was some internal opposition to 

slavery, particularly from Scottish settlers, but by the time of 

the War of Independence, Georgia was much like the other 

Southern colonies.  

Revolutionary War period and 

beyond 

During the American Revolution Georgia's population was at 

first divided about exactly how to respond to revolutionary 

activities and heightened tensions in other provinces. When 

violence broke out in 1775, radical Patriots (also known as 

Whigs) stormed the royal magazine at Savannah and carried off 

its ammunition, took control of the provincial government, and 

drove many Loyalists out of the province. In 1776 a provincial 

congress had declared independence and created a constitution 

for the new state. Georgia also served as the staging ground for 

several important raids into British-controlled Florida.  

In 1777 the original eight counties of the state of Georgia were 

created. Prior to that Georgia had been divided into local 

government units called parishes. Settlement had been limited 

to the near vicinity of the Savannah River; the western area of 

the new state remained under the control of the Creek Indian 

Confederation.  

James Wright, the last Royal Governor of the Province of 

Georgia, dismissed the royal assembly in 1775. He was briefly 

a prisoner of the revolutionaries before escaping to a British 

warship in February 1776. During the American Revolutionary 

War Wright would become the only royal governor of the 
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Thirteen Colonies to regain control of part of his colony after 

British forces captured Savannah on December 29, 1778. 

British and Loyalist forces restored large areas of Georgia to 

colonial rule, especially along the coast, while Patriots 

continued to maintain an independent governor, congress, and 

militia in other areas. In 1779 the British repelled an attack of 

militia, Continental Army, and French military and naval 

forces on Savannah. The 1781 siege of Augusta, by militia and 

Continental forces, restored it to Patriot control. When the war 

was lost for Britain, Wright and British forces evacuated 

Savannah on July 11, 1782. After that the Province of Georgia 

ceased to exist as a British colony.  

Georgia was a member of the Second Continental Congress, a 

signer of the Declaration of Independence, the tenth state to 

ratify the Articles of Confederation on July 24, 1778, and the 

fourth state to be admitted to the Union under the U.S. 

Constitution, on January 2, 1788.  

On April 24, 1802, Georgia ceded to the U.S. Congress parts of 

its western lands, that it had claims for going back to when it 

was a province (colony). These lands were incorporated into the 

Mississippi Territory and later (with other adjoining lands) 

became the states of Alabama and Mississippi.  

James Oglethorpe 

James Edward Oglethorpe (22 December 1696 – 30 June 

1785) was a British soldier, Member of Parliament, and 

philanthropist, as well as the founder of the colony of Georgia 

in what was then British America. As a social reformer, he 
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hoped to resettle Britain's worthy poor in the New World, 

initially focusing on those in debtors' prisons.  

Born to a prominent British family, Othethorpe left college in 

England and a British Army commission to travel to France, 

where he attended a military academy before fighting under 

Prince Eugene of Savoy in the Austro-Turkish War. He returned 

to England in 1718, and was elected to the House of Commons 

in 1722. His early years were relatively undistinguished until 

1729, when Oglethorpe was made chair of the Gaols Committee 

that investigated British debtors' prisons.  

After the report was published, to widespread attention, 

Oglethorpe and others began publicizing the idea of a new 

colony, to serve as a buffer between the Carolinas and Spanish 

Florida. After being granted a charter, Oglethorpe sailed to 

Georgia in November 1732.  

He was a major figure in the early history of the colony, 

holding much civil and military power and instituting a ban on 

slavery and alcohol. During the War of Jenkins' Ear, 

Oglethorpe led British troops in Georgia against Spanish forces 

based in Florida. In 1740, he led a lengthy Siege of St. 

Augustine, which was unsuccessful. He then defeated a 

Spanish Invasion of Georgia in 1742. Oglethorpe left the colony 

after another unsuccessful invasion of St. Augustine, and 

never returned. He led some British troops in the Jacobite 

rising of 1745 and was blamed for British defeat in the Clifton 

Moor Skirmish. Despite being cleared in a court martial, 

Oglethorpe would never hold British command again. He lost 

reelection to the House of Commons in 1754. He left England 

and served undercover in the Prussian Army during the Seven 
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Years' War. In his later years, Oglethorpe was prominent in 

literary circles, becoming close to James Boswell and Samuel 

Johnson.  

Early life and family 

His family history dates back to William the Conqueror. They 

supported Charles I, an unpopular monarch. They suffered 

under Oliver Cromwell, but regained favor following the Stuart 

Restoration in 1660. Theophilus Oglethorpe, the head of the 

family, lived next to the royal palace at Whitehall; he and his 

brothers were members of Parliament. At Whitehall Theophilus 

met Eleanor Wall, one of Queen Anne's ladies-in-waiting, and 

the two fell in love and married in 1680. They had ten children: 

Lewis, Anne, Eleanor, Theophilus Jr., James, Frances 

Charlotte, Sutton, Louise Mary, and James Edward. James 

Edward was the Oglethorpes’ youngest child and their fifth 

son. He was born on 22 December 1696. Little is known about 

Oglethorpe's early life. He was named James after James II, 

reflecting his family's royalist sympathies and Edward after 

James Francis Edward Stuart. Oglethorpe was baptized on 23 

December at St Martin-in-the-Fields in London.  

Early military career 

Oglethorpe's father bought him a commission in Queen Anne's 

1st regiment of Foot Guards as an ensign in 1707, he was 

commissioned to be lieutenant unassigned on 21 November 

1713 with the rank of captain of foot (infantry). Following the 

footsteps of his older brothers, he entered Eton College. His 

mother managed to have him enter Corpus Christi College, 
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Oxford where he matriculated on 8 July 1714 with Basil 

Kennett as his tutor. His army commission was renewed in 

1715 by George I, but he resigned on 23 November 1715, in 

part because the Foot Guards were not expected to see action.  

Oglethorpe then traveled to France, where both his sisters 

Anne and Fanny lived, he attended the military academy at 

Lompres, near Paris, where he met and befriended fellow-

student James Francis Edward Keith.  

The following year, intending to fight in the Austro-Turkish 

War, he travelled to serve under military commander Prince 

Eugene of Savoy. With a letter of recommendation from the 

Duke of Argyle and several other prominent Britons, 

Oglethorpe and Louis François Crozat arrived and with Infante 

Manuel, Count of Ourém entered the Prince's service on 3 

August as an aide-de-camp. Oglethorpe was present at the 

Battle of Petrovaradin in August 1716, although not actively 

engaged, at the Siege of Timisoara in September that same year 

he served as aide-de-camp. He found active command at the 

Siege of Belgrade, from 19 June to 16 August. After the death 

of his superior in combat, on 16 August, Oglethorpe as the 

most senior aide-de-camp acted ad adjutant general; as such 

he took possession of the Turkish camp, and reported to the 

Prince the casualty report. After the battle, he was offered the 

rank of lieutenant colonel in the army— which he never 

accepted. Oglethorpe then fought in Sicily under General Georg 

Olivier Wallis in 1718 for several weeks. By 19 September, he 

had returned to England. Despite his hope otherwise, 

Oglethorpe was refused a commission in the British Army and 

was briefly back at Corpus Christi beginning on 25 June 1719.  
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As a Member of Parliament 

When he was twenty-six, Oglethorpe inherited the family estate 

at Godalming in Surrey from his brother. He was first elected 

to the House of Commons as a Tory aligned with William 

Windham in 1722, representing Haslemere. Oglethorpe 

remained unchallenged until 1734. He almost did not serve 

when, in a drunken brawl, he killed a man and spent five 

months in prison, before he was cleared of murder through the 

influence of a powerful friend and released from prison. He 

took his seat in the House of Commons on 9 October.  

Oglethorpe was, according to Pitofsky, "among the least 

productive representatives". In six years after his initial 

election, he was actively involved in only two debates. In 

contrast, Sweet writes that Oglethorpe was an "eloquent yet 

honest" speaker who had strong Tory principals and genuinely 

cared about the conditions of his constituents. He served on 

forty different committees that investigated widely varied 

topics. His first participation in debate was on 6 April 1723, 

when Oglethorpe opposed the banishment of the bishop 

Francis Atterbury, who had been accused of supporting James 

Francis Edward Stuart. He failed in this effort.  

In response to the poor living and working conditions of sailors 

in the Royal Navy, Oglethorpe published an anonymous 

pamphlet titled "The Sailors Advocate" in 1728 about press 

gangs and pay issues. It was 52 pages long and argued for 

reforming and strengthening the Navy as well as advocating 

against impressment. However, he proposed few real solutions 

apart from analysing the work of navies of other countries. 

Sweet considers that it marks the beginning of Oglethorpe's 
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philanthropy and writes that it "gave Oglethorpe the practical 

experience necessary to undertake future efforts more 

successfully". The pamphlet was reprinted several times 

throughout the 18th century.  

Gaols Committee 

His initial interest in the conditions began after Oglethorpe's 

friend Robert Castell died in debtors' prison. Oglethorpe 

motioned to investigate the warden of the prison, and was 

made chairman of the resulting committee on 25 February 

1729. As chair of the Gaols Committee, he began touring 

debtors' prisons in late February and the following month 

finished the first of three detailed reports presented to 

parliament. In the reports various abuses in the prisons were 

profiled, including torturing, overcrowding, and widespread 

disease. The reports particularly attacked Thomas Bambridge, 

the warden of Fleet Prison, where Castell had died. He urged 

for reform of the prisons, mainly through prosecution of those 

in charge of them. Most of the blame was laid on the individual 

prison wardens, rather than the system as a whole. While 

these reports attracted much attention, there was little real 

change. The investigation ended on 14 May.  

In the aftermath (the final report was presented on 8 May 

1730), Oglethorpe and the committee were praised by 

prominent Britons such as Alexander Pope, James Thomson, 

Samuel Wesley, and William Hogarth. Pitofsky writes that there 

was seemingly a "great deal of popular support for the 

committee". However, Conservative members of the House of 

Commons attempted to prevent much change through deriding 

members of the committee as "amateurs and zealots" and 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

545 

preventing the wardens from being jailed. On 3 April 1730, a 

bill drafted by Oglethorpe was presented to the House; it would 

have removed Bambridge from his position. It was adopted in a 

revised form six weeks later by both Houses. However, 

recommendations for a bill to better oversee Fleet Prison were 

discarded.  

In the Trial of William Acton for murdering four debtors, Acton 

was acquitted. Oglethorpe felt that the proceedings had been 

manipulated. Bambridge was acquitted of charges as well. 

Oglethorpe denounced both acquittals.  

Shortly afterwards, Oglethorpe disbanded the committee. He 

led another committee of the same nature in 1754. British 

authors such as Samuel Wesley and James Thomson wrote 

about the committees work.  

Oglethorpe, a committed advocate against alcohol, proposed a 

tax on malt in the same session the Gaols Committee was 

authorized. He argued against a royal grant 115,000 pounds to 

cover arrearages, considering it extravagant.  

Oglethorpe also initially opposed Britain being involved in 

making peace in Europe, but by 1730 had begun advocating 

military preparedness. Oglethorpe served on a committee 

investigating the Charitable Corporation after its 1731 

collapse. In the 1732 Parliamentary session, he staunchly 

opposed the administration's policy of disarmament and 

continued to emphasize the need for preparedness. Although 

Oglethorpe held his seat until 1754, after he left for Georgia he 

was rarely involved in parliamentary affairs, and after Walpole 

lost his power in 1742 he was forced into "the sad refuse of all 

the last oppositions" and lost most of his remaining influence.  
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Establishment of Georgia 

While working on the Gaols Committee, Oglethorpe met and 

became close to John Perceval (who later became the first Earl 

of Egmont). After leaving the committee, Oglethorpe considered 

sending around a hundred unemployed people from London to 

America. In 1730, Oglethorpe shared a plan to establish a new 

American colony with Perceval. The colony would be a place to 

send "the unemployed and the unemployable", and he 

anticipated broad societal support. He was soon granted 5,000 

pounds for the colony by the trustees of the estate of a man 

named King. Oglethorpe began looking for other sources of 

funding and met Thomas Bray, a reverend and philanthropist. 

Bray, in failing health by 1730, had founded the Bray 

Associates to continue his humanitarian work.  

Perceval was a trustee of the associates, and Oglethorpe was 

made a trustee in February 1730, the same month that Bray 

died. Although initially there was no set location for the 

colony, Oglethorpe settled on America on 1 April. It soon 

became clear that a colony south of the Savannah River would 

be supported by the House of Commons, as it could provide a 

'buffer' between the prosperous Carolinas and Spanish Florida, 

and Oglethorpe picked the region on 26 June. People sent to 

the colony would serve as both soldiers and farmers, making 

the colony "South Carolina's first line of defence". In July, they 

started campaigns to raise money through subscription and 

grants.  

The Bray Associates determined to put "all available funds" 

towards the colony on 1 July, and they presented a charter to 

the Privy Council of the United Kingdom on 17 September. On 
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12 November 1730, the Bray Associates announced a plan to 

increase support for their proposed colony through a 

promotional campaign, which mainly consisted of producing 

promotional literature. Baine writes that beginning in 1730, 

Oglethorpe "directed the promotional campaign and wrote, or 

edited, almost all of the promotional literature until he sailed 

for Georgia". The first written work about the proposal was by 

Oglethorpe and titled Some accounts of the design of the 

trustees for establishing colonys in America. Though it was 

finished in spring 1731 and never published, Benjamin Martyn 

drew on it when writing his 1732 book Some Account of the 

Designs of the Trustees for Establishing the Colony of Georgia in 

America.  

Oglethorpe arranged for Martyn's work to be widely read; in 

addition to being independently published, it appeared in The 

London Journal, the Country Journal, the Gentlemen's 

Magazine, and the South Carolina Gazette. Various notices 

seeking donations and people willing to emigrate to the colony 

were published in other English newspapers. In November 

1732, Oglethorpe had Select Tracts Relating to Colonies 

published. In 1733, Reasons for Establishing the Colony of 

Georgia in America, written by Martyn, and A New and Accurate 

Account of the Provinces of South-Carolina and Georgia, by 

Oglethorpe, were published. Oglethorpe is thought to have paid 

for the publication of Select Tracts and A New and Accurate 

Account. In 1732, Oglethrope advocated for extending Thomas 

Lombe's patent on a silk engine.  

In June 1732, Oglethorpe, Perceval, Martyn, and a group of 

other prominent Britons (collectively known as the Trustees for 

the Establishment of the Colony of Georgia in America) 
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petitioned for and were eventually granted a royal charter to 

establish the colony of Georgia between the Savannah River 

and the Altamaha River on 9 June 1732. The following month 

they selected the first group to send to the colony from wide-

ranging applications.  

Oglethorpe's mother had died on 19 June, and he decided to 

join the group and travel to Georgia. He was formally placed in 

charge of publicizing the Georgia colony on 3 August. That 

summer, a letter written by Ayuba Suleiman Diallo, an 

enslaved merchant, reached Oglethorpe. He purchased and 

freed Diallo. Oglethorpe, who had been made a director or 

assistant of the Royal African Company in January 1731 and 

elected a deputy governor in 1732, sold his stock and resigned 

after the 'Diallo incident' and shortly before leaving for 

Georgia. Oglethorpe set sail from Gravesend for Georgia with 

114 others on the Anne on 15 or 17 November 1732.  

In Georgia 

The Anne reached Charleston, South Carolina, on 13 January 

1733. When they arrived in Georgia 1 February 1733, Spalding 

notes that Oglethorpe chose to settle "as far from the Spanish 

as he geographically could". As Spain disliked their presence in 

the region, Oglethorpe was careful to maintain good relations 

with the Native Americans who lived in the region. Left for 

England and expanded Georgia further south when he 

returned. When Oglethorpe returned to England in 1737 he 

was confronted by an angry British and Spanish government. 

That year, Oglethorpe granted land to 40 Jewish settlers 

against the orders of the Georgia trustees.  
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On 4 December 1731, Oglethorpe entered into a partnership 

with Jean-Pierre Pury to settle land in South Carolina. He 

gained a 1/4 stake in a 3,000-acre plot of land. His holdings, 

termed the 'Oglethorpe Barony' were located at the 

'Palachocolas', a crossing of the Savannah River in Granville 

County. He may have held the tract, around 2,060 acres, for 

the trustees. From 1732 to 1738, Oglethorpe was the de facto 

leader of Georgia and dominated both the military and the civil 

aspects of the country. From 1738 to 1743 he commanded a 

British regiment and was also involved in civil affairs before 

returning to England. While he was involved with the colony, 

Oglethorpe was the most prominent trustee and the only one to 

actually live in the colony. He was also involved in mapping the 

colony. Oglethorpe founded the still-active Solomon's Masonic 

Lodge in 1734.  

Early influence 

Oglethorpe and the trustees formulated a contractual, multi-

tiered plan for the settlement of Georgia (see the Oglethorpe 

Plan). The plan envisioned a system of "agrarian equality", 

designed to support and perpetuate an economy based on 

family farming, and prevent social disintegration associated 

with unregulated urbanisation. Land ownership was limited to 

fifty acres, a grant that included a town lot, a garden plot near 

town, and a forty-five-acre farm. Self-supporting colonists were 

able to obtain larger grants, but such grants were structured 

in fifty-acre increments tied to the number of indentured 

servants supported by the grantee. Servants would receive a 

land grant of their own upon completing their term of service. 

No-one was permitted to acquire additional land through 

purchase or inheritance.  
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Despite arriving in Georgia with relatively limited power, 

Oglethorpe soon became the main authority in the colony. 

Lannen writes that he "became everything to everyone". He 

negotiated with the Yamacraw Indians—becoming the colony's 

ambassador to native tribes—commanded the militia, directed 

the building of Savannah and otherwise generally supervised 

the colony. In early 1733, "every matter of importance was 

brought first to Oglethorpe". He lived in a tent separated from 

the rest of the colonists; some of them called him "father". 

Oghethorpe paid for the construction of a 'first fort' to protect 

Savannah, but it was not completed. He invited talented 

foreigners to immigrate to the colony. In June 1733, 

Oglethorpe traveled to Charleston. In his absence, the citizens 

of Savannah had a disagreement over the authority of the man 

left in charge. They waited for Oglethorpe to return and resolve 

it. It was not until July that a separate court was established, 

but Oglethorpe continued to hold much civil power.  

When Oglethorpe arrived in Georgia, Native Americans were 

well into the process of integration with the Europeans. He saw 

Native Americans as participants in the new economy 

Europeans brought to America. Weaver notes that he was 

known for "fair dealing with the Indians". He negotiated with 

Tomochichi, chief of the Yamacraw tribe for land to build 

Savannah on. Tomochichi became Oglethope's "strongest ally 

in the New World."  

As there were rumors a war with France might break out in 

early 1734, Oglethorpe traveled to Charleston, arriving on 2 

March. While there he discussed Indian affairs and, after 

conferencing with the leadership of the Carolinas, decided to 

raise a company to build "a fort among the Upper Creek" that 
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would counter French influence in the area and serve as a safe 

house for traders should a war break out between native 

tribes. Oglethorpe commissioned Patrick Mackay a captain and 

delegated the task to him. On 7 May Oglethorpe departed for 

Britain aboard HMS Aldborough, taking with him a delegation 

of Creek Indians, including Tomichichi, who was invited by the 

Georgia trustees to be present during the formal ratification of 

Oglethorpe's treaty with the Yamcraw.  

The delegation arrived on 16 June, and met George II and his 

family at Kensington Palace. Oglethorpe was widely acclaimed 

in London, although his expansionism was not welcomed in all 

quarters. The Duke of Newcastle, who directed British foreign 

policy, had tried to restrain James Oglethorpe's efforts in the 

colony for fear of offending the Spanish, whom Newcastle 

wished unsuccessfully to court as an ally. Newcastle eventually 

relented, and became a supporter of the colony, admitting "it 

will now be pretty difficult to give up Georgia". The colony's 

existence was one of several disputes which worsened Anglo-

Spanish relations in the late 1730s. When Tomochichi returned 

to England, he said that parting with Oglethorpe was "like the 

day of death". In March 1735 the trustees requested 51,800 

pounds from parliament, upon the urging of Othelthorpe, in 

part to construct forts along the Altamaha River. 26,000 

pounds were eventually budgeted and the trustees approved 

construction of two forts on the river.  

Oglethorpe's return to England reinvigorated interest in 

meetings of Georgia's trustees. At his urging the trustees 

banned the sale of rum, slavery, and regulated negotiations 

with Native Americans. He was placed in charge of granting 

licenses to trade with Native Americans, a power that he used 
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often, only granting the right to Georgians and causing 

Carolinian resentment. When Oglethorpe returned to England 

in 1734, he had left an authority vacuum behind. There was 

disagreement between the civil and military authorities while 

he was away; a reported insurrection played a role in his 

decision to return. In December 1735 he left for Georgia with 

257 further immigrants to the colony, arriving in February 

1736.  

For the nine months that he remained in the colony, 

Oglethorpe was mainly at Frederica, a town he laid out to 

function as a bulwark against Spanish interference, where he 

again held the most authority. He drilled soldiers and oversaw 

the construction of a fort. In May he traveled to Savannah and 

heard 300–400 complaints, serving as "supreme civil 

authority". Increasingly, however, Oglethorpe focused on 

Georgia's southern border and military matters. He remained 

confident in the belief that he was "best suited to govern". 

Oglethorpe also held a conference with the Natives as 

commissioner for Indian Affairs in 1736. Complaints about 

Oglethorpe's actions came from Spain, Carolina, the trustees, 

and discontented citizens. Oglethorpe left the colony in 

November to request a military regiment, leaving behind 

another power vacuum. Discontent increased, which 

Oglethorpe considered a symptom of his absence. In England, 

he convinced the trustees of his "impeccable conduct" and was 

thanked for his service.  

War of Jenkins' Ear 

When Oglethorpe left England the first time, Robert Walpole 

had ordered him to avoid intentional conflict with Spain. 
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However, given the intended function of Georgia as a 'buffer', 

Oglethorpe considered conflict with Spain to be inevitable. 

When Oglethorpe returned to lobby for military aid in 1737, he 

began by requesting a grant of 30,000 pounds from parliament 

in January. He also requested unsuccessfully to be allowed to 

raise a militia, but was granted 20,000 pounds and made 

General of the Forces of South Carolina and Georgia. He was 

offered, but declined governorship of South Carolina. In 1737 

Thomas Pelham-Holles granted him permission to raise the 

forty-second regiment for defense of Georgia's border with 

Spanish Florida.  

He was promoted to the rank of colonel on 10 September 1737. 

The following year, 246 soldiers of the 25th Regiment of Foot 

were incorporated into the regiment. After three further 

companies were recruited in England, the regiment was 

stationed at Fort Frederica. A Spanish invasion of the colony 

was planned in March 1738, but cancelled. In response to 

Oglethorpe gaining formal control of a regiment, other 

trustees—mainly Edward Vernon—became more vocal in 

insisting that Oglethorpe stay out of the colony's civil affairs. 

They also accused him of being an opportunist by starting to 

vote with Robert Walpole and felt Oglethorpe did not 

adequately keep the trustees informed of affairs in the 

colonies. Before allowing Oglethorpe to return to Georgia, they 

had "laboured to abridge his power". In October or September 

1738 he returned to Frederica and soon had re-assumed his 

role as de facto leader of the colony.  

Oglethorpe began to prepare for a war after as early as 1738, 

raising additional troops and rented or purchased several 

boats after the Royal Navy refused to station a ship there. 
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Oglethorpe spent his whole fortune, £103,395, on building up 

Georgia's defenses. He allowed a pirate to attack Spanish 

shipping and worked to secure the support of the Native 

Americans in the area by meeting with them. He soon became 

very sick, and remained in poor health for the duration of the 

campaign. While Oglethorpe was preparing for war, he also 

worked to combine civil and military authority. He increasingly 

ignored the wishes of the other trustees, for instance not 

passing on a change in the land policy when he felt that the 

colonists would object to it. The War of Jenkins' Ear broke out 

in 1739.  

After receiving a letter from King George II on 7 September 

1739, Oglethorpe began encouraging the Creek Indians to 

attack Spanish Florida. A mutiny by troops from Europe was 

quickly quelled. In response to a Spanish attack in November, 

he led 200 men in a raid on Florida, on 1 December. They 

penetrated as far as Fort Picolata, but retreated when it 

became clear they had insufficient firepower to take the fort. 

The troops were then ordered to attack the Castillo de San 

Marcos with support from Virginia and South Carolina. After 

Oglethorpe sent William Bull a list of the supplies he needed 

on 29 December, he launched an invasion on 1 January 1740, 

again with 200 men. They captured Fort Picolata and Fort San 

Francisco de Pupo, burning the former and claiming the latter 

for Georgia. After leaving some troops at de Pupa, Oglethorpe 

returned to Georgia on 11 January.  

After South Carolina was slow in providing aid, Oglethorpe 

traveled to Charleston, and arrived on 23 March, where he 

spoke with the Commons House of Assembly. They eventually 

agreed to provide 300 of Oglethorpe's requested 800 men. The 
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assembly also agreed to send provisions to keep the Native 

Americans on their side. Twenty South Carolinians arrived by 

23 April and another hundred by 9 May. After receiving these 

men, Oglethorpe attacked Fort St. Diego on 10 May and had 

captured it by 12 May. On 18 May, the commander of South 

Carolina's regiment arrived and by the end of the month there 

were 376 members present. Its size peaked at 512 members, 47 

volunteers, and 54 men who were to remain on the schooner 

Pearl. The colony also sent artillery and ships, leading 

Oglethorpe to conclude that South Carolina had given "all the 

assistance they could".  

Oglethorpe was also aided by some Native Americans. He 

struggled with a lack of equipment and skill needed to take a 

besieged city; there were no engineers, draft horses, or 

gunners. Upon his request, several other colonies sent 

supplies, notably Rhode Island and Virginia. The Royal Navy 

provided a poor blockade of St. Augustine, fully beginning only 

on 31 May. As early as April, St. Augustine had begun 

preparing for a siege, and throughout May and June 

Oglethorpe planned how he would take the city. He initially 

planned for a siege and an assault, but this quickly proved 

impractical given his lack of supplies. Next, Oglethorpe 

instituted a blockade that was designed to starve the 

inhabitants of the city into surrender; this was accomplished 

with the Royal Navy and soldiers on the land. Fort San 

Francisco de Pupo was used to block supplies entering through 

the St. John's River.  

On 15 June, the main contingent of soldiers were resoundingly 

defeated by an attack by the Spanish and Yamasee Indians. 

Later that month, a flotilla aimed at reinforcing the city 
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slipped through the blockade. As the navy was going to leave 

upon the start of the hurricane season on 5 July, Oglethorpe 

then planned to launch a combined assault, from the land and 

water. After delays, the plan was abandoned on 2 July when 

the navy announced an intent to leave on 4 July. He briefly 

considered holding the siege with 200 seamen and a sloop, but 

decided the idea was impractical. Finally, Oglethorpe was 

forced to abandon the siege. He commanded the rear guard 

during the retreat. The trustees presented a 1741 plan to 

divide Georgia into two sections, but Oglethorpe refused to 

work with them.  

Spain launched a counter-invasion of Georgia in 1742. 

Oglethorpe led his force in a defeat of Spain, decisively winning 

the Battle of Bloody Marsh. On 25 February 1742 he was made 

a brigadier general. He led another unsuccessful attack on St. 

Augustine in 1743. That year, William Stephens was named the 

president of Georgia. The appointment was a product of the 

trustees' frustration with Oglethorpe's lack of co-operation. He 

continued to hold practical control over Frederica and let 

Stephens control Savannah. Stephens' government began to 

not always defer to Oglethorpe's wishes, as did local officials. 

In response, Oglethorpe made another bid to hold his power, 

feeling Georgia functioned best "when there other but himself 

to direct and determine all controversies."  

The ODNB considers that Oglethorpe's "military contribution 

was of the very highest order and significance". While the loss 

of the Siege of Augustine was attributed by some to 

Oglethorpe, Baine concludes that "Oglethorpe certainly made 

mistakes of generalship, but he was not the principal cause of 

its failure." The war ended in November 1748 and the 42nd 
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Regiment of Foot was removed from Georgia. By 1749, the 

Trustees had lost most of their interest in Georgia, and they 

gave up its charter three years later.  

Slavery 

In what was known as the Georgia Experiment, Georgia 

initially banned black slavery in the colony. Oglethorpe 

opposed slavery because he felt that it prevented Georgia from 

serving as an effective buffer, because he felt slaves would 

work with the Spanish to gain their freedom.  

Further, Georgia was not intended to develop a thriving 

economy like the Carolina's, and thus didn't need to use 

slaves.  

The colony's economy was intended to be based on silk and 

wine, which made large-scale slavery unnecessary. He also felt 

that slavery would have a negative effect on "the manners and 

morality of Georgia's white inhabitants". After the urging of 

Oglethorpe and other trustees, slavery was banned by the 

House of Commons in 1735.  

Oglethorpe was heavily criticized by many for supporting the 

ban in the late 1730s, and after his return to England the 

trustees requested that the ban be ended in 1750.  

It has been suggested, first by William Stephens in his diary, 

that Oglethorpe held slaves on his land in South Carolina 

while slavery was banned in Georgia, but Wilkins writes that 

the veracity of the claim is "uncertain"—there is no direct 

evidence supporting it—and he concludes that "the probability 

appears low that [...] Oglethorpe owned slaves."   
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Return to England 

Oglethorpe returned to England on 28 September 1743, after 

the last attack on St. Augustine failed. He continued to be 

somewhat involved in the colony's affairs, attempting to stop a 

distinction being established between holding civil and military 

power, but he never returned to Georgia and generally was 

uninterested in the activities of the trustees. Oglethorpe was 

subject to a court-martial, where it was alleged he misused 

funds. He was acquitted after two days. Oglethorpe married 

Elizabeth Wright on 15 September 1744.  

Oglethorpe fought in the British Army during the Jacobite 

rising of 1745. By then a major-general, he took command of 

troops that were mustering in York, England, about 600 men. 

Scots invading under Charles Edward Stuart penetrated into 

England. Oglethorpe was tasked with intercepting retreating 

Scots before they reached Preston, Lancashire in December 

1945. On the 17th, he was initially ordered to engage with the 

rear of the Scots, led by George Murray, at Shap. The orders 

were amended to trap the Scots in town early the next morning 

upon Oglethorpe's intelligence, but the Scots left as the orders 

were changed. The following day, Oglethorpe travelled to 

Clifton in Westmorland and took a bridge from the Scots before 

the Clifton Moor Skirmish that evening. At the skirmish, the 

British were defeated. Because Oglethorpe had allowed Scots to 

escape from Shap, he was blamed with the defeat, accused of 

disobeying orders, and potentially being a Jacobite. The 

following year, Oglethorpe was court martialled for his actions. 

After a lengthy defense, he was acquitted by a panel of twelve 

high-ranking military officials, led by Thomas Wentworth. On 
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19 September 1747, Oglethorpe was promoted to lieutenant 

general. However, the Duke of Cumberland, who had been in 

command at Clifton Moor, 'blacklisted' Oglethorpe from holding 

command.  

He then worked on various reform efforts, with little success, 

until Oglethorpe and Philip Russell lost their parliamentary 

seats to James More Molyneux and Philip Carteret Webb in 

1754. Oglethorpe's loss has been attributed to his moving to 

Essex and supporting the Jewish Naturalisation Act, but Baine 

considers that the election was "rigged against him". Webb and 

Molyneux gained control of the constituency's steward, bailiff, 

and constable. They allowed more voters to be admitted than 

were qualified, in a process known as faggot voting. Around 

fifty more people voted in the 1754 election than had the 

previous cycle, in stark contrast to voter numbers that had 

remained essentially the same since Oglethorpe was elected. 

While Oglethorpe and Burrell protested to parliament, the 

election results were upheld.  

Retirement and death 

Little is known about Oglethorpe's later life. He served on the 

committee of the Hospital for the Maintenance and Education 

of exposed and deserted young Children and was a member of 

the Committee to encourage British fisheries. After retirement, 

he became friends with various literary figures in London, 

including Samuel Johnson, James Boswell, Hannah More and 

Oliver Goldsmith. Oglethorpe and Boswell became particularly 

close. Boswell and Johnson offered to write a biography of 

Oglethorpe, and Boswell began to collect materials, but no 

such volume was ever published.  
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From 1755 to 1761 Oglethorpe was out of England. Very little 

is known about what he did over these six years; they are 

referred to as his "missing years". On 22 September, he had 

unsuccessfully petitioned George III to reactivate his Georgia 

regiment, and by 9 December Oglethorpe had left England and 

arrived in Rotterdam. There he requested a position in the 

military of Prussia from his friend James Francis Edward 

Keith, whom Oglethorpe had fought with in the 1710s. There 

are no records of what happened to Oglethorpe in the five years 

after he wrote a letter to Keith on 3 May 1756. Boswell wrote 

that he "went abroad in 1756 to his freind [sic] Keith [...] 

fought in the army" and "was with Keith when killed". Baine 

concludes that Oglethorpe took the pseudonym 'John Tebay' 

and likely joined the Prussian army in mid to late 1756. He 

was likely with Keith and Frederick the Great during the 

campaigns of the Seven Years' War. He probably left the army 

to visit family over part of the winter. In early 1758 Oglethorpe 

was almost discovered by Joseph Yorke, an Englishman. He 

was wounded at a battle on 14 October. Keith reportedly fell 

into Oglethorpe's arms when he was killed at the Battle of 

Hochkirch. He left the army in March 1759 and had returned 

to England by October 1761.  

In May 1768, during the French conquest of Corsica, 

Oglethorpe pseudonymously published three essays in support 

of Corsican independence. He advocated strongly in favor of 

their independence, along with Boswell.  

As colonists in America became increasingly vocal about 

perceived injustices, Oglethorpe did not publicly speak out, 

though he privately sympathized with them. From June 1777 to 

April 1778 Oglethorpe and Granville Sharp unsuccessfully 
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attempted to convince the British leadership to end the war 

and give the colonists rights as full Englishmen. There was a 

claim that Oglethorpe was offered refusal to command the 

British Army in the American Revolutionary War, a claim that 

Spalding notes scholars have been "unable to discover a shred 

of truth" to. In June 1785, Oglethorpe met John Adams twice 

in London.  

Oglethorpe died on 1 July 1785, at an estate in Cranham in 

Essex, to the east of London. He was 88. The cause of death is 

unknown, though it is thought to have been a disease like 

influenza that worsened into pneumonia.  

Legacy and memorials 

Oglethorpe County and Oglethorpe University in Atlanta, as 

well as the town of Oglethorpe, Georgia, are all named in his 

honour. Also, The James Oglethorpe Primary School in 

Cranham is named after him.  

In 1986 the corps of cadets at the University of North Georgia 

in Dahlonega, Georgia officially adopted the name of the unit 

as the "Boar's Head Brigade". The name came from the boar's 

head on the department crest approved by the U.S. Army 

adjutant general on 11 August 1937. The boar's head was a 

part of the family crest of James Oglethorpe, and is a symbol of 

fighting spirit and hospitality so deeply a part of Georgia's 

heritage and the spirit of the corps of cadets at the University 

of North Georgia.  

All Saints' Church in Cranham, where Oglethorpe was buried, 

was rebuilt c.  1871. However, the new church stands on the 
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same foundations as the old one, and Oglethorpe's poetic 

marble memorial is on the south wall of the chancel, as before. 

In the 1930s, the president of Oglethorpe University Thornwell 

Jacobs excavated the Oglethorpe family vault in the centre of 

the chancel at All Saints', although permission to translate the 

General's relics to a purpose-built shrine at Oglethorpe 

University (Atlanta) had been refused by the archdeacon.  

The James Oglethorpe Monument in Chippewa Square, 

Savannah, Georgia, created by sculptor Daniel Chester French 

and architect Henry Bacon, was unveiled in 1910. Oglethorpe 

faces south, toward Georgia's one-time enemy in Spanish 

Florida, and his sword is drawn. Another of Savannah's 

squares, Oglethorpe Square, is named for him.  

Oglethorpian anniversaries have since led to the donation of 

the altar rail at All Saints' by a ladies charity in Georgia. In 

1996, then Georgia Governor Zell Miller attended Oglethorpe 

tercentenary festivities in Godalming and at Corpus Christi 

College, Oxford.  

Corpus Christi College holds two portraits of Oglethorpe, a 

drawing of the general as an old man, which hangs in the 

Senior Common Room, and a portrait in oils, which hangs in 

the Breakfast Room.  

  



Chapter 21 

John Peter Zenger 

John Peter Zenger (October 26, 1697 – July 28, 1746) was a 

German printer and journalist in New York City. Zenger 

printed The New York Weekly Journal. He was accused of libel 

in 1734 by William Cosby, the royal governor of New York, but 

the jury acquitted Zenger, who became a symbol for freedom of 

the press.  

In 1733, Zenger began printing The New York Weekly Journal, 

which voiced opinions critical of the colonial governor, William 

Cosby. On November 17, 1734, on Cosby's orders, the sheriff 

arrested Zenger. After a grand jury refused to indict him, the 

Attorney General Richard Bradley charged him with libel in 

August 1735.  

Zenger's lawyers, Andrew Hamilton and William Smith, Sr., 

successfully argued that truth is a defense against charges of 

libel.  

Early life 

Peter Zenger was born in 1697, a son of Nicolaus Eberhard 

Zenger and his wife Johanna. His father was a school teacher 

in Impflingen in 1701. The Zenger family had other children 

baptised in Rumbach in 1697 and in 1703 and in 

Waldfischbach in 1706. The Zenger family immigrated to New 

York in 1710 as part of a large group of German Palatines, and 

Nicolaus Zenger was one of those who died before settlement. 

The governor of New York had agreed to provide 
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apprenticeships for all the children of immigrants from the 

Palatinate, and John Peter was bound for eight years as an 

apprentice to William Bradford, the first printer in New York. 

By 1720, he was taking on printing work in Maryland, though 

he returned to New York permanently by 1722. After a brief 

partnership with Bradford in 1725, Zenger set up as a 

commercial printer on Smith Street in Manhattan.  

On 28 May 1719, Zenger married Mary White in the First 

Presbyterian Church, Philadelphia. On 24 August 1722, 

widower Zenger married Anna Catharina Maul in the Collegiate 

Church, Manhattan. He was the father of many children by his 

second wife, six of whom survived.   

Libel case 

In 1733, Zenger printed copies of newspapers in New York to 

voice his disagreement with the actions of the newly appointed 

colonial governor William Cosby. On his arrival in New York 

City, Cosby had plunged into a rancorous quarrel with the 

council of the colony over his salary. Unable to control the 

colony's supreme court, he removed Chief Justice Lewis 

Morris, replacing him with James DeLancey of the Royal Party. 

Supported by members of the Popular Party, Zenger's New-York 

Weekly Journal continued to publish articles critical of the 

royal governor. Finally, Cosby issued a proclamation 

condemning the newspaper's "divers scandalous, virulent, false 

and seditious reflections."  

Zenger was charged with libel. James Alexander was Zenger's 

first counsel, but the court found him in contempt and 

removed him from the case. After more than eight months in 
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prison, Zenger went to trial, defended by the Philadelphia 

lawyer Andrew Hamilton and the New York lawyer William 

Smith, Sr. The case was now a cause célèbre, with public 

interest at fever-pitch. Rebuffed repeatedly by chief justice 

James DeLancey during the trial, Hamilton decided to plead 

his client's case directly to the jury. After the lawyers for both 

sides finished their arguments, the jury retired, only to return 

in ten minutes with a verdict of not guilty.  

In defending Zenger in this landmark case, Hamilton and 

Smith attempted to establish the precedent that a statement, 

even if defamatory, is not libelous if it can be proved, thus 

affirming freedom of the press in America; however, succeeding 

royal governors clamped down on freedom of the press until 

the American Revolution. This case is the groundwork of 

freedom of the press, not its legal precedent. As late as 1804, 

the journalist Harry Croswell lost a series of prosecutions and 

appeals because truth was not a defense against libel, as 

decided by the New York Supreme Court in People v. Croswell. 

It was only the following year that the assembly, reacting to 

this verdict, passed a law that allowed truth as a defense 

against a charge of libel.  

"Cato" article 

In the February 25, 1733 issue of The New York Weekly Journal 

is an opinion piece written under the pseudonym "Cato." This 

was a pen-name used by British writers John Trenchard and 

Thomas Gordon, whose essays were published as Cato's Letters 

(1723). Jeffery A. Smith writes that "Cato" was "The leading 

luminary of the 18th century libertarian press 

theory...Editions of Cato's Letters were published and 
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republished for decades in Britain and were immensely popular 

in America." This article gave its readers a preview of the same 

argument attorneys Hamilton and Smith presented 18 months 

later in the government's libel case against Zenger — that 

truth is an absolute defense against libel. The words are 

reprinted from Cato's essay "Reflections Upon Libelling":  

A libel is not less the libel for being true...But this doctrine 

only holds true as to private and personal failings; and it is 

quite otherwise when the crimes of men come to affect the 

publick…Machiavel says, Calumny is pernicious, but 

accusation beneficial, to a state; and he shews instances where 

states have suffered or perished for not having, or for 

neglecting, the power to accuse great men who were criminals, 

or thought to be so…surely it cannot be more pernicious to 

calumniate even good men, than not to be able to accuse ill 

ones. 

Death 

Zenger died in New York on July 28, 1746, with his wife 

continuing his printing business.  

Legacy and honors 

During World War II, the Liberty ship SS Peter Zenger was 

named in his honor.  

  



Chapter 22 

Stono Rebellion 

The Stono Rebellion (also known as Cato's Conspiracy or 

Cato's Rebellion) was a slave revolt that began on 9 

September 1739, in the colony of South Carolina. It was the 

largest slave rebellion in the Southern Colonies, with 25 

colonists and 35 to 50 Africans killed. The uprising was led by 

native Africans who were likely from the Central African 

Kingdom of Kongo, as some of the rebels spoke Portuguese.  

The leader of the rebellion, Jemmy, was a literate slave. In 

some reports, however, he is referred to as "Cato", and likely 

was held by the Cato, or Cater, family who lived near the 

Ashley River and north of the Stono River. He led 20 other 

enslaved Kongolese, who may have been former soldiers, in an 

armed march south from the Stono River (for which the 

rebellion is named). They were bound for Spanish Florida. This 

was due to successive proclamations issued by the governors of 

Spanish Florida, who promised freedom for fugitive slaves 

escaping enslavement in the Thirteen Colonies.  

Jemmy and his group recruited nearly 60 other slaves and 

killed more than 20 whites before being intercepted and 

defeated by the South Carolina militia near the Edisto River. A 

group of slaves escaped and traveled another 30 miles (50 km) 

before battling a week later with the militia. Most of the 

captured slaves were executed; the surviving few were sold to 

markets in the West Indies. In response to the rebellion, the 

South Carolina legislature passed the Negro Act of 1740, which 

restricted slave assembly, education, and movement. It also 
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enacted a 10-year moratorium against importing African 

slaves, because they were considered more rebellious, and 

established penalties against slaveholders' harsh treatment of 

slaves. It required legislative approval for each act of 

manumission, which slaveholders had previously been able to 

arrange privately. This sharply reduced the rate of 

manumissions in the state.  

Causes 

Local factors 

Since 1708, the majority of the population of the South 

Carolina colony were enslaved Africans, as importation of 

laborers from Africa had increased in recent decades with labor 

demand for the expansion of cotton and rice cultivation as 

commodity export crops. Historian Ira Berlin has called this 

the Plantation Generation, noting that South Carolina had 

become a "slave society," with slavery central to its economy. 

As planters had imported many slaves to satisfy the increased 

demand for labor, most slaves were Black Africans. Many in 

South Carolina were from the Kingdom of Kongo, which had 

converted to Catholicism in the 15th century. Numerous slaves 

had first been sold into slavery in the West Indies, where they 

were considered to become "seasoned" by working there under 

slavery, before being sold to South Carolina.  

With the increase in slaves, colonists tried to regulate their 

relations, but there was always negotiation in this process. 

Slaves resisted by running away, work slowdowns, and revolts. 

At the time, Georgia was still an all-white colony, without 
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slavery. South Carolina worked with Georgia to strengthen 

patrols on land and in coastal areas to prevent fugitives from 

reaching Spanish Florida. In the Stono case, the slaves may 

have been inspired by several factors to mount their rebellion. 

Spanish Florida offered freedom to fugitive slaves from the 

Southern Colonies; succesive governors in the colony had 

issued proclamations offering freedom for fugitive slaves in 

Florida in exchange for converting to Catholicism and serving 

for a period in the colonial militia. As a line of defense for 

Spanish Florida's largest settlement of St. Augustine, the 

settlement of Fort Mose was established by the colonial 

government to house fugitive slaves which had reached the 

colony. Stono was 150 miles (240 km) from the Florida line.  

A malaria epidemic had recently killed many whites in 

Charleston, weakening the power of slaveholders. Lastly, 

historians have suggested the slaves organized their revolt to 

take place on Sunday, when planters would be occupied in 

church and might be unarmed. The Security Act of 1739 (which 

required all white males to carry arms even to church on 

Sundays) had been passed in August of that year in response 

to earlier runaways and minor rebellions, but it had not fully 

taken effect. Local officials were authorized to mount penalties 

against white men who did not carry arms after 29 September.  

African background 

Jemmy, the leader of the revolt, was a literate slave described 

in an eyewitness account as "Angolan". Historian John K. 

Thornton has noted that, because of patterns of trade, he was 

more likely from the Kingdom of Kongo in west Central Africa, 

which had long had relations with Portuguese traders. His 
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cohort of 20 slaves were also called "Angolan", and likely also 

Kongolese. The slaves were described as Catholic, and some 

spoke Portuguese, learned from the traders operating in the 

Kongo Empire at the time. The patterns of trade and the fact 

that the Kongo was a Catholic nation point to their origin 

there. The leaders of the Kingdom of Kongo had voluntarily 

converted to Catholicism in 1491, followed by their people; by 

the 18th century, the religion was a fundamental part of its 

citizens' identity. The nation had independent relations with 

Rome. The region had slavery prior to the introduction of 

Christianity to the royal court of Kongo, and it was regulated 

by the Kingdom. Slavery was still practiced as late as the 

1870s.  

Portuguese was the language of trade as well as one of the 

languages of educated people in Kongo. The Portuguese-

speaking slaves in South Carolina were more likely to have 

learned about offers of freedom by Spanish agents. They would 

also have been attracted to the Catholicism of Spanish Florida. 

In the early 18th century, Kongo had been undergoing civil 

wars, leading to more people being captured and sold into 

slavery, including trained soldiers. It is likely that Jemmy and 

his rebel cohort were such military men, as they fought hard 

against the militia when they were caught, and were able to 

kill 20 men.  

Events of the revolt 

On Sunday, 9 September 1739, Jemmy gathered 22 enslaved 

Africans near the Stono River, 20 miles (30 km) southwest of 

Charleston. Mark M. Smith argues that taking action on the 

day after the Feast of the Nativity of Mary connected their 
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Catholic past with present purpose, as did the religious 

symbols they used. The Africans marched down the roadway 

with a banner that read "Liberty!", and chanted the same word 

in unison. They attacked Hutchenson's store at the Stono River 

Bridge, killing two storekeepers and seizing weapons and 

ammunition.  

Raising a flag, the slaves proceeded south toward Spanish 

Florida, a well-known refuge for escapees. On the way, they 

gathered more recruits, sometimes reluctant ones, for a total of 

81. They burned six plantations and killed 23 to 28 whites 

along the way. While on horseback, South Carolina's 

Lieutenant Governor William Bull and five of his friends came 

across the group; they quickly went off to warn other 

slaveholders. Rallying a militia of planters and minor 

slaveholders, the colonists traveled to confront Jemmy and his 

followers.  

The next day, the well-armed and mounted militia, numbering 

19–99 men, caught up with the group of 76 slaves at the Edisto 

River. In the ensuing confrontation, 23 whites and 47 slaves 

were killed. While the slaves lost, they killed proportionately 

more whites than was the case in later rebellions. The 

colonists mounted the severed heads of the rebels on stakes 

along major roadways to serve as warning for other slaves who 

might consider revolt. The lieutenant governor hired Chickasaw 

and Catawba Indians and other slaves to track down and 

capture the Africans who had escaped from the battle. A group 

of the slaves who escaped fought a pitched battle with a militia 

a week later approximately 30 miles (50 km) from the site of 

the first conflict. The colonists executed most of the rebellious 

slaves; they sold other slaves off to the markets of the West 
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Indies. This excerpt is from George Cato who said this was 

passed down in his family.  

"I reckon it was hot, 'cause in less than two days, 21 white 

men, women, and children, and 44 Negroes, was slain. My 

granddaddy say that in the woods and at Stono, where the war 

start, there was more than 100 Negroes in line. When the 

militia come in sight of them at Combahee swamp, the 

drinking, dancing Negroes scatter in the brush and only 44 

stand their ground. Commander Cato speak for the crowd. He 

say: 'We don't like slavery. We start to join the Spanish in 

Florida. We surrender but we not whipped yet and we is not 

converted.' The other 43 say: 'Amen.' They was taken, 

unarmed, and hanged by the militia. 

Aftermath 

Over the next two years, slave uprisings occurred 

independently in Georgia and South Carolina. Colonial officials 

believed these were inspired by the Stono Rebellion, but 

historians think the increasingly harsh conditions of slavery 

since the beginning of the 18th century under the rice and 

cotton cultures were sufficient cause.  

Planters decided to develop a slave population who were 

native-born, believing the workers were more content if they 

grew up enslaved. Attributing the rebellion to the recently 

imported Africans, planters decided to cut off the supply. They 

enacted a 10-year moratorium on slave importation through 

Charleston. When, a decade later, they opened the port to the 

international slave trade again, planters imported slaves from 

areas other than the Congo-Angolan region.  
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In addition, the legislature passed the Negro Act of 1740 to 

tighten controls: it required a ratio of one white to ten blacks 

on any plantation. It prohibited slaves from growing their own 

food, assembling in groups, earning money, or learning to read. 

In the uncertain world of the colony, several of the law's 

provisions were based on the assumption that whites could 

effectively judge black character; for instance, whites were 

empowered to examine blacks who were traveling outside a 

plantation without passes, and to take action.  

The legislature also worked to improve conditions in slavery in 

order to avoid problems; it established penalties for masters 

who demanded excessive work or who brutally punished slaves. 

These provisions were difficult to enforce, as the law did not 

allow slave testimony against whites.  

They also started a school to teach slaves Christian doctrine. 

At the same time, the legislature tried to prevent slaves from 

being manumitted, as the representatives thought that the 

presence of free blacks in the colony made slaves restless.  

It required slaveholders to apply to the legislature for 

permission for each case of manumission; formerly, 

manumissions could be arranged privately. South Carolina 

kept these restrictions against manumission until slavery was 

abolished after the American Civil War.  

Legacy 

The Hutchinson's warehouse site, where the revolt began, was 

declared a National Historic Landmark in 1974. A South 

Carolina Historical Marker has also been erected at the site.  
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The text of the marker reads:  

• The Stono Rebellion (1739) 

The rebels were joined by 40 to 60 more during their 15-mile 

march. They killed at least 20 whites, but spared others. The 

rebellion ended late that afternoon when the militia caught the 

rebels, killing at least 54 of them. Most who escaped were 

captured and executed; any forced to join the rebels were 

released. The S.C. assembly [sic] soon enacted a harsh slave 

code, in force until 1865.  

South Carolina was one of the original thirteen states of the 

United States. European exploration of the area began in April 

1540, with the Hernando de Soto expedition, who unwittingly 

introduced new Eurasian diseases that decimated the local 

Native American populations, because they lacked immunity. 

In 1663, the English Crown granted land to eight proprietors of 

what became the colony. The first settlers came to the Province 

of Carolina at the port of Charleston in 1670. They were mostly 

wealthy planters and their slaves coming from the English 

Caribbean colony of Barbados. They started to develop their 

commodity crops of sugar and cotton. The Province of Carolina 

was split into North and South Carolina in 1712. Pushing back 

the Native Americans in the Yamasee War (1715–17), colonists 

next overthrew the proprietors' rule, seeking more direct 

representation. In 1719, South Carolina was officially made a 

crown colony.  

In the Stamp Act Crisis of 1765, South Carolina banded 

together with the other colonies to oppose British taxation and 

played a major role in resisting Great Britain. It became 

independent in March 1776 and joined the United States of 
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America. The Revolutionary War was bloody and hard-fought in 

South Carolina from 1780–81, as the British invaded, captured 

the American army, but were finally driven out.  

In the early decades, the colony cultivated cotton on 

plantations of the sea islands and Low Country, along with 

rice, indigo and some tobacco as commodity crops, all worked 

by African slaves, most from West Africa. In the 19th century, 

invention of the cotton gin enabled profitable processing of 

short-staple cotton, which grew better in the Piedmont than 

did long-staple cotton. The hilly upland areas, where 

landowners were generally subsistence farmers with few slaves, 

were much poorer; a regional conflict between the coastal and 

inland areas developed in the political system, long dominated 

by the Low Country planters. With outspoken leaders such as 

John C. Calhoun, the state vied with Virginia as the dominant 

political and social force in the South. It fought federal tariffs 

in the 1830s and demanded that its rights to practice slavery 

be recognized in newly established territories. With the 1860 

election of Republicans under Abraham Lincoln, who vowed to 

prevent slavery's expansion, the voters demanded secession. In 

December 1860, the state was the first to secede from the 

Union, and in February 1861, it joined the new Confederate 

States of America.  

In April 1861, the American Civil War began when Confederate 

forces attacked the American fort at Fort Sumter in Charleston 

harbor. After the collapse of the Confederacy in 1865, South 

Carolina underwent Reconstruction from 1865 to 1877. 

Congress shut down the civilian government in 1867, put the 

army in charge, gave Freedmen (freed slaves) the opportunity 

to vote, and prevented former Confederates from holding office. 
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A Republican legislature supported by Freedmen, northern 

carpetbaggers and white Southern scalawags, created and 

funded a public school system, and created social welfare 

institutions. The constitution they passed was kept nearly 

unaltered for 27 years, and most legislation passed during the 

Reconstruction years lasted longer than that. By 1877, the 

white conservatives, calling themselves "Redeemers", had 

regained political power. In the 1880s, Jim Crow laws were 

passed that were especially severe in the state, to create public 

segregation and control movement of African-American 

laborers. After 1890, almost all blacks lost their political vote, 

until federal legislation of the Voting Rights Act of 1965.  

The Civil War would ruin the states economy, and continued 

over reliance on agriculture as its main economic base, made 

South Carolina one of the poorer states economically in the 

country. In the late 19th century, educational levels were low, 

as public schools were underfunded, especially for African 

Americans. Most people lived on small farms and grew crops 

such as cotton. The more affluent landowners subdivided their 

land into farms operated by tenant farmers or sharecroppers, 

along with land operated by the owner using hired labor. 

Gradually more industry moved into the Piedmont area, with 

textile factories that processed the state's raw cotton into yarn 

and cloth for sale on the international market.  

Starting in the late 19th century, the state would politically 

become part of the Democratic Solid South (1877–1964), after 

white Southern Democrats regained control of the state 

legislature and governor's office in 1876. They would 

disfranchise African Americans by a new state constitution in 

1895, and no black officials would be elected between 1900 
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and 1970. In the first half of the 20th century, many blacks 

left the state to go to northern cities during the Great 

Migration. Whites rigidly enforced segregation in the Jim Crow 

era, limiting African Americans' chances for education, free 

public movement, and closing them out of the political system. 

The federal Civil Rights laws of the 1960s ended segregation 

and protected the voting rights of African Americans. African 

Americans had been affiliated with the Republican Party, but 

after 1964, became intensely loyal Democrats, while most 

white conservatives flipped to being Republican.  

The main economic driver of cotton production ended by the 

1950s. As more factories were built across the state, the great 

majority of farmers left agriculture occupations. Service 

industries such as tourism, education, and medical care would 

grow rapidly within the state. Textile factories started to fade 

after the 1970s, with offshore movement of those jobs to other 

countries. By 2000, the white majority of South Carolina voted 

solidly Republican in presidential elections, however the state 

and local government elections are contested by both parties. 

South Carolina's population continued to grow throughout the 

20th century, reaching 4 million in 2000. Coastal areas would 

become prime locations for tourists and retirees. The state 

poverty rate of 13.5% is slightly worse than the national 

average of 11.7%.  

Early history 

Humans arrived in the area of South Carolina around 13,000 

BC. These people were hunters with crude tools made from 

stones and bones. Around 10,000 BC, they used spears and 

hunted big game. Over the Archaic period of 8000 to 2000 BC, 
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the people gathered nuts, berries, fish and shellfish as part of 

their diets. Trade between the coastal plain and the piedmont 

developed. There is evidence of plant domestication and pottery 

in the late Archaic. The Woodland period brought more serious 

agriculture, more sophisticated pottery, and the bow and 

arrow.  

By the time of the first European exploration, twenty-nine 

tribes or nations of Native Americans, divided by major 

language families, lived within the boundaries of what became 

South Carolina. Algonquian-speaking tribes lived in the low 

country, Siouan and Iroquoian-speaking in the Piedmont and 

uplands, respectively.  

Colonial period 

By the end of the 16th century, the Spanish and French had 

left the area of South Carolina after several reconnaissance 

missions, expeditions and failed colonization attempts, notably 

the short-living French outpost of Charlesfort followed by the 

Spanish town of Santa Elena on modern-day Parris Island 

between 1562 and 1587. In 1629, Charles I, King of England, 

granted his attorney general a charter to everything between 

latitudes 36 and 31. He called this land the Province of 

Carolana, which would later be changed to "Carolina" for 

pronunciation, after the Latin form of his own name.  

In 1663, Charles II granted the land to the eight Lords 

Proprietors in return for their financial and political assistance 

in restoring him to the throne in 1660. Charles II intended that 

the newly created Province of Carolina would serve as an 

English bulwark to the contested lands claimed by Spanish 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 3 

579 

Florida and prevent Spanish expansion northward. The eight 

nobles ruled the Province of Carolina as a proprietary colony. 

After the Yamasee War of 1715–1717, the Lords Proprietors 

came under increasing pressure from settlers and were forced 

to relinquish their charter to the Crown in 1719. The 

proprietors retained their right to the land until 1719, when 

the South Carolina was officially made a crown colony.  

In April 1670, settlers arrived at Albemarle Point, at the 

confluence of the Ashley and Cooper rivers. They founded 

Charles Town, named in honor of King Charles II. Throughout 

the Colonial Period, the Carolinas participated in many wars 

against the Spanish and the Native Americans, including the 

Yamasee and Cherokee tribes. In its first decades, the colony's 

plantations were relatively small and its wealth came from 

Native American trade, mainly in Native American slaves and 

deerskins.  

The slave trade adversely affected tribes throughout the 

Southeast and exacerbated enmity and competition among 

some of them. Historians estimate that Carolinians exported 

24,000–51,000 Native American slaves from 1670 to 1717, 

sending them to markets ranging from Boston in North America 

to Barbados. Planters financed the purchase of African slaves 

by their sale of Native Americans, finding that they were 

somewhat easier to control, as they did not know the territory 

to make good an escape.  

Perhaps the most notable moment in history for South Carolina 

was the creation of the Regulators in the 1760s, one of the first 

organized militias in the New World. The militia proposed ideas 

of independence and brought increased recognition to the need 
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for backcountry rights in the Carolinas. This led to the War of 

the Regulators, a battle between the regulators and the British 

soldiers, led mainly by British Royal Governor William Tryon, 

in the area. This battle was the first catalyst in the American 

Revolution.  

Native people 

Divided roughly along the Santee River were the two main 

groups of Native American peoples— Eastern Siouan & the 

Cusaboan tribes. Relative to the Siouans were mostly the 

Waccamaw, Sewee, Woccon, Chickanee (a smaller offshoot of 

the northern Wateree), Winyaw & the Santee (not to be 

confused with the Dakota Santee of the west.). Most of the 

region south of the Santee River was controlled by the 

Muskogean Cusabo tribes. Some Muskogean speaking tribes, 

like the Coree lived among the Siouans, however. North of the 

Sewee were the Croatan, an Algonquian nation related to the 

Chowanoke, Piscataway, Nanticoke & Powhatan further north. 

Many descendants of the Croatan survive among the Lumbee, 

who also took in many Siouan peoples of the region. Deeper 

inland were the lands of the Chalaques, or ancestral 

Cherokees.  

Other tribes who entered the region over time were the Westo, 

an Iroquoian people believed to have been the same as the Erie 

Indians of Ohio. During the Beaver Wars period, they were 

pushed out of their homeland by the Iroquois & conquered 

their way down from the Ohio River into South Carolina, 

becoming a nuisance to the local populations & damaging the 

Chalaques. They were destroyed in 1681, and, afterward, the 

Chalaques split into the Yuchi of North Carolina & the 
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Cherokee to the south, with other fragment groups wandering 

off into different areas. Also, after this conflict, Muskogeans 

wandered north and became the Yamasee. When the Cherokee 

& Yuchi later reformed into the Creek Confederacy after the 

Yamasee War, they destroyed the Yamasee, who became 

backwater nomads. They spread out between the states of 

South Carolina & Florida. Today, several Yamasee tribes have 

since reformed.  

The Siouan peoples of the state were relatively small & lived a 

wide variety of lifestyles. Some had absorbed aspects of 

Muskogean culture, while others lived like the Virginian Saponi 

people. Most had a traditional Siouan government of a chief-led 

council, while others (like the Santee) were thought of as 

tyrannical monarchies. They were among the first to experience 

colonial contact by the Spanish colony in the state during the 

16th century. After the colony collapsed, the native peoples 

even borrowed their cows & pigs and took up animal 

husbandry. They liked the idea so much, they went on to 

capture and domesticate other animals, such as geese and 

turkeys. Their downfall was a combination of European 

diseases & warfare. After the English reached the region, many 

members of these tribes ended up on both sides of most wars. 

The Sewee in particular met their end in a bizarre 

circumstance of virtually all the men of their people deciding to 

cut out the middleman and launched a canoe flotilla to cross 

the Atlantic so they could trade with Europe directly. They 

never returned. In the end, all the Siouan peoples of the 

Carolinas ended up merging with the Catawba, who relocated 

to the N- S Carolina border around the Yadkin River. Later, the 

United States amalgamated the Catawba with the Cherokee & 
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they were sent west on the Trail of Tears after the drafting of 

the Indian Removal Act in the 1830s.  

18th century 

In the 1700–70 era, the colony possessed many advantages - 

entrepreneurial planters and businessmen, a major harbor, the 

expansion of cost-efficient African slave labor, and an 

attractive physical environment, with rich soil and a long 

growing season, albeit with endemic malaria. Planters 

established rice and indigo as commodity crops, based in 

developing large plantations, with long-staple cotton grown on 

the sea islands. As the demand for labor increased, planters 

imported increasing numbers of African slaves. The slave 

population grew as they had children. These children were also 

regarded as slaves as they grew up, as South Carolina used 

Virginia's model of declaring all children born to slave mothers 

as slaves, regardless of the race or nationality of the father. So 

the majority of slaves in the colony came to be native-born. 

This became one of the wealthiest of the British colonies. Rich 

colonials became avid consumers of services from outside the 

colony, such as mercantile services, medical education, and 

legal training in England. Almost everyone in 18th-century 

South Carolina felt the pressures, constraints, and 

opportunities associated with the growing importance of trade.  

Yamasee war 

A pan-Native American alliance rose up against the settlers in 

the Yamasee War (1715–17), in part due to the tribes' 

opposition to the Native American slave trade. The Native 

Americans nearly destroyed the colony. But the colonists and 
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Native American allies defeated the Yemasee and their allies, 

such as the Iroquoian-speaking Tuscarora people. The latter 

emigrated from the colony north to western New York state, 

where by 1722 they declared the migration ended. They were 

accepted as the sixth nation of the Iroquois Confederacy. 

Combined with exposure to European infectious diseases, the 

backcountry's Yemasee population was greatly reduced by the 

fierce warfare.  

Slaves 

After the Yamasee War, the planters turned exclusively to 

importing African slaves for labor. With the establishment of 

rice and indigo as commodity export crops, South Carolina 

became a slave society, with slavery central to its economy. By 

1708, African slaves composed a majority of the population in 

the colony; the blacks composed the majority of the population 

in the state into the 20th century. Planters used slave labor to 

support cultivation and processing of rice and indigo as 

commodity crops. Building dams, irrigation ditches and related 

infrastructure, enslaved Africans created the equivalent of 

huge earthworks to regulate water for the rice culture. 

Although the methods for cultivation of rice were patterned on 

those of West African rice growers, white planters took credit 

for what they called "an achievement no less skillful than that 

which excites our wonder in viewing the works of the ancient 

Egyptians."  

While some lifetime indentured servants came to South 

Carolina transported as prisoners from Britain, having been 

sentenced for their part in the failed Scottish Jacobite 

Rebellions of 1744–46, by far most of the slaves came from 
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West Africa. In the Low Country, including the Sea Islands, 

where large populations of Africans lived together, they 

developed a creolized culture and language known as 

Gullah/Geechee (the latter a term used in Georgia). They 

interacted with and adopted some elements of the English 

language and colonial culture and language. The Gullah 

adapted to elements of American society during the slavery 

years. Since the late nineteenth century, they have retained 

their distinctive life styles, products, and language to 

perpetuate their unique ethnic identity. Beginning about 1910, 

tens of thousands of blacks left the state in the Great 

Migration, traveling for work and other opportunities to the 

northern and midwestern industrial cities.  

Low country 

The Low Country was settled first, dominated by wealthy 

English men who became owners of large amounts of land on 

which they established plantations. They first transported 

white indentured servants as laborers, mostly teenage youth 

from England who came to work off their passage in hopes of 

learning to farm and buying their own land. Planters also 

imported African laborers to the colony.  

In the early colonial years, social boundaries were fluid 

between indentured laborers and slaves, and there was 

considerable intermarriage. Gradually the terms of 

enslavement became more rigid, and slavery became a racial 

caste. South Carolina used Virginia's model of declaring all 

children born to slave mothers as slaves, regardless of the race 

or nationality of the father. In the Upper South, there were 

many mixed-race slaves with white planter fathers. With a 
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decrease in English settlers as the economy improved in 

England before the beginning of the 18th century, the planters 

began to rely chiefly on enslaved Africans for labor.  

The market for land functioned efficiently and reflected both 

rapid economic development and widespread optimism 

regarding future economic growth. The frequency and turnover 

rate for land sales were tied to the general business cycle; the 

overall trend was upward, with almost half of the sales 

occurring in the decade before the American Revolution. Prices 

also rose over time, parallel with the rise in the price for rice. 

Prices dropped dramatically, however, in the years just before 

the American Revolution, when fears arose about future 

prospects outside the system of English mercantilist trade.  

Back country 

In contrast to the Tidewater, the back country was settled later 

in the 18th century, chiefly by Scots-Irish and North British 

migrants, who had quickly moved down from Pennsylvania and 

Virginia. The immigrants from Ulster, the Scottish lowlands, 

and the north of England (the border counties) composed the 

largest group from the British Isles before the Revolution. They 

came mostly in the 18th century, later than other colonial 

immigrants. Such "North Britons were a large majority in much 

of the South Carolina upcountry." The character of this 

environment was "well matched to the culture of the British 

borderlands."  

They settled in the backcountry throughout the South and 

relied on subsistence farming. Mostly they did not own slaves. 

Given the differences in background, class, slave holding, 
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economics, and culture, there was long-standing competition 

between the Low Country and back country that played out in 

politics.  

Rice 

In the early period, planters earned wealth from two major 

crops: rice and indigo (see below), both of which relied on slave 

labor for their cultivation.  

Exports of these crops led South Carolina to become one of the 

wealthiest colonies prior to the Revolution. Near the beginning 

of the 18th century, planters began rice culture along the 

coast, mainly in the Georgetown and Charleston areas.  

The rice became known as Carolina Gold, both for its color and 

its ability to produce great fortunes for plantation owners.  

Indigo production 

In the 1740s, Eliza Lucas Pinckney began indigo culture and 

processing in coastal South Carolina. Indigo was in heavy 

demand in Europe for making dyes for clothing. An "Indigo 

Bonanza" followed, with South Carolina production 

approaching a million pounds (400 plus Tonnes) in the late 

1750s. This growth was stimulated by a British bounty of six 

pence per pound.  

South Carolina did not have a monopoly of the British market, 

but the demand was strong and many planters switched to the 

new crop when the price of rice fell. Carolina indigo had a 

mediocre reputation because Carolina planters failed to 

achieve consistent high quality production standards. Carolina 
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indigo nevertheless succeeded in displacing French and 

Spanish indigo in the British and in some continental markets, 

reflecting the demand for cheap dyestuffs from manufacturers 

of low-cost textiles, the fastest-growing sectors of the 

European textile industries at the onset of industrialization.  

In addition, the colonial economy depended on sales of pelts 

(primarily deerskins), and naval stores and timber. Coastal 

towns began shipbuilding to support their trade, using the 

prime timbers of the live oak.  

Jews and Huguenots 

South Carolina's liberal constitution and early flourishing 

trade attracted Sephardic Jewish immigrants as early as the 

18th century. They were mostly elite businessmen from London 

and Barbados, where they had been involved in the rum and 

sugar trades. Many became slaveholders. In 1800, Charleston 

had the largest Jewish population of any city in the United 

States. Huguenot Protestant refugees from France were 

welcomed and many became mechanics and businessmen.  

Negro Act of 1740 

The comprehensive Negro Act of 1740 was passed in South 

Carolina, during Governor William Bull's time in office, in 

response to the Stono Rebellion in 1739. The act made it illegal 

for enslaved Africans to move abroad, assemble in groups, 

raise food, earn money, and learn to write (though reading was 

not proscribed). Additionally, owners were permitted to kill 

rebellious slaves if necessary. The Act remained in effect until 

1865.  
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Revolutionary War 

Prior to the American Revolution, the British began taxing 

American colonies to raise revenue. Residents of South 

Carolina were outraged by the Townsend Acts that taxed tea, 

paper, wine, glass, and oil. To protest the Stamp Act, South 

Carolina sent the wealthy rice planter Thomas Lynch, twenty-

six-year-old lawyer John Rutledge, and Christopher Gadsden to 

the Stamp Act Congress, held in 1765 in New York. Other taxes 

were removed, but tea taxes remained. Soon residents of South 

Carolina, like those of the Boston Tea Party, began to dump tea 

into the Charleston Harbor, followed by boycotts and protests.  

South Carolina set up its state government and constitution on 

March 26, 1776. Because of the colony's longstanding trade 

ties with Great Britain, the Low Country cities had numerous 

Loyalists. Many of the Patriot battles fought in South Carolina 

during the American Revolution were against loyalist 

Carolinians and the Cherokee Nation, which was allied with 

the British. This was to British General Henry Clinton's 

advantage, as his strategy was to march his troops north from 

St. Augustine and sandwich George Washington in the North. 

Clinton alienated Loyalists and enraged Patriots by attacking 

and nearly annihilating a fleeing army of Patriot soldiers who 

posed no threat.  

White colonists were not the only ones with a desire for 

freedom. Estimates are that about 25,000 slaves escaped, 

migrated or died during the disruption of the war, 30 percent 

of the state's slave population. About 13,000 joined the 

British, who had promised them freedom if they left rebel 

masters and fought with them. From 1770 to 1790, the 
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proportion of the state's population made up of blacks (almost 

all of whom were enslaved), dropped from 60.5 percent to 43.8 

percent.  

On October 7, 1780, at Kings Mountain, John Sevier and 

William Campbell, using volunteers from the mountains and 

from Tennessee, surrounded 1000 Loyalist soldiers camped on 

a mountain top. It was a decisive Patriot victory. It was the 

first Patriot victory since the British had taken Charleston. 

Thomas Jefferson, governor of Virginia at the time, called it, 

"The turn of the tide of success."  

While tensions mounted between the Crown and the Carolinas, 

some key southern Pastors became a target of King George: "... 

this church (Bullock Creek) was noted as one of the "Four 

Bees" in King George's bonnet due to its pastor, Rev. Joseph 

Alexander, preaching open rebellion to the British Crown in 

June 1780. Bullock Creek Presbyterian Church was a place 

noted for being a Whig party stronghold. Under a ground swell 

of such Calvin Protestant leadership, South Carolina moved 

from a back seat to the front in the war against tyranny. 

Patriots went on to regain control of Charleston and South 

Carolina with untrained militiamen by trapping Colonel 

Banastre "No Quarter" Tarleton's troops along a river.  

In 1787, John Rutledge, Charles Pinckney, Charles Cotesworth 

Pinckney, and Pierce Butler went to Philadelphia where the 

Constitutional Convention was being held and constructed 

what served as a detailed outline for the U.S. Constitution. The 

federal Constitution was ratified by the state in 1787. The new 

state constitution was ratified in 1790 without the support of 

the Upcountry.  
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Scots Irish 

During the Revolution, the Scots Irish in the back country in 

most states were noted as strong patriots. One exception was 

the Waxhaw settlement on the lower Catawba River along the 

North Carolina-South Carolina boundary, where Loyalism was 

strong. The area had two main settlement periods of Scotch 

Irish. During the 1750s–1760s, second- and third-generation 

Scotch Irish Americans moved from Pennsylvania, Virginia, and 

North Carolina. This particular group had large families, and 

as a group they produced goods for themselves and for others. 

They generally were patriots.  

In addition to these, The Earl of Donegal arrived in Charleston 

on December 22, 1767, from Belfast, bringing approximately 

fifty families over who received land grants under the Bounty 

Act. Most of these families settled in the upstate. A portion of 

these eventually migrated into Georgia and on into Alabama.  

Just prior to the Revolution, a second stream of immigrants 

came directly from northern Ireland via Charleston. Mostly 

poor, this group settled in an underdeveloped area because 

they could not afford expensive land. Most of this group 

remained loyal to the Crown or neutral when the war began. 

Prior to Charles Cornwallis's march into the backcountry in 

1780, two-thirds of the men among the Waxhaw settlement had 

declined to serve in the army. British victory at the Battle of 

the Waxhaws resulted in anti-British sentiment in a bitterly 

divided region. While many individuals chose to take up arms 

against the British, the British forced the people to choose 

sides, as they were trying to recruit Loyalists for a militia.  
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Loyalists 

South Carolina had one of the strongest Loyalists factions of 

any state. About 5000 men took up arms against the Patriot 

government during revolution, and thousands more were 

supporters. Nearly all had immigrated to the province after 

1765, only about one in six was native-born. About 45% of the 

Loyalists were small farmers, 30% were merchants, artisans or 

shopkeepers; 15% were large farmers or plantation owners; 

10% Were royal officials. Geographically they were strongest in 

the backcountry.  

Although the state had experienced a bitter bloody internal 

civil war 1780-82, civilian leaders nevertheless adopted a 

policy of reconciliation that proved more moderate than any 

other state. About 4500 white Loyalists left when the war 

ended, but the majority remained behind. The state 

successfully and quickly reincorporated the vast majority. 

Some were required to pay a 10% fine of the value of the 

property. The legislature named 232 Loyalists liable for 

confiscation of their property, but most appealed and were 

forgiven.  

Rebecca Brannon, says South Carolinians, "offered the most 

generous reconciliation to Loyalists ... despite suffering the 

worst extremes of violent civil war" According to a reviewer, 

she:  

convincingly argues that South Carolinians, driven by social, 

political, and economic imperatives, engaged in a process of 

integration that was significantly more generous than that of 

other states. Indeed, Brannon's account strongly suggests that 
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it was precisely the brutality and destructiveness of the 

conflict in the Palmetto State that led South Carolinians to 

favor reconciliation over retribution. 

Antebellum South Carolina 

South Carolina led opposition to national law during the 

Nullification Crisis. It was the first state to declare its 

secession in 1860 in response to the election of Abraham 

Lincoln. Dominated by major planters, it was the only state in 

which slaveholders composed a majority of the legislature.  

Politics and slavery 

After the Revolutionary War, numerous slaves were freed. Most 

of the northern states abolished slavery, sometimes combined 

with gradual emancipation. In the Upper South, inspired by 

revolutionary ideals and activist preachers, state legislatures 

passed laws making it easier for slaveholders to manumit (free) 

their slaves both during their lifetimes or by wills. Quakers, 

Methodists, and Baptists urged slaveholders to free their 

slaves. In the period from 1790 to 1810, the proportion and 

number of free blacks rose dramatically in the Upper South 

and overall, from less than 1 percent to more than 10 percent.  

When the importation of slaves became illegal in 1808, South 

Carolina was the only state that still allowed importation, 

which had been prohibited in the other states.  

Slave owners had more control over the state government of 

South Carolina than of any other state. Elite planters played 

the role of English aristocrats more than did the planters of 
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other states. In the late antebellum years, the newer Southern 

states, such as Alabama and Mississippi, allowed more 

political equality among whites. Although all white male 

residents were allowed to vote, property requirements for office 

holders were higher in South Carolina than in any other state. 

It was the only state legislature in which slave owners held the 

majority of seats. The legislature elected the governor, all 

judges and state electors for federal elections, as well as the 

US senators into the 20th century, so its members had 

considerable political power. The state's chief executive was a 

figurehead who had no authority to veto legislative law.  

With its society disrupted by losses of enslaved Black people 

during the Revolution, South Carolina did not embrace 

manumission as readily as states of the Upper South. Most of 

its small number of "free" Black people were of mixed race, 

often the children of major planters or their sons, who raped 

the young Black enslaved females. Their wealthy fathers 

sometimes passed on social capital to such mixed-race 

children, arranging for their manumission even if officially 

denying them as legal heirs. Fathers sometimes arranged to 

have their enslaved children educated, arranged 

apprenticeships in skilled trades, and other preparation for 

independent adulthood. Some planters sent their enslaved 

mixed-race children to schools and colleges in the North for 

education.  

In the early 19th century, the state legislature passed laws 

making manumission more difficult. The manumission law of 

1820 required slaveholders to gain legislative approval for each 

act of manumission and generally required other free adults to 

testify that the person to be freed could support himself. This 
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meant that freedmen were unable to free their enslaved 

children since the first law required that five citizens attest to 

the ability of the person proposed to be "freed" to earn a living. 

In 1820, the legislature ended personal manumissions, 

requiring all slaveholders to gain individual permission from 

the legislature before manumitting anyone.  

The majority of the population in South Carolina was Black, 

with concentrations in the plantation areas of the Low 

Country: by 1860 the population of the state was 703,620, 

with 57 percent or slightly more than 402,000 classified as 

enslaved people. Free Black people numbered slightly less than 

10,000. A concentration of free people of color lived in 

Charleston, where they formed an elite racial caste of people 

who had more skills and education than most Black people. 

Unlike Virginia, where most of the larger plantations and 

enslaved people were concentrated in the eastern part of the 

state, South Carolina plantations and enslaved people became 

common throughout much of the state. After 1794, Eli 

Whitney's cotton gin allowed cotton plantations for short-

staple cotton to be widely developed in the Piedmont area, 

which became known as the Black Belt of the state.  

By 1830, 85% of inhabitants of rice plantations in the Low 

Country were enslaved people. When rice planters left the 

malarial low country for cities such as Charleston during the 

social season, up to 98% of the Low Country residents were 

enslaved people. This led to a preservation of West African 

customs while developing the Creole culture known as Gullah. 

By 1830, two-thirds of South Carolina's counties had 

populations with 40 percent or more enslaved people; even in 
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the two counties with the lowest rates of slavery, 23 percent of 

the population were enslaved people.  

In 1822, a Black freedman named Denmark Vesey and 

compatriots around Charlestown organized a plan for 

thousands of enslaved people to participate in an armed 

uprising to gain freedom. Vesey's plan, inspired by the 1791 

Haitian Revolution, called for thousands of armed Black men to 

kill their enslavers, seize the city of Charleston, and escape 

from the United States by sailing to Haiti. The plot was 

discovered when two enslaved people opposed to the plan 

leaked word of it to white authorities. Charleston authorities 

charged 131 men with participating in the conspiracy. In total, 

the state convicted 67 men and executed by hanging 35 of 

them, including Vesey. White fear of the insurrection of 

enslaved people after the Vesey conspiracy led to a 9:15 pm 

curfew for enslaved people in Charleston, and the 

establishment of a municipal guard of 150 white men in 

Charleston, with half the men stationed in an arsenal called 

the Citadel. Columbia was protected by an arsenal.  

Plantations in older Southern states such as South Carolina 

wore out the soil to such an extent that 42% of state residents 

left the state for the lower South, to develop plantations with 

newer soil. The remaining South Carolina plantations were 

especially hard hit when worldwide cotton markets turned 

down in 1826–32 and again in 1837–49.  

Nullification 

The white minority in South Carolina felt more threatened than 

in other parts of the South, and reacted more to the economic 
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Panic of 1819, the Missouri Controversy of 1820, and attempts 

at emancipation in the form of the Ohio Resolutions of 1824 

and the American Colonization Petition of 1827. South 

Carolina's first attempt at nullification occurred in 1822, when 

South Carolina adopted a policy of jailing foreign Black sailors 

at South Carolina ports. This policy violated a treaty between 

the United Kingdom and the United States, but South Carolina 

defied a complaint from Britain through American Secretary of 

State John Quincy Adams and a United States Supreme Court 

justice's federal circuit decision condemning the jailings. 

Foreign Black men from Santo Domingo had previously 

communicated with Denmark Vesey's conspirators, and the 

South Carolina State Senate declared that the need to prevent 

insurrections was more important than laws, treaties or 

constitutions.  

South Carolinian George McDuffie popularized the "Forty Bale 

theory" to explain South Carolina's economic woes. He said 

that tariffs that became progressively higher in 1816, 1824 and 

1828 had the same effect as if a thief stole forty bales out of a 

hundred from every barn. The tariffs applied to imports of 

goods such as iron, wool, and finished cotton products. The 

Forty Bale theory was based on faulty math, as Britain could 

sell finished cotton goods made from Southern raw cotton 

around the world, not just to the United States. Still, the 

theory was a popular explanation for economic problems that 

were caused in large part by overproduction of cotton in the 

Deep South, competing with South Carolina's declining crops 

because of its depleted soil. South Carolinians, rightly or 

wrongly, blamed the tariff for the fact that cotton prices fell 

from 18 cents a pound to 9 cents a pound during the 1820s.  
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While the effects of the tariff were exaggerated, manufactured 

imports from Europe were cheaper than American-made 

products without the tariff, and the tariff did reduce British 

imports of cotton to some extent. These were largely short-term 

problems that existed before United States factories and textile 

makers could compete with Europe. Also, the tariff replaced a 

tax system where slave states previously had to pay more in 

taxes for the increased representation they got in the U.S. 

House of Representatives under the three-fifths clause.  

The Tariff of 1828, which South Carolina agitators called the 

Tariff of Abominations, set the tariff rate at 50 percent. 

Although John C. Calhoun previously supported tariffs, he 

anonymously wrote the South Carolina Exposition and Protest, 

which was a states' rights argument for nullifying the tariff.  

Calhoun's theory was that the threat of secession would lead to 

a "concurrent majority" that would possess every white 

minority's consent, as opposed to a "tyrannical majority" of 

Northerners controlling the South. Both Calhoun and Robert 

Barnwell Rhett foresaw that the same arguments could be used 

to defend slavery when necessary.   

President Andrew Jackson successfully forced the nullifiers to 

back down and allowed a gradual reduction of tariff rates. 

Calhoun and Senator Henry Clay agreed upon the Compromise 

Tariff of 1833, which would lower rates over 10 years.  

Calhoun later supported national protection for slavery in the 

form of the Fugitive Slave Law of 1850 and federal protection of 

slavery in the territories conquered from Mexico, in 

contradiction to his previous support for nullification and 

states' rights.  
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Censorship and slavery 

On July 29, 1835, Charleston Postmaster Alfred Huger found 

abolitionist literature in the mail, and refused to deliver it. 

Slave owners seized the mail and built a bonfire with it, and 

other Southern states followed South Carolina's lead in 

censoring abolitionist literature.  

South Carolina's James Henry Hammond started the gag rule 

controversy by demanding a ban on petitions for ending slavery 

from being introduced before Congress in 1835. The 1856 

caning of Republican Charles Sumner by the South Carolinian 

Preston Brooks after Sumner's Crime Against Kansas speech 

heightened Northern fears that the alleged aggressions of the 

slave power threatened republican government for Northern 

whites.  

Protest of the Negro Act of 1740 

John Belton O'Neall summarized the Negro Act of 1740, in his 

written work, The Negro Law of South Carolina, when he 

stated: "A slave may, by the consent of his master, acquire and 

hold personal property. All, thus required, is regarded in law 

as that of the master." Across the South, state supreme courts 

supported the position of this law.  

In 1848, O'Neall was the only one to express protest against 

the Act, arguing for the propriety of receiving testimony from 

enslaved Africans (many of whom, by 1848, were Christians) 

under oath: "Negroes (slave or free) will feel the sanctions of an 

oath, with as much force as any of the ignorant classes of 

white people, in a Christian country."  
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Secession and war 

South Carolina was the first state to secede from the Union 

after the election of Abraham Lincoln in 1860. South Carolina 

adopted the Declaration of the Immediate Causes Which Induce 

and Justify the Secession of South Carolina from the Federal 

Union on December 24, 1860, following a briefer Ordinance of 

Secession adopted December 20.  

All of the violations of the alleged rights of Southern states 

mentioned in the document are about slavery. President 

Buchanan protested but made no military response aside from 

a failed attempt to resupply Fort Sumter via the ship Star of 

the West, which was fired upon by South Carolina forces and 

turned back before it reached the fort.  

American Civil War 

Prewar tensions 

Few white South Carolinians considered abolition of slavery as 

an option. Having lived as a minority among the majority-black 

slaves, they feared that, if freed, the slaves would try to 

"Africanize" the whites' cherished society and culture.  

This was what they believed had happened after slave 

revolutions in Haiti, in which numerous whites and free people 

of color were killed during the revolution. South Carolina's 

white politicians were divided between devoted Unionists who 

opposed any sort of secession, and those who believed 

secession was a state's right.  
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John C. Calhoun noted that the dry and barren West could not 

support a plantation system and would remain without slaves. 

Calhoun proposed that Congress should not exclude slavery 

from territories but let each state choose for itself whether it 

would allow slaves within its borders. After Calhoun's death in 

1850, however, South Carolina was left without a leader great 

enough in national standing and character to prevent action by 

those more militant South Carolinian factions who wanted to 

secede immediately. Andrew Pickens Butler argued against 

Charleston publisher Robert Barnwell Rhett, who advocated 

immediate secession and, if necessary, independence. Butler 

won the battle, but Rhett outlived him.  

When people began to believe that Abraham Lincoln would be 

elected president, states in the Deep South organized 

conventions to discuss their options. South Carolina was the 

first state to organize such a convention, meeting in December 

following the national election. On December 20, 1860, 

delegates convened in Charleston and voted unanimously to 

secede from the Union. President James Buchanan declared 

the secession illegal, but did not act to stop it. The first six 

states to secede with the largest slaveholding states in the 

South, demonstrating that the slavery societies were an 

integral part of the secession question.  

Fort Sumter 

On February 4, the seven seceded states approved a new 

constitution for the Confederate States of America. Lincoln 

argued that the United States were "one nation, indivisible," 

and denied the Southern states' right to secede. South 

Carolina entered the Confederacy on February 8, 1861, thus 
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ending fewer than six weeks of being an independent State of 

South Carolina. Meanwhile, Major Robert Anderson, 

commander of the U.S. troops in Charleston, withdrew his men 

into the small island fortress of Fort Sumter in Charleston 

Harbor and raised the U.S. flag.  

Fort Sumter was vastly outgunned by shore batteries and was 

too small to be a military threat but it had high symbolic 

value. In a letter delivered January 31, 1861, South Carolina 

Governor Pickens demanded of President Buchanan that he 

surrender Fort Sumter, because "I regard that possession is 

not consistent with the dignity or safety of the State of South 

Carolina." Buchanan refused. Lincoln was determined to hold 

it to assert national power and prestige; he wanted the 

Confederacy to fire the first shot. If it was to be a dignified 

independent nation the Confederacy could not tolerate a 

foreign fort in its second largest harbor.  

About 6,000 Confederate men were stationed around the rim of 

the harbor, ready to take on the 60 men in Fort Sumter. At 

4:30 a.m. on April 12, after two days of fruitless negotiations, 

and with Union ships just outside the harbor, the Confederates 

opened fire on orders from President Jefferson Davis. Edmund 

Ruffin fired the first shot. Thirty-four hours later, Anderson's 

men raised the white flag and were allowed to leave the fort 

with colors flying and drums beating, saluting the U.S. flag 

with a 50-gun salute before taking it down. During this salute, 

one of the guns exploded, killing a young soldier—the only 

casualty of the bombardment and the first casualty of the war. 

In a mass frenzy, North and South men rushed to enlist, as 

Lincoln called up troops to recapture the fort.  
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Civil War devastates the state 

The South was at a disadvantage in number, weaponry, and 

maritime skills; the region did not have much of a maritime 

tradition and few sailors. Federal ships sailed south and 

blocked off one port after another.  

As early as November, Union troops occupied the Sea Islands 

in the Beaufort area, and established an important base for the 

men and ships that would obstruct the ports at Charleston and 

Savannah. Many plantation owners had already fled to distant 

interior refuges, sometimes taking their slaves with them.  

Those African-Americans who remained on the Sea Islands 

became the first "freedmen" of the war. Under military 

supervision, the Sea Islands became a laboratory for 

education, with Northern missionary teachers finding former 

enslaved adults as well as children eager for learning. The 

supervisors assigned plots of plantation land to individual 

freedmen households, who began to do subsistence farming, 

generally of food crops and cotton or rice.  

Despite South Carolina's important role, and the Union's 

unsuccessful attempt to take Charleston from 1863 onward, 

fighting was largely limited to naval activities until almost the 

end of the war. Having completed his March to the Sea at 

Savannah in 1865, Union General Sherman took his army to 

Columbia, then north into North Carolina. With most major 

Confederate resistance eliminated by this point, the Union 

army was nearly unopposed. Sherman's troops embarked on an 

orgy of looting and destruction as there was widespread 

resentment at South Carolina being "the mother of secession" 
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and the principal reason why the war started in the first place. 

Columbia and many other towns were burned.  

On February 21, 1865, with the Confederate forces finally 

evacuated from Charleston, the black 54th Massachusetts 

Regiment, led by Thomas Baker, Albert Adams, David Adams, 

Nelson R. Anderson, William H. Alexander, Beverly Harris, 

Joseph Anderson, Robert Abram, Elijah Brown, Wiley Abbott, 

marched through the city. At a ceremony at which the U.S. flag 

was raised over Fort Sumter, former fort commander Robert 

Anderson was joined on the platform by two African Americans: 

Union hero Robert Smalls, who had piloted a Confederate ship 

to Union lines, and the son of Denmark Vesey.  

Continuing to rely on agriculture in a declining market, 

landowners in the state struggled with the change to free 

labor, as well as the aftermath of the war's destruction. There 

was an agricultural depression and deep financial recession in 

1873, and changes in the labor market disrupted agriculture. 

South Carolina lost proportionally more of its young men of 

fighting age than did any other Southern state. Recorded 

deaths were 18,666; however, fatalities might have reached 

21,146. This was 31–35% of the total of white men of ages 18–

45 recorded in the 1860 census for South Carolina. As with 

other military forces, most of the men died of disease rather 

than being wounded in battle.  

Reconstruction era (1865–1877) 

African Americans had long composed the majority of the 

state's population. However, in 1860, only 2 percent of the 

state's black population were free; most were mulattos or free 
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people of color, with ties of kinship to white families. They 

were well established as more educated and skilled artisans in 

Charleston and some other cities despite social restrictions, 

and sometimes as landowners and slaveholders. As a result, 

free people of color before the war became important leaders in 

the South Carolina government during Reconstruction; they 

made up 26 percent of blacks elected to office in the state 

between 1868 and 1876 and played important roles in the 

Republican Party, prepared by their education, skills and 

experiences before the war.  

Despite the anti-Northern fury of prewar and wartime politics, 

most South Carolinians, including the state's leading opinion-

maker, Wade Hampton III, believed that white citizens would 

do well to accept President Andrew Johnson's terms for full 

reentry to the Union. However, the state legislature, in 1865, 

passed "Black Codes" to control the work and movement of 

freedmen. This angered Northerners, who accused the state of 

imposing semi-slavery on the freedmen. The South Carolina 

Black Codes have been described:  

Persons of color contracting for service were to be known as 

"servants", and those with whom they contracted, as "masters." 

On farms the hours of labor would be from sunrise to sunset 

daily, except on Sunday. The negroes were to get out of bed at 

dawn. Time lost would be deducted from their wages, as would 

be the cost of food, nursing, etc., during absence from 

sickness. Absentees on Sunday must return to the plantation 

by sunset. House servants were to be at call at all hours of the 

day and night on all days of the week. They must be "especially 

civil and polite to their masters, their masters' families and 

guests", and they in return would receive "gentle and kind 
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treatment." Corporal and other punishment was to be 

administered only upon order of the district judge or other civil 

magistrate. A vagrant law of some severity was enacted to keep 

the negroes from roaming the roads and living the lives of 

beggars and thieves. 

The Black Codes outraged northern opinion and apparently 

were never put into effect in any state.  

Republican rule 

After winning the 1866 elections, the Radical Republicans took 

control of the Reconstruction process. The Army registered all 

male voters, and elections returned a Republican government 

composed of a coalition of freedmen, "carpetbaggers", and 

"scalawags".  

By a constitutional convention, new voters created the 

Constitution of 1868; this brought democratic reforms to the 

state, including its first public school system. Native white 

Republicans supported it, but white Democrats viewed the 

Republican government as representative of black interests 

only and were largely unsupportive.  

Adding to the interracial animosity was the sense of many 

whites that their former slaves had betrayed them. Before the 

war, slaveholders had convinced themselves that they were 

treating their slaves well and had earned their slaves' loyalty. 

When the Union Army rolled in and slaves deserted by the 

thousands, slaveholders were stunned. The black population 

scrambled to preserve its new rights while the white population 

attempted to claw its way back up the social ladder by denying 

blacks those same rights and reviving white supremacy.  
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Ku Klux Klan raids began shortly after the end of the war, as a 

first stage of insurgency. Secret chapters had members who 

terrorized and murdered blacks and their sympathizers in an 

attempt to reestablish white supremacy. These raids were 

particularly prevalent in the upstate, and they reached a 

climax in 1870–71. Congress passed a series of Enforcement 

Acts aimed at curbing Klan activity, and the Grant 

administration eventually declared martial law in the upstate 

counties of Spartanburg, York, Marion, Chester, Laurens, 

Newberry, Fairfield, Lancaster, and Chesterfield in October 

1870.  

The declaration was followed by mass arrests and a series of 

Congressional hearings to investigate violence in the region. 

Though the federal program resulted in over 700 indictments, 

there were few successful prosecutions, and many of those 

individuals later received pardons. The ultimate weakness of 

the response helped to undermine federal authority in the 

state, though formal Klan activity declined precipitously 

following federal intervention. The violence in the state did not 

subside, however.  

New insurgent groups formed as paramilitary units and rifle 

clubs who operated openly in the 1870s to disrupt Republican 

organizing and suppress black voting; such groups included 

the Red Shirts, as of 1874, and their violence killed more than 

100 blacks during the political season of 1876.  

Spending and debt 

A major theme of conservative opposition to Republican state 

government was the escalating state debt, and the rising taxes 
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paid by a white population that was much poorer than before 

the war. Much of the state money had been squandered or 

wasted. Simkins and Woody say that, "The state debt increased 

rapidly, interest was seldom paid, and credit of the state was 

almost wiped out; yet with one or two exceptions the offenders 

were not brought to justice."  

Reconstruction government established public education for 

the first time, and new charitable institutions, together with 

improved prisons. There was corruption, but it was mostly 

white Southerners who benefited, particularly by investments 

to develop railroads and other infrastructure. Taxes had been 

exceedingly low before the war because the planter class 

refused to support programs such as education welfare. The 

exigencies of the postwar period caused the state debt to climb 

rapidly. When Republicans came to power in 1868, the debt 

stood at $5.4 million. By the time Republicans lost control in 

1877, state debt had risen to $18.5 million.  

The 1876 gubernatorial election 

From 1868 on, elections were accompanied by increasing 

violence from white paramilitary groups such as the Red 

Shirts. Because of the violence in 1870, Republican Governor 

Chamberlain requested assistance from Washington to try to 

keep control. President Ulysses S. Grant sent federal troops to 

try to preserve order and ensure a fair election.  

Using as a model the "Mississippi Plan", which had redeemed 

that state in 1874, South Carolina whites used intimidation, 

violence, persuasion, and control of the blacks. In 1876, 

tensions were high, especially in Piedmont towns where the 
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numbers of blacks were fewer than whites. In these counties, 

blacks sometimes made up a narrow majority. There were 

numerous demonstrations by the Red Shirts—white Democrats 

determined to win the upcoming elections by any means 

possible. The Red Shirts turned the tide in South Carolina, 

convincing whites that this could indeed be the year they 

regain control and terrorizing blacks to stay away from voting, 

due to incidents such as the Hamburg Massacre in July, the 

Ellenton riots in October, and other similar events in Aiken 

County and Edgefield District. Armed with heavy pistols and 

rifles, they rode on horseback to every Republican meeting, 

and demanded a chance to speak. The Red Shirts milled among 

the crowds. Each selected a black man to watch, privately 

threatening to shoot him if he raised a disturbance. The 

Redeemers organized hundreds of rifle clubs. Obeying 

proclamations to disband, they sometimes reorganized as 

missionary societies or dancing clubs—with rifles.  

They set up an ironclad economic boycott against black 

activists and "scalawags" who refused to vote the Democratic 

ticket. People lost jobs over their political views. They beat 

down the opposition—but always just within the law. In 1876, 

Wade Hampton made more than forty speeches across the 

state. Some Black Republicans joined his cause; donning the 

Red Shirts, they paraded with the whites. Most scalawags 

"crossed Jordan", as switching to the Democrats was called.  

On election day, there was intimidation and fraud on all sides, 

employed by both parties. Edgefield and Laurens counties had 

more votes for Democratic candidate Wade Hampton III than 

the total number of registered voters in either county. The 

returns were disputed all the way to Washington, where they 
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played a central role in the Compromise of 1877. Both parties 

claimed victory. For a while, two separate state assemblies did 

business side by side on the floor of the state house (their 

Speakers shared the Speaker's desk, but each had his own 

gavel), until the Democrats moved to their own building. There 

the Democrats continued to pass resolutions and conducted 

the state's business, just as the Republicans were doing. The 

Republican State Assembly tossed out results of the tainted 

election and reelected Chamberlain as governor. A week later, 

General Wade Hampton III took the oath of office for the 

Democrats.  

Finally, in return for the South's support of his own convoluted 

presidential "victory" over Samuel Tilden, President Rutherford 

B. Hayes withdrew federal troops from Columbia and the rest 

of the South in 1877. The Republican government dissolved 

and Chamberlain headed north, as Wade Hampton and his 

Redeemers took control.  

Memory 

Whites and blacks in South Carolina developed different 

memories of Reconstruction and used them to justify their 

politics. James Shepherd Pike, a prominent Republican 

journalist, visited the state in 1873 and wrote accounts that 

were widely reprinted and published as a book, The Prostrate 

State (1874). Historian Eric Foner writes:  

The book depicted a state engulfed by political corruption, 

drained by governmental extravagance, and under the control 

of "a mass of black barbarism." The South's problems, he 

insisted, arose from "Negro government." The solution was to 
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restore leading whites to political power. Similar views were 

developed in scholarly monographs by academic historians of 

the Dunning School based at Columbia University in the early 

20th century; they served as historians at major colleges in the 

South, influencing interpretation of Reconstruction into the 

1960s.  

They argued that corrupt Yankee carpetbaggers controlled for 

financial profit the mass of ignorant black voters and nearly 

plunged South Carolina into economic ruin and social chaos.  

The heroes in this version were the Red Shirts: white 

paramilitary insurgents who, beginning in 1874, rescued the 

state from misrule and preserved democracy, expelled blacks 

from the public square by intimidation during elections, 

restored law and order, and created a long era of comity 

between the races.  

The black version, beginning with W.E.B. Du Bois' Black 

Reconstruction (1935), examines the period more objectively 

and notes its achievements in establishing public school 

education, and numerous social and welfare institutions to 

benefit all the citizens. Other historians also evaluated 

Reconstruction against similar periods. Their work provided 

intellectual support for the Civil Rights Movement.  

In the 1980s, social battles over the display of the Confederate 

flag following the achievements of the Civil Rights Movement 

were related to these differing interpretations and the blacks' 

nearly century of struggle to regain the exercise of 

constitutional rights lost to Conservative Democrats after 

Reconstruction.  
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Conservative rule (1877–1890) 

The Democrats were led by General Wade Hampton III and 

other former Confederate veterans who espoused a return to 

the policies of the antebellum period. Known as the 

Conservatives, or the Bourbons, they favored a minimalist 

approach by the government and a conciliatory policy towards 

blacks while maintaining white supremacy. Also of interest to 

the Conservatives was the restoration of the University of 

South Carolina to its prominent prewar status as the leading 

institution of higher education in the state and the region. 

They closed the college before passing a law to restrict 

admission to whites only. The legislature designated Claflin 

College for higher education for blacks. (The Reconstruction 

legislature had opened the college to blacks and established 

supplemental programs to prepare them for study.)  

Once in power, the Democrats quickly consolidated their 

position and sought to unravel the legacy of the Radical 

Republicans. They pressured Republicans to resign from their 

positions, which included violence and intimidation by 

members of the Red Shirts, a paramilitary group described the 

historian George Rabe as the "military arm of the Democratic 

Party," who also worked to suppress black voting. Within a 

year both the legislative and judiciary were firmly in the 

control of the Democrats. The Democrats launched 

investigations into the corruption and frauds committed by 

Republicans during Reconstruction. They dropped the charges 

when the Federal government dropped its charges against 

whites accused of violence in the 1876 election campaign. With 

their position secure, the Democrats next tackled the state 
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debt. Many Democrats from the upcountry, led by General 

Martin Gary, who had developed the Edgefield Plan for targeted 

violence to take back the state, pushed for the entire state debt 

to be canceled, but Gary was opposed by Charleston holders of 

the bonds. A compromise moderated by Wade Hampton was 

achieved and by October 1882, the state debt was reduced to 

$6.5 million. Other legislative initiatives by the Conservatives 

benefited its primary supporters, the planters and business 

class. Taxes across the board were reduced, and funding was 

cut for public social and educational programs that assisted 

poor whites and blacks. Oral contracts were made to be legally 

binding, breach of contract was enforced as a criminal offense, 

and those in debt to planters could be forced to work off their 

debt. In addition, the University of South Carolina along with 

The Citadel were reopened to elite classes and generously 

supported by the state government.  

By the late 1880s, the agrarian movement swept through the 

state and encouraged subsistence farmers to assert their 

political rights. They pressured the legislature to establish an 

agriculture college. Reluctantly the legislature complied by 

adding an agriculture college to the University of South 

Carolina in 1887. Ben Tillman inspired the farmers to demand 

a separate agriculture college isolated from the politics of 

Columbia. The Conservatives finally gave them one in 1889.  

Tillman era and disfranchisement 

(1890–1914) 

In 1890, Ben Tillman set his sights on the gubernatorial 

contest. The farmers rallied behind his candidacy and Tillman 
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easily defeated the conservative nominee, A.C. Haskell. The 

conservatives failed to grasp the strength of the farmers' 

movement in the state. The planter elite no longer engendered 

automatic respect for having fought in the Civil War. Not only 

that, but Tillman's "humorous and coarse speech appealed to a 

majority no more delicate than he in matters of taste."  

The Tillman movement succeeded in enacting a number of 

Tillman's proposals and pet projects. Among those was the 

crafting of a new state constitution and a state dispensary 

system for alcohol. Tillman held a "pathological fear of Negro 

rule." White elites created a new constitution with provisions 

to suppress voting by blacks and poor whites following the 

1890 model of Mississippi, which had survived an appeal to the 

US Supreme Court.  

They followed what was known as the Mississippi Plan, which 

had survived a US Supreme Court challenge. Disfranchisement 

was chiefly accomplished through provisions related to making 

voter registration more difficult, such as poll taxes and literacy 

tests, which in practice adversely affected African Americans 

and poor whites. After promulgation of the new Constitution of 

1895, voting was for more than sixty years essentially 

restricted to whites, establishing a one-party Democratic state. 

White Democrats benefited by controlling a House of 

Representatives apportionment based on the total state 

population, although the number of voters had been drastically 

reduced. Blacks were excluded from the political system in 

every way, including from serving in local offices and on juries.  

During Reconstruction, black legislators had been a majority 

in the lower house of the legislature. The new requirements, 
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applied under white authority, led to only about 15,000 of the 

140,000 eligible blacks qualifying to register. In practice, many 

more blacks were prohibited from voting by the subjective voter 

registration process controlled by white registrars. In addition, 

the Democratic Party primary was restricted to whites only. By 

October 1896, there were 50,000 whites registered, but only 

5,500 blacks, in a state in which blacks were the majority.  

The 1900 census demonstrated the extent of disfranchisement: 

a total of 782,509 African Americans made up more than 58 

percent of the state's population, essentially without any 

representation. The political loss affected educated and 

illiterate men alike. It meant that without their interests 

represented, blacks were unfairly treated within the state. 

They were unable to serve on juries; segregated schools and 

services were underfunded; law enforcement was dominated by 

whites. African Americans did not recover the ability to 

exercise suffrage and political rights until the Civil Rights 

Movement won passage of Federal legislation in 1964 and 

1965.  

The state Dispensary, described as "Ben Tillman's Baby", was 

never popular in the state, and violence broke out in 

Darlington over its enforcement. In 1907, the Dispensary Act 

was repealed. In 1915, the legal sale of alcohol was prohibited 

by referendum.  

Tillman's influence on the politics of South Carolina began to 

wane after he was elected by the legislature to the U.S. Senate 

in 1895. The Conservatives recaptured the legislature in 1902. 

The elite planter, Duncan Clinch Heyward, won the 

gubernatorial election. He made no substantial changes and 
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Heyward continued to enforce the Dispensary Act at great 

difficulty. The state continued its rapid pace of 

industrialization, which gave rise to a new class of white 

voters, the cotton mill workers.  

White sharecroppers and mill workers coalesced behind the 

candidacy of Tillmanite Cole Blease in the gubernatorial 

election of 1910. They believed that Blease was including them 

as an important part of the political force of the state. Once in 

office, however, Blease did not initiate any policies that were 

beneficial to the mill workers or poor farmers. Instead, his four 

years in office were highly erratic in behavior. This helped to 

pave the way for a progressive, Richard I. Manning, to win the 

governorship in 1914.  

Economic booms and busts 

In the 1880s Atlanta editor Henry W. Grady won attention in 

the state for his vision of a "New South", a South based on the 

modern industrial model. By now, the idea had already struck 

some enterprising South Carolinians that the cotton they were 

shipping north could also be processed in South Carolina 

mills.  

The idea was not new; in 1854, De Bow's Commercial Review of 

the South & West had boasted to investors of South Carolina's 

potential for manufacturing, citing its three lines of railroads, 

inexpensive raw materials, non-freezing rivers, and labor pool. 

Slavery was so profitable before 1860 that it absorbed available 

capital and repelled Northern investors, but now the time for 

industrialization was at hand. By 1900, the textile industry 

was established in upland areas, which had water-power and 
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an available white labor force, comprising men, women, and 

children willing to move from hard-scrabble farms to mill 

towns.  

In 1902, the Charleston Expedition drew visitors from around 

the world. President Theodore Roosevelt, whose mother had 

attended school in Columbia, called for reconciliation of still 

simmering animosities between the North and the South.  

The Progressive Movement came to the state with Governor 

Richard Irvine Manning III in 1914. The expansion of bright-

leaf tobacco around 1900 from North Carolina brought an 

agricultural boom. This was broken by the Great Depression 

starting in 1929, but the tobacco industry recovered and 

prospered until near the end of the 20th century. Cotton 

remained by far the dominant crop, despite low prices. The 

arrival of boll weevil infestation sharply reduced acreage, and 

especially yields. Farmers shifted to other crops.  

Black sharecroppers and laborers began heading North in large 

numbers in the era of World War I, a Great Migration that 

continued for the rest of the century, as they sought higher 

wages and much more favorable political conditions.  

Civil Rights Movement 

As early as 1948, when Strom Thurmond ran for President on 

the States Rights ticket, South Carolina whites were showing 

discontent with the Democrats' post–World War II continuation 

of the New Deal's federalization of power. South Carolina 

blacks had problems with the Southern version of states' 

rights; by 1940, the voter registration provisions written into 
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the 1895 constitution effectively still limited African American 

voters to 3,000—only 0.8 percent of those of voting age in the 

state. African Americans had not been able to elect a 

representative since the 19th century. Hundreds of thousands 

left the state for industrial cities in the Great Migration of the 

20th century. By 1960, during the Civil Rights Movement, 

South Carolina had a population of 2,382,594, of whom nearly 

35%, or 829,291 were African Americans, who had been 

without representation for 60 years. In addition, the state 

enforced legal racial segregation in public facilities.  

Non-violent action against segregation began in Rock Hill in 

1961, when nine black Friendship Junior College students took 

seats at the whites-only lunch counter at a downtown 

McCrory's and refused to leave. When police arrested them, the 

students were given the choice of paying $200 fines or serving 

30 days of hard labor in the York County jail. The Friendship 

Nine, as they became known, chose the latter, gaining national 

attention in the Civil Rights Movement because of their 

decision to use the "jail, no bail" strategy.  

Late 20th century to present 

Economic change 

The rapid decline of agriculture in the state has been one of 

the most important developments since the 1960s. As late as 

1960, more than half the state's cotton was picked by hand. 

Over the next twenty years, mechanization eliminated tens of 

thousands of jobs in rural counties. By 2000, only 24,000 

farms were left, with fewer than 2% of the population; many 
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others lived in rural areas on what were once farms, but they 

commuted to non-farm jobs. Cotton was no longer king, as 

cotton lands were converted into timberlands. Until the 1970s 

rural areas had controlled the legislature.  

After 1972, both houses of the state legislature were 

reapportioned into single-member districts, ending another 

rural advantage. Coupled with the federal Voting Rights Act of 

1965, which protected voting for African Americans, the 

reapportionment transformed South Carolina politics. The 

South Carolina Democratic party, which dominated the state 

for nearly a century after Reconstruction, began to decline at 

the state and county level with the 1994 elections. The 

majority white voters had been supporting Republican 

presidential candidates since the late 1960s and gradually 

elected the party candidates to local and state offices as well. 

Republicans won all but one statewide constitutional office, 

and control of the state house of representatives.  

Fritz Hollings, governor 1959–63, who was a key supporter of 

development, executed a campaign to promote industrial 

training programs and implemented a state-wide economic 

development strategy. The end of the Cold War in 1990 brought 

the closing of military installations, such as the naval facilities 

in North Charleston, which Rep. Mendel Rivers had long 

sponsored. The quest for new jobs became a high state priority. 

Starting in 1975 the state used its attractive climate, lack of 

powerful labor unions, and low wage rates to attract foreign 

investment in factories, including Michelin, which located its 

U.S. headquarters in the state. The stretch of Interstate 85 

from the North Carolina line to Greenville became "UN Alley" as 

international companies opened operations.  
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Tourism became a major industry, especially in the Myrtle 

Beach area. With its semitropical climate, cheap land and low 

construction costs (because of low wages), the state became a 

developer's dream. Barrier islands, such as Kiawah and Hilton 

Head, were developed as retirement communities for wealthy 

outsiders. The state's attempts to manage coastal development 

in an orderly and environmentally sound manner have run 

afoul of federal court decisions. The U.S. Supreme Court (in 

Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council) ruled that the state, in 

forbidding construction on threatened beachfront property, 

had, in effect, seized the plaintiff's property without due 

process of law. The rush to build upscale housing along the 

coast paid its price in the billions of dollars of losses as 

Hurricane Hugo swept through on September 21–22, 1989. 

Charleston was more used to hurricanes; historical 

preservation groups immediately stepped in to begin salvage 

and reconstruction, with the result that one year after Hugo, 

the city was virtually returned to normal.  

By the late 1980s, however, the state's economic growth rate 

flattened. South Carolina's development plan focused on 

offering low taxes and attracting low-wage industries, but the 

state's low levels of education have failed to attract high wage, 

high tech industries.  

In 1991, under the leadership of then Governor Carroll A. 

Campbell, the state successfully recruited BMW's (Bavarian 

Motor Works) only U.S. auto factory to the city of Greer, in 

Spartanburg County. Second-tier and third-tier auto parts 

suppliers to BMW likewise established assembly and 

distribution facilities near the factory, creating a significant 

shift in manufacturing from textiles to automotive.  
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In 2009, the state outbid the state of Washington for a giant 

new Boeing plant, to be constructed in North Charleston. 

Boeing must create at least 3,800 jobs and invest more than 

$750 million within seven years to take advantage of the 

various tax inducements, worth $450 million.  

Politics 

In the 1970s, South Carolina white voters elected the state's 

first Republican governor since Reconstruction. In 1987 and 

1991, the state elected and reelected Governor Carroll 

Campbell, another Republican. Many politicians switched from 

the Democratic Party to the GOP, including David Beasley, a 

former Democrat who claimed to have undergone a spiritual 

rebirth; he was elected governor as a Republican.  

In 1996, Beasley surprised citizens by announcing that he 

could not justify keeping the Confederate flag flying over the 

capitol. He said that a "spate of racially motivated violence 

compelled him to reconsider the politics and symbolism of the 

Confederate flag, and he concluded it should be moved." 

Traditionalists were further surprised when Bob Jones III, 

head of Bob Jones University, announced he held the same 

view.  

Beasley was upset for reelection in 1998 by the little-known 

Jim Hodges, a state assemblyman from Lancaster. Hodges 

attacked Beasley's opposition to the creation of a state lottery 

to support education. Hodges called for a fresh tax base to 

improve public education. Despite Hodges' unwillingness to 

join Beasley in his opposition to flying the Confederate flag, 

the NAACP announced its support for Hodges. (At the same 
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time the NAACP demanded a boycott of conferences in the state 

over the flag issue). Hodges reportedly accepted millions in 

contributions from the gambling industry, which some 

estimated spent a total of $10 million to defeat Beasely.  

After the election, with public opinions steadfastly against 

video gambling, Hodges asked for a statewide referendum on 

the issue. He claimed that he would personally join the 

expected majority in saying "no" on legalized gambling, but 

vowed not to campaign against it. Critics in both parties 

suggested that Hodges' debts to the state's gambling interests 

were keeping him from campaigning against legalized gambling. 

The state constitution does not provide for referendums except 

for ratification of amendments. State legislators shut down the 

state's video casinos soon after Hodges took office.  

Upon his election, Hodges announced that he agreed with 

Beasley's increasingly popular compromise proposal on the 

Confederate flag issue. He supported the flag's transfer to a 

Confederate monument on the State House's grounds. Many 

South Carolinians agreed with this position as the only 

solution. Further, they admired Hodges' solution to nuclear 

waste shipments to the state. Hodges alienated moderate 

voters sufficiently so that in 2002, most of the state's major 

newspapers supported the Republican Mark Sanford to replace 

him. Hodges was held responsible for the state's mishandling 

of the Hurricane Floyd evacuation in 1999. By 2002, most of 

the funds from Hodges' "South Carolina Education Lottery" 

were used to pay for college scholarships, rather than to 

improve impoverished rural and inner-city schools. Religious 

leaders denounced the lottery as taxing the poor to pay for 

higher education for the middle class.  
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In the lottery's first year, Hodges' administration awarded $40 

million for "LIFE Scholarships", granted to any South 

Carolinian student with a B average, graduation in the top 30% 

of the student's high school class, and an 1,100 SAT score. 

Hodges' administration awarded $5.8 million for "HOPE 

Scholarships", which had lower GPA requirements. Hodges lost 

his campaign for reelection in 2002 against the Republican 

conservative Mark Sanford, a former U.S. congressman from 

Sullivan's Island. Mark Sanford served two terms as governor 

from 2003 to 2011. He left office in the heat of a political 

scandal; while in office, Sanford took a trip to Argentina 

without anyone's knowing it, and he reportedly had an affair 

with a woman. Sanford later publicly apologized for the affair, 

but he and his wife, Jenny Sullivan, divorced in 2010. Sanford 

was elected to the United States House of Representatives from 

South Carolina's 1st District in May 2013, a position which he 

also held from 1995 to 2003.  

In 2012, Governor Nikki Haley appointed Tim Scott as one of 

South Carolina's two United States Senators. In 2014, Scott 

won election to the office and became the first African-

American to serve as U.S. Senator from South Carolina since 

the Reconstruction era. In 2010, Nikki Haley, who took office 

as Governor of South Carolina in January 2011, became the 

first female to be elected governor. Additionally, Haley was the 

first person of Asian-Indian descent to be elected governor. 

Haley served from 2011 until 2017; President Donald Trump 

nominated her as the United States Ambassador to the United 

Nations, a position which she accepted and was approved by 

the United States Senate. After Haley's resignation on January 

24, 2017, Henry McMaster became the incumbent, 117th 

governor of South Carolina. 
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